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M A N A G E M E N T  R E P O R T


Management submits their report and the financial statements of BMW 
US Capital, LLC (“BMW US Capital” or “the Company”) for the period 
ended December 31, 2021.


Principal activities
The Company was formed on January 14, 1993, and until December 31, 
2000, was a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW (US) Holding Corp., which 
is ultimately owned by Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft 
(BMW AG). Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a legal 
structure permitted under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act 
dated August 1, 1999, and became a limited liability company whose 
sole member is BMW (US) Holding Corp, which is ultimately owned by 
BMW AG. The conversion of the Company to a Limited Liability Com-
pany (LLC) did not have any effect on the liabilities or obligations of the 
organization and did not constitute dissolution of the converting entity. 
The Company’s purpose is to assist in the financing of business activ-
ities and in managing interest and foreign exchange risk for BMW Group 
and its affiliates, primarily in the U.S., and to provide services in con-
nection therewith.


The Company’s activities primarily consist of providing long- and short-
term liquidity, inter-company funding, factoring of receivables at arm’s 
length for BMW Group companies, being the leader of the US Dollar 
cash pool, and operating as the in-house bank for USD, CAD and MXN 
for the BMW Group. The Company aims to minimize the risks from 
changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates. Protection against 
such risks is primarily provided by hedging through financial instruments 
with matching maturities, amounts and other properties. Derivative fi-
nancial instruments are used, such as interest rate swaps, foreign ex-
change swaps and forward rate agreements, to reduce the risk remain-
ing after netting.


Business review
Despite global challenges such as semiconductor component supply 
issues and the impact of the coronavirus pandemic, BMW Group re-
tained leadership in the premium segment. Driven by brisk demand and 
an attractive product range, automobile deliveries grew by a solid 8.4% 
to a total of 2,521,514 BMW, MINI and Rolls- Royce brand vehicles (2020: 
2,325,179 units), enabling BMW Group to extend its lead in the premium 
segment.


Deliveries of BMW brand vehicles grew by 9.1% to 2,213,790 units (2020: 
2,028,841 units). MINI also recorded an increase, with deliveries rising 
to 302,138 units (2020: 292,582 units; +3.3%). Rolls-Royce Motor Cars 
delivered a total of 5,586 units (2020: 3,756 units; +48.7%), the high-
est figure recorded for the luxury marque to date. Furthermore, the Mo-
torcycles segment had the most successful year in its history with a 
total of 194,261 units delivered during the year under report (2020: 
169,272 units), 14.8% up on the previous year.


Deliveries of electric vehicles are also at record level. It continues to gain 
in significance for the entire sector and is a key driver of sales volume 
growth for the BMW Group. The trend is reflected in the sharp rise in the 
sale of electrified models offered by the BMW and MINI brands. With a 
total of 328,314 units, deliveries jumped sharply by 70.4% in the year 
under report (2020: 192,662 units). Demand was particularly strong for 
the Group’s all-electric models and delivery figures more than doubled 
year-on-year to 103,854 units (2020: 44,541 units; +133.2%). Their share 
of total deliveries was 4.1% (2020: 1.9%) in the year under report. Two 
additional all-electric models, the BMW iX and the BMW i4, went on sale 
towards the end of 2021, both of which have been highly acclaimed in the 
trade press. By the end of the period under report, the BMW Group had 
a total of 14 electrified models on the roads. In 2022, the product range 
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will be expanded to include the all-electric BMW i7 luxury sedan and the 
BMW iX1. The increased share of deliveries accounted for by electrified 
vehicles and the rigorous use of Efficient Dynamics technologies enabled 
further progress to be made in decarbonizing fleet emissions.


The financial year 2021 was a successful one for the Financial Services 
segment, with profit before tax up by 117.6% to €3,753 million (2020: 
€1,725 million). In the previous year, additional risk provisioning expens-
es for credit and residual value risks had had a negative impact on earn-
ings. The year under report, however, was influenced by the exception-
ally positive trend on pre-owned vehicle markets, particularly in the USA 
and the UK. The upturn on the pre-owned market caused the remarket-
ing values of lease returns to increase sharply. Alongside this favorable 
development, segment earnings also benefited from the unchanged low 
level of allowances that needed to be recognized for credit risks. The 
credit loss ratio on the total credit portfolio fell to a historically low level 
of 0.18% at December 31, 2021 (2020: 0.21%), comprising 0.11% (2020: 
0.16%) for leasing business and 0.28% (2020: 0.31%) for credit financ-
ing business with retail customers. In balance sheet terms, business 
volume grew slightly by 4.8% to stand at €139,530 million at the end of 
the reporting period (2020: €133,093 million).


Group revenues were significantly higher in the financial year 2021, re-
flecting the impact of coronavirus-related dealership closures in the 
previous 12-month period (2021: €111,239 million; 2020: €98,990 mil-
lion; +12.4%). Sales volume was also higher in 2021, whereby the in-
crease was held down by production shortfalls due to supply bottlenecks 
for semiconductor components. However, this unfavorable impact was 
more than offset by improved pricing, due to both the growing desire 
for individual mobility on the one hand and the reduced worldwide avail-
ability of products triggered by those same semiconductor component 
shortages on the other. In addition, revenues were also boosted by 
favorable product mix effects due to increased sales of high-revenue 
models. The semiconductor scarcity was also reflected in higher selling 
prices on pre-owned vehicle markets, which in turn gave rise to higher 
revenues from the sale of lease returns. Group profit before tax of 
€16,060 million was significantly higher than one year earlier (2020: 
€5,222 million) and therefore in line with expectations.


Regarding BMW US Capital, it is important to highlight that the net result 
arises predominantly from the net interest margin between funding 
provided to affiliates and the cost of funds from the Company’s borrow-
ings, along with the fair value gain or loss from financial instruments. 
BMW US Capital, in October 2020 updated its business model and im-
plemented a liquidity fee to be received from BMW AG. The Company 
reported a gain before taxation of $49.2  million, an increase of 
$138.3 million, compared to the loss before taxation for December 31, 
2020 of $89.0 million. The increase was primarily driven by the lower 
interest rate environment. 


The Company applies IFRS 9 for the valuation of its financial instru-
ments. IFRS 9 requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on 
the statements of financial position at their respective fair values upon 
initial recognition. Fair value changes are reflected in the statements of 
comprehensive income / (loss). Further details can be found in the ap-
propriate footnotes throughout the report. 


The progress of the Company is monitored by financial and non-finan-
cial data on a regular basis with emphasis on key performance indica-
tors, including net interest margin, and loan outstanding at the report-
ing date. These key performance indicators are reviewed and adjusted 
regularly in line with the requirements of the business.


Outlook
According to International Monetary Fund (IMF) projections in January, 
the global economy will continue to grow in 2022, less strongly than in 
the previous year, and reach a level of around 4.0%. Risks definitely 
persist, however, first and foremost due to the further course of the war 
in Ukraine, the estimated impact of which has been taken into account 
in the current economic forecasts only rudimentarily. High inflation is 
likely to lead to interest rate increases in some countries and weaken 
demand to some extent. New virus variants, pandemic-related restric-
tions or prolonged supply bottlenecks could slow the pace of econom-
ic growth.


In the Eurozone, GDP growth is projected to be around 3.0% in 2022. 
At 2.1%, the growth rate in Germany is expected to be slightly lower than 
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one year earlier and similar figures are predicted for France (+2.8%), 
Italy (+3.1%) and Spain (+4.6%). 


The UK economy is projected to grow by 3.5% in 2022 despite labor 
shortages and continued supply bottlenecks.


A growth rate of 3.2% is projected for the USA in 2022, which is still 
positive, although not as strong as in the previous year. The stimulus 
and infrastructure packages adopted by the US Administration are like-
ly to provide support for the economy.


After strong growth in the previous year, momentum in China is expect-
ed to drop slightly in 2022. A growth rate of 5.1% is therefore projected 
for the 12-month period. After a slight recovery in the year under report, 
the pace of growth in Japan is projected to increase moderately in 2022 
(+2.3%).


Currency markets and international interest rate environment
Currencies of particular importance for the international operations of 
the BMW Group are the Chinese renminbi, the British pound, the US 
dollar and the Japanese yen. 


Whereas the European Central Bank (ECB) is likely to keep persevering 
with its expansionary monetary policy in 2022, the US Federal Reserve 
has announced its intention to tighten its policy in light of high inflation 
and the USA’s strong economic recovery and to raise interest rates 
during the first half of 2022. Compared with the previous year, the US 
dollar is therefore likely to appreciate against the euro.


Following the gain in value of the British pound against the euro in 2021 
and the tighter monetary policy predicted in the UK over the 12-month 
period, combined with moderate interest rate hikes, a further slight ap-
preciation of the currency is expected in 2022.


The central bank in Japan is unlikely to change its highly expansionary 
monetary policy in 2022. The yen is therefore likely to depreciate slight-
ly against the euro.


After appreciating against the euro in 2021, the Chinese renminbi is 
expected to lose in value slightly in the course of 2022, due to the Chi-
nese central bank’s recent decision to ease monetary policy with a view 
to ensuring that the greater demand for financing can be met.


The Russian rouble has depreciated significantly, especially since the 
beginning of the military conflict with Ukraine. The currencies of emerg-
ing market countries such as Brazil and India are likely to remain under 
pressure against the US dollar and the euro in 2022, mainly due to the 
ongoing impact of the coronavirus pandemic.


International automobile markets
Supply bottlenecks are likely to continue having a dampening impact on 
automobile markets in 2022. The war in Ukraine will significantly exac-
erbate the current supply bottlenecks. The forecasts are generally based 
on the assumption that the supply bottlenecks will be overcome in the 
second half of 2022. Registration figures worldwide are expected to grow 
at a slightly faster rate than in the previous year (approximately 77 million 
units; +4%). However, due to the marked weakness of recent years, 
absolute registration figures remain well below normal levels.


Europe’s automobile markets are expected to grow moderately in 2022 
(12.5 million units; +6%). The trend is similar in the USA, with the mar-
ket expected to grow by 6% to 15.9 million units in 2022. However, this 
is still below the pre-coronavirus crisis level. 


In China, on the other hand, the automobile market as a whole is ex-
pected to remain flat, reflecting the slowdown in economic momentum. 
After the slight recovery in 2021, passenger vehicle registrations are 
therefore expected to be in the region of 21.2 million units in 2022, just 
1% up on the previous year.


The Japanese automobile market is currently predicted to expand slight-
ly in 2022 (4.4 million units; +2%).
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International motorcycle markets
The BMW Group expects, subject to the further development in Ukraine, 
the world’s motorcycle markets in the 250 cc plus class to remain stable 
in 2022, with volumes generally remaining at the previous year’s level.


The impact of the war in Ukraine, the limited availability of vehicle com-
ponents, the further course of the coronavirus pandemic, and macro-
economic factors will continue to influence the performance of motor-
cycles markets in 2022.


Internal Control over Financial Reporting
The Company actively participates in the internal control system in place 
throughout the BMW Group aimed at ensuring the effectiveness of op-
erations. It adheres to the principal features of the internal control sys-
tem, in relation to the Company and its financial reporting processes. A 
detailed description and explanation of the internal control system is 
available within the BMW Group Annual Report for the year 2021.


Management assesses the design and effectiveness of the internal control 
over financial reporting on the basis of internal review procedures per-
formed at regular intervals. Effective measures are implemented whenev-
er weaknesses are identified and reported. Based on these assessments, 
management believes that the Company maintained effective internal 
controls over financial reporting during the year ended December 31, 2021.


Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Company’s 
strategy are subject to a number of risks. Detailed descriptions of the main 
risks facing the Company and the instruments used to manage these risks 
are presented in the notes to the financial statements. New virus variants, 
pandemic related restrictions, prolonged supply bottlenecks and inflation 
will have impacts on the Company’s financial performance.


Research and development
The Company does not carry out any research and development.


Creditor payment policy
The Company’s policy concerning the payment of its trade creditors is 
to pay in accordance with contractual and other legal obligations.


Members and members’ interests
The members who held office during the year or subsequently were as 
follows:


BMW (US) Holding Corporation, as the sole member


Employees
During the period ended December 31, 2021, the Company employed 
16 persons, all of which are included within these accounts. 


Political and charitable contributions
The company made no political or charitable contributions during the 
period ended December 31, 2021.


Disclosure of information to auditors
Management who held office at the date of approval of this manage-
ment report confirms that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, 
there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors 
are unaware; and management has taken all the steps that ought to 
have taken to make itself aware of any relevant audit information and 
has made such information available to the Company’s auditors.


Auditors
The independent auditor (“certified public accountants”) of BMW US 
Capital is PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungs-
gesellschaft, Frankfurt, Germany. 


BMW US Capital, LLC


April 25, 2022
Christian Kunz
President
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R E S P O N S I B I L I T Y  S TAT E M E N T


Statement of Management responsibilities in respect of financial 
statements and the Management Report
Management is responsible for preparing the financial statements and 
the Management Report in accordance with applicable laws and regu-
lations of Luxembourg, which BMW US Capital, LLC has chosen as its 
Home Member State under the regulations of the EU Transparency Di-
rective.


Luxembourg Law, pursuant to the EU Transparency Directive, requires 
Management to prepare audited financial statements for each financial 
year. Management has elected to prepare the financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board. Management 
makes every effort to ensure the financial statements present fairly the 
financial position of the Company and the performance for that period.


Management is also responsible for preparing the Management Report 
that complies with the law.


The financial information contained in the Management Report con-
cerning the operations, economic performance and financial condition 
of the Company is subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties 
and contingencies, many of which are beyond the control of the Man-
agement of the Company, which may cause actual results, performance 


or achievements to differ materially from anticipated results, perfor-
mance or achievements. Also, the financial information is based upon 
Management’s estimates of fair values and future costs, using current-
ly available information. Factors that could cause such differences in-
clude, but are not limited to:


 — risks of economic slowdown, downturn or recession, 


 — risks inherent in changes in market interest rates and spreads,


 — lending conditions to companies turning to the worse, thereby in-
creasing the cost of borrowing,


 — changes in funding markets, including commercial paper and term 
debt,


 — uncertainties associated with risk management, including credit, 
prepayment, asset/liability, interest rate and currency risks,


 — changes in laws or regulations governing BMW US Capital, LLC’s 
business and operations, and


 — changes in competitive factors.


Management has a general responsibility to design and implement 
controls to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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Responsibility Statement by the Company’s legal representatives
To the best of Management’s knowledge, and in accordance with the 
applicable reporting principles, International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board, the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, 
financial position and profit or loss of BMW US Capital, LLC, and the 
Management Report includes a fair review of the development and per-
formance of the business and the position of BMW US Capital, LLC, 
together with a description of the principal opportunities and risks as-
sociated with the expected development of BMW US Capital, LLC.


BMW US Capital, LLC


April 25, 2022
Christian Kunz
President
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I N D E P E N D E N T  A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T


To Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, Munich


R E P O R T  O N  T H E  A U D I T  O F  
T H E  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S


Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of BMW US Capital, LLC, 
Woodcliff Lake, New Jersey, which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at December 31, 2021, and the statement of comprehensive 
income / (loss), the statement of changes in member’s capital and the 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the finan-
cial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.


In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the financial position of the Company as at December 31, 
2021, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year 
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.


Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Germany, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and ap-
propriate to provide a basis for our opinion.


Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, 
were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements for the 
financial year of the current period. These matters were addressed in 
the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.


In our view, the matter of most significance in our audit was as follows:


1  Accounting treatment of hedging relationships


Our presentation of this key audit matter has been structured as follows:


1  Matter and issue 


2  Audit approach and findings


3  Reference to further information


Hereinafter we present the key audit matter:


1  Accounting treatment of hedging relationships


1   The company uses derivative financial instruments to hedge in par-
ticular interest rate risks in combination with foreign exchange rate 
risks arising from its ordinary business activities. The management’s 
hedging policy is documented in internal guidelines and serves as 
the basis for these transactions. The company enters into interest 
rate derivatives for the purpose of achieving a desired ratio of fixed 
to variable interest rate exposures. Interest rate risk is mitigated by 
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concluding interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate 
swaps. 


   Derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in profit or loss. The sum of all derivatives with positive 
fair values amounts to $553 million as of the reporting date, while 
the sum of all derivatives with negative fair values amounts to 
$274 million. Hedges of the exposure to changes in fair value of 
recognized assets and liabilities that are attributable to interest rate 
risk are designated as fair value hedge relationships, if hedge ac-
counting requirements pursuant to IFRS 9 are met. When applying 
fair value hedge accounting the cross-currency basis spread is not 
designated as part of the hedge relationship. At the reporting date, 
the company held derivatives designated as hedging instruments 
with positive fair values amounting to $545 million and negative fair 
values amounting to $264 million. 


  The effective portion of the cumulative gain or loss from measuring 
the derivative hedging instruments at fair value is recognized in fi-
nancial result (profit or loss). The cumulative gain or loss of the 
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is recognized as hedged 
fair value in financial result. Changes in the fair value of the hedging 
instruments caused by changes in the cross-currency basis spread 
are not designated in the hedge relationship, instead these fair val-
ue changes are recognized in other comprehensive income and are 
accumulated in the “cost of hedging reserve”. The accumulated 
changes due to the cross-currency basis spread are reclassified from 
other comprehensive income to profit or loss in the periods during 
which the hedged cash flows of the hedged items affect profit or 
loss. Insofar the reclassification of accumulated changes due to 
cross-currency basis spreads takes place over the duration of the 
hedging relationship. 


  As of the balance sheet date, a cumulative amount of $266 million 
(before deferred taxes) was recognized as hedge fair value adjust-
ment of designated hedged items. In the cost of hedging reserve, a 


cumulative amount of –$4 million was recognized net of deferred 
taxes.


  From our point of view these matters were of particular significance 
for our audit due to the high nominal amounts of hedged items as 
well as the extensive accounting and disclosure requirements of 
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7.


2   As part of our audit and with the assistance of our internal special-
ists, we assessed, among other things, the contractual and financial 
parameters and evaluated the accounting treatment, including the 
effects on profit or loss and equity, of the various hedge relation-
ships.


  Together with our specialists, we also evaluated the company’s in-
ternal control system regarding derivative financial instruments, 
including the internal activities to record and maintain data in the 
treasury management system. In addition to evaluating the internal 
control system, we obtained bank confirmations for the hedging in-
struments in order to assess completeness. With regards to the 
assessment of the ineffectiveness of designated hedge relation-
ships, we obtained and evaluated the quantitative assessment con-
ducted by management. In doing so, we were able to satisfy our-
selves that the requirements for applying fair value hedge 
accounting according to IFRS 9 were substantiated and sufficiently 
documented.


3   The company’s disclosures on hedge accounting are contained in 
sections entitled “Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting 
Policies and Practices” and “Risk Management” in the notes to the 
financial statements.
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other infor-
mation comprises the annual report but does not include the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.


Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other infor-
mation and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion there-
on.


In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsi-
bility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or oth-
erwise appears to be materially misstated. 


If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to re-
port that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.


Responsibilities of management for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board, and for such internal control as management determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, dis-
closing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends 
to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.


Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that in-
cludes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstate-
ments can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, in-
dividually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.


As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
We also:


 — Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the finan-
cial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evi-
dence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresenta-
tions, or the override of internal control. 


 — Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.


 — Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures 
made by management.


 — Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the go-
ing concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
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conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material un-
certainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclu-
sions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 


 — Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the fi-
nancial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the fi-
nancial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.


We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant 
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. 


We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding inde-
pendence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.


From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit 
of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter 
or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse conse-
quences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the 
public interest benefits of such communication.


R E P O R T  O N  O T H E R  L E G A L  
A N D  R E G U L AT O R Y  R E Q U I R E M E N T S


Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the  
Financial Statements Prepared for Publication Purposes


Assurance Opinion
We have performed assurance work to obtain reasonable assurance as 
to whether the rendering of the financial statements (hereinafter the 
“ESEF documents”) contained in the electronic file BMW_US_Capital_
Annual_Report_ESEF-2021-12-31.zip and prepared for publication pur-
poses complies in all material respects with the requirements of the 
Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 (“ESEF format”). This assurance 
work extends only to the conversion of the information contained in the 
financial statements into the ESEF format and therefore relates neither 
to the information contained within these renderings nor to any other 
information contained in the electronic file identified above.


In our opinion, the rendering of the financial statements contained in 
the electronic file identified above and prepared for publication purpos-
es complies in all material respects with the requirements of the Dele-
gated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 for the electronic reporting format. 
Beyond this assurance opinion and our audit opinion on the accompa-
nying financial statements for the financial year from January 1 to De-
cember 31, 2021 contained in the “Report on the Audit of the Financial 
Statements” above, we do not express any assurance opinion on the 
information contained within these renderings or on the other informa-
tion contained in the electronic file identified above.


Basis for the Assurance Opinion
We conducted our assurance work on the rendering of the financial 
statements contained in the electronic file identified above in accor-
dance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements 
3000 (Revised). Our responsibility in accordance therewith is further 
described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on 
the ESEF Documents” section. Our audit firm applies the International 
Standard on Quality Control 1.
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Responsibilities of the Management for the ESEF Documents
The management of the Company is responsible for the preparation of 
the ESEF documents including the electronic renderings of the financial 
statements in accordance with the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815. 


In addition, the management of the Company is responsible for such 
internal control as management has considered necessary to enable the 
preparation of ESEF documents that are free from material non-com-
pliance with the requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 
for the electronic reporting format, whether due to fraud or error.


Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Assurance Work on the ESEF Documents
Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
ESEF documents are free from material non-compliance with the re-
quirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, whether due to 
fraud or error. We exercise professional judgment and maintain profes-
sional skepticism throughout the assurance work. We also:


 — Identify and assess the risks of material non-compliance with the 
requirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform assurance procedures re-
sponsive to those risks, and obtain assurance evidence that is suf-
ficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our assurance opinion.


 — Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the assur-
ance work on the ESEF documents in order to design assurance 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for 
the purpose of expressing an assurance opinion on the effective-
ness of these controls.


 — Evaluate the technical validity of the ESEF documents, i.e., whether 
the electronic file containing the ESEF documents meets the re-
quirements of the Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 in the ver-
sion in force at the date of the financial statements on the technical 
specification for this electronic file.


 — Evaluate whether the ESEF documents provide an XHTML render-
ing with content equivalent to the audited financial statements.


R E F E R E N C E  T O  A N  O T H E R  M AT T E R – 
U S E  O F  T H E  A U D I T O R ’ S  R E P O R T


Our auditor’s report must always be read together with the audited fi-
nancial statements as well as the assured ESEF documents. The finan-
cial statements converted to the ESEF format – including the versions 
to be published to the operator of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange – are 
merely electronic renderings of the audited financial statements and do 
not take their place. In particular, the “Report on the Assurance on the 
Electronic Rendering of the Financial Statements Prepared for Publica-
tion Purposes” and our assurance opinion contained therein are to be 
used solely together with the assured ESEF documents made available 
in electronic form.


G E R M A N  P U B L I C  A U D I T O R  
R E S P O N S I B L E  F O R  T H E  E N G A G E M E N T


The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent au-
ditor’s report is Andreas Fell.


Munich, April 25, 2022


PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft


Petra Justenhoven Andreas Fell
Wirtschaftsprüferin Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0


in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020


Receivables from  
BMW Group companies 3a 13,505,220 16,337,361


Derivative assets 3f 461,058 987,571


Deferred tax assets  10,304 8,373


Total non-current assets  13,976,582 17,333,305


Cash and cash equivalents  95,067 993,754


Receivables from  
BMW Group companies 3a 20,386,612 16,636,810


Derivative assets 3f 91,555 208,297


Other assets  – 22


Total current assets  20,573,234 17,838,883


Total assets  34,549,816 35,172,188


in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020


Member's capital  11,000 11,000


Capital reserves  144,000 144,000


Accumulated other  
comprehensive loss  (5,921) (10,607)


Retained earnings  24,651 (11,972)


Total member's capital  173,730 132,421


Pension obligation 3c 166 424


Term debt 3e 16,221,525 15,597,433


Liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 3a 540,000 1,240,000


Derivative liabilities 3f 171,197 269,248


Total non-current liabilities  16,932,888 17,107,105


Term debt 3e 3,336,005 6,801,010


Commercial paper 3d 1,219,937 –


Liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 3a 12,783,286 10,951,277


Derivative liabilities 3f 102,706 174,785


Other liabilities 3b 1,264 5,590


Total current liabilities  17,443,198 17,932,662


Total liabilities  34,376,086 35,039,767


Total member's capital  
and liabilities  34,549,816 35,172,188


See accompanying notes to financial statements
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C O M P R E H E N S I V E  I N C O M E / ( LO S S )
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0


in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020


BMW Group companies  447,403 712,442


Third parties  565,555 755,378


Interest income 4a 1,012,958 1,467,820


BMW Group companies  (14,014) (84,411)


Third parties  (1,088,530) (1,437,940)


Interest expense 4a (1,102,544) (1,522,351)


Net Interest margin  (89,586) (54,531)


Gains from financial transactions  1,334,789 1,104,267


Losses from financial transactions  (1,191,181) (1,134,629)


Financial result 4b 143,608 (30,362)


General and administrative expenses  (4,790) (4,131)


Net income / (loss) before taxation  49,232 (89,024)


Income taxes 4c (12,609) 21,607


Net income / (loss) after taxation  36,623 (67,417)


in thousands of dollars Notes 2021 2020


Remeasurement of the net defined 
benefit liability for pension and 
post-retirement plans  278 (176)


Deferred taxes  (63) 41


Items not to be expected to be 
reclassified to net income  215 (135)


Costs of hedging  5,932 6,436


Deferred taxes  (1,461) (1,636)


Items than can be reclassified to 
the income statement in the future  4,471 4,800


Other comprehensive income,  
net of tax  4,686 4,665


Total comprehensive income / (loss)  41,309 (62,752)


See accompanying notes to financial statements
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  M E M B E R ’ S  C A P I TA L
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0


Accumulated other  
comprehensive (loss) / income


in thousands of dollars
Member’s  


capital
Capital  


reserves Pension
Cost of  


hedging
Retained  
earnings


Total  
member’s capital


Balance at December 31, 2020 11,000 144,000 (2,465) (8,142) (11,972) 132,421


Other comprehensive income for the period   215 4,471  4,686


Net income / (loss)     36,623 36,623


Balance at December 31, 2021 11,000 144,000 (2,250) (3,671) 24,651 173,730


Balance at December 31, 2019 11,000 144,000 (2,330) (12,942) 55,445 195,173


Other comprehensive income for the period   (135) 4,800 – 4,665


Net income / (loss)     (67,417) (67,417)


Balance at December 31, 2020 11,000 144,000 (2,465) (8,142) (11,972) 132,421


See accompanying notes to financial statements
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S TAT E M E N T S  O F  C A S H  F L O W S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Net income / (loss) 36,623 (67,417)


Change in pension obligation 215 (135)


Foreign exchange losses / (gains) 4,415 1,228


Fair value change due to hedge accounting (792,848) 730,567


Fair value measurement losses / (gains) – 
derivatives 489,813 (418,642)


Interest expense – term debt 525,841 566,232


Change in deferred tax assets / liabilities (1,931) (8,275)


Interest income (3,817) (116,601)


Interest expense 59,920 29,073


Total adjustments for non-cash items 281,608 783,447


Change in receivables from / liabilities  
to BMW Group companies 594,343 1,108,195


Change in other assets 22 (22)


Change in pension obligation (258) 198


Change in other liabilities (4,326) 4,362


Interest received on free-standing derivatives 42,143 31,539


Interest paid on free-standing derivatives (281,004) (196,260)


Interest received 13,138 679,990


Interest paid (453,653) (51,045)


Total adjustments for cash items (89,595) 1,576,957


Cash flow from operating activities 228,636 2,292,987


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Proceeds from term debt issuances 4,495,485 3,988,105


Repayment of term debt issuances (6,525,907) (2,899,391)


Proceeds from commercial paper issuances 20,886,259 8,575,104


Repayment of commercial paper issuances (19,666,342) (11,158,779)


Interest paid – term debt (543,464) (557,806)


Interest received on  
fair value hedge derivatives 226,646 77,595


Cash flow from financing equivalents (1,127,323) (1,975,172)


Change in cash and cash equivalents (898,687) 317,815


Cash and cash equivalents  
at beginning of year 993,754 675,939


Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 95,067 993,754


See accompanying notes to financial statements
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N O T E S  T O  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S
Y E A R S  E N D E D  D E C E M B E R  3 1 ,  2 0 2 1  A N D  2 0 2 0


1 Nature of Operations
BMW US Capital, LLC (the Company) was formed on January 14, 1993, 
and until December 31, 2000, was a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW 
(US) Holding Corp., which is ultimately owned by BMW AG (Bayerische 
Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft).


Effective January 1, 2001, the Company adopted a legal structure per-
mitted under the Delaware Limited Liability Company Act dated August 
1, 1999, and became a limited liability company whose sole member is 
BMW (US) Holding Corp., which is ultimately owned by BMW AG. The 
conversion of the Company to a Limited Liability Company (LLC) did not 
have any effect on the liabilities or obligations of the organization and 
did not constitute dissolution of the converting entity. As a result of the 
conversion, the stockholder’s equity of BMW US Capital Corp. was con-
tributed to the Company and is now accounted for as member’s capital.


The Company’s purpose is to assist, via long and short term advances, 
the financing of the activities and managing interest and foreign ex-
change risks for BMW AG or the Parent and its affiliates (BMW Group), 
primarily in the United States, and to provide services in connection 
therewith.


The Company’s U.S. affiliates operate primarily in the automotive in-
dustry and generate revenues across North America, with a concentra-
tion in states with large populations such as California, Texas, Florida, 
New York, and New Jersey.


The Company’s business as a service provider is connected to the au-
tomotive and financial activities of BMW Group with respect to yearly 
fluctuations due to overall economic changes and their impact over 
BMW Group’s businesses.


The Company’s revenues and expenses arise primarily from interests 
on deposits and borrowings and fair value gains and losses on financial 
instruments, which include derivatives executed for hedging purposes. 


The debts, obligations, and liabilities of the Company, whether arising 
in contract, tort, or otherwise, shall be solely the debts, obligations, and 
liabilities of the Company, and no member, manager, and/or officer of 
the Company shall be obligated personally for any such debt, obligation, 
or liability of the Company solely by reason of being a member, manag-
er and/or officer.


2  Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies and 
Practices


(a) Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accor-
dance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued 
by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).


All Interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee which 
are mandatory at December 31, 2021 have been applied.


The following financial reporting pronouncements, issued by the IASB, 
have been applied for the first time in 2021:


Standard Interpretation
Date of  


issue by IASB 
Date of mandatory 


application IASB 


Amendments to IFRS 9, 
IAS 39, IFRS 7


Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform 


– Phase 2 8/27/2020 01/01/2021
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In August 2020, the IASB published the Amendment Standard Interest 
Rate Benchmark Reform (IBOR) – Phase 2. The amendments contain 
a number of reliefs to mitigate the impact on the accounting treatment 
of hedge relationships, financial instruments and lease liabilities result-
ing from the reform of interest rate benchmarks. 


The BMW Group is impacted by the reform of interest rate benchmarks 
primarily in the area of financial liabilities and related interest rate hedg-
es. For a significant proportion of these instruments, the previous 
benchmark interest rate was replaced by an alternative interest rate in 
2021. The adoption of the rules contained in the amended Standard 
means that the existing hedging relationships can be continued and the 
contractual changes arising due to the interest rate benchmark reform 
therefore do not have any direct impact on profit or loss. 


Further explanatory comments on the impact of the interest rate bench-
mark reform are provided in ↗ note 7.


Other financial reporting standards issued by the IASB and not yet ap-
plied are not expected to have any significant impact on the Company 
Financial Statements.


The financial statements were authorized for issuance by management 
of the Company on April 25, 2022.


(b) Basis of Measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost/
accrual basis except for the following material items in the financial 
statements of position:


 — Derivative financial instrument, and


 — Recognized financial assets and liabilities that are part of fair value 
hedge relationships are measured at fair value in respect of the risk 
being hedged in accordance with IFRS 9.


(c) Use of Estimates in Financial Statement Preparation
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IAS 1, Pre-
sentation of Financial Statements, requires management to estimate 
the effects of uncertain future events on assets and liabilities at the 
statement of financial position date in order to determine the carrying 
amounts of those assets and liabilities.


Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which 
the estimates are revised and in future periods affected. Due to the 
current financial market conditions, the estimates contained in these 
financial statements concerning the operations, economic performance, 
and financial condition of the Company are subject to known and un-
known risks, uncertainties and contingencies many of which are beyond 
the control of Company management, which may cause actual results, 
performance or achievements to differ materially from anticipated re-
sults, performance, or achievements. Also, the estimates are based 
upon management’s estimates of fair values, using currently available 
information. Factors that could cause differences include, but are not 
limited to the following:


 — risks of economic slowdown, downturn or recession


 — risks inherent in changes in market interest rates and credit espe-
cially in an environment of unpredictable financial market conditions


 — lending conditions to companies turning to the worse, thereby in-
creasing the cost of borrowing


 — changes in funding markets, including commercial paper and term 
debt


 — uncertainties associated with risk management, including credit, 
prepayment, asset/liability, interest rate and currency risks


 — changes in laws or regulations governing our business and opera-
tions


 — changes in competitive factors
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For the valuation of financial instruments, the most significant assump-
tions and estimates relate to the interest rates and expected cash flows 
used in the valuation models.


(d) Functional and Presentation Currency
These financial statements are presented in United States dollars (USD), 
which is the functional currency of the Company. All amounts have been 
rounded to the nearest thousand, unless otherwise indicated.


(e) Foreign Currency Transactions 
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional cur-
rency using spot exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Mon-
etary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are translated to the functional currency using the spot 
exchange rate at that date. The economic effect of foreign currency 
transactions is recognized in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss).


(f) Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset of 
one company and a financial liability or an equity instrument of anoth-
er. Financial instruments are recognized when the Company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Regular way pur-
chases or sales of financial assets are recognized at the settlement 
date.


Derivative financial instruments of the Company are subject to legally 
enforceable master netting agreements or similar contracts. However, 
receivables and payables relating to derivative financial instruments 
are not netted due to non-fulfilment of the stipulated criteria. Offsetting 
would have the impact on the carrying amounts of derivatives shown 
in the additional disclosures to financial instruments.


Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities are only offset if a legally 
enforceable right currently exists and it is actually intended to offset the 
relevant amounts. No financial assets and liabilities have been netted 


in the Company due to the fact that the necessary requirements for 
netting have not been met.


Non-Derivative Financial Instruments
Regular way purchases or sales of non-derivative financial instruments 
are recognized at the settlement date.


Financial assets that represent debt instruments according to IAS 32 
are classified either as 


 — financial assets measured at amortized cost (AC); or 


 — financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).


The measurement category AC is applicable to financial assets (debt 
instruments) that meet the following requirements:


 — the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective 
is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; 
and


 — the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise to cash flows 
on specified dates that are solely payments of principal and interest 
on the principal amount outstanding.


Financial assets (debt instruments) not meeting the conditions men-
tioned above are classified and measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. The measurement categories “fair value through other comprehen-
sive income with recycling” (in regard to debt instruments under IAS 32) 
and “fair value through other comprehensive income without recycling” 
(regarding equity instruments under IAS 32) are not applicable for the 
Company.


The Company’s non-derivative financial assets include receivables from 
BMW Group companies as well as cash and cash equivalents and are 
classified as financial assets measured at amortized cost.
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All highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months 
or less are considered as cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash 
equivalents consist primarily of short term deposits with original ma-
turities of three months or less from inception. For cash and cash equiv-
alents, the carrying amount approximates the respective fair value due 
to its short maturity.


Non-derivative financial liabilities are classified into the following mea-
surement categories:


 — financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL); or


 — financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (AC).


Non-derivative financial liabilities mainly include term debt, commercial 
paper and liabilities due to BMW Group companies and are classified 
as AC. The company does not apply the fair value option for financial 
assets or financial liabilities.


Financial instruments belonging to the measurement category FVPL 
are recognized at their fair value. Resulting transaction costs are imme-
diately recorded in profit or loss. 


Non-derivative financial assets and liabilities measured at amortized 
cost are initially recognized at fair value under consideration of directly 
attributable transactions costs. On initial measurement, fair value gen-
erally corresponds to the transaction price, i.e. the consideration given 
or received. Subsequently, non-derivative financial assets and liabilities 
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.


Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive contrac-
tual cashflows have expired or been transferred and the Company has 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial 
liabilities are derecognized when the contractual obligations have ex-
pired or otherwise terminated.


According to IFRS 9, the Company recognizes expected credit losses 
(ECL), for receivables from BMW Group companies as well as cash and 
cash equivalents measured at amortized cost. The receivables are ag-
gregated to determine expected credit losses based on similar risk 
characteristics.


The general approach according to IFRS 9 outlines a three-stage mod-
el to determine the amount of ECL. At initial recognition loss allowanc-
es are recognized at an amount equal to 12-month ECL (stage 1). In 
case of significant increases in the credit risk since initial recognition, 
loss allowances are determined as lifetime ECL (stage 2). 


The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognized is based 
on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring 
since initial recognition. If the internal risk management and control 
systems do not indicate a significant increase in credit risk any earlier, 
the rebuttable presumption is that a significant increase in credit risk 
has occurred when payments are more than 30 days overdue. The Com-
pany considers the probability of defaults and continually monitors the 
development of the credit risk in each reporting period, considering all 
reasonable and supportable information and forecasts. This includes 
especially historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment 
of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the 
reporting date. 


Receivables are credit-impaired when one or more events have oc-
curred that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flow (stage 3). Such events comprise situations of delayed payment 
over a certain period, the institution of enforcement measures, the 
threat of insolvency or overindebtedness, the application bankruptcy 
proceedings, or the failure of reorganization measures.


A default of a financial asset is assumed, if bankruptcy proceedings 
have been opened or if there is a high probability that no reasonable 
expectation of repayment exists. In case of default, the financial assets 
are derecognized. When derecognizing financial assets, the Company 
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continues to undertake enforcement measures to attempt to collect the 
receivables due.


The simplified approach is not applicable at the Company.


Derivative Financial Instruments
Derivative financial instruments are used for hedging purposes in order 
to reduce the currency and interest rate risks from operating activities 
and related financing requirements as well as to support the overall 
value at risk approach applied by BMW AG. 


All derivative financial instruments (such as interest, currency, and com-
bined interest / currency swaps as well as forward currency contracts 
and options) are measured initially and subsequently at their fair value 
in the statement of comprehensive income in the financial result (FVPL). 
They are generally recognized at the trade date.


The fair values of derivative financial instruments are measured using 
market information prevailing at the end of the reporting period and 
recognized valuation techniques. They correspond to the prices that 
would be received for the sale of an asset or paid for the transfer of a 
liability between market participants in an arm’s length transactions. 


Additional information is discussed in ↗ note 5.


Application of Hedge Accounting
Hedge accounting is applied if all requirements according to IFRS 9 are 
met. On the date the derivative contract is entered, the Company des-
ignates the derivative as a hedging instrument. The hedging instrument 
used, and the hedged items are affected by the same risk. In each hedg-
ing relationship for which hedge accounting is used, the designated 
amount of the hedged item corresponds to the volume of the hedging 
instrument. The resulting economic relationship between the hedging 
instrument and hedged item is not dominated by the effect of the cred-
it risk. The Company formally documents details of the respective eco-
nomic relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, 
including its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking 


various hedge transactions, together with the method that will be used 
to assess the effectiveness of the hedging relationship. 


The Company especially enters into interest rate derivative agreements 
as part of its overall interest rate risk management program and applies 
fair value hedge accounting. These transactions are entered as hedges 
against the effects of future interest rate fluctuations on term debt is-
sued by the Company or financial receivables and liabilities due to BMW 
Group companies. The cumulative gain or loss from measuring the de-
rivative hedging instrument at fair value is recognized in profit or loss. 
The cumulative gain or loss of the hedged item attributable to the 
hedged risk is recognized as basis adjustment in the profit or loss im-
mediately. Accordingly, the change in fair values attributable to the 
hedged risk of both, the derivative and the underlying hedged item, are 
offset in the financial result, so long as a highly effective relationship is 
maintained between the derivative instruments and the corresponding 
position being hedged. The Company has exercised the option of des-
ignating cross-currency basis spreads as cost of hedging rather than 
as part of the hedging relationship and presenting them separately in 
equity (Cost of Hedging). 


The Company discontinues hedge accounting when it is determined 
that the hedge relationship ceases to meet the qualifying criteria, in-
cluding instances when the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or 
exercised, the forecasted transaction is no longer highly probable, or 
management changes its risk management objective.


Where hedge accounting is applied, changes in fair value are presented 
as part of other financial result in the income statement or within other 
comprehensive income as a component of accumulated other equity 
(Cost of Hedging).


Additional information regarding the Company’s objectives and strate-
gies regarding the management of foreign currency and interest rate 
risk, including the use of derivative instruments, is discussed in notes 
↗ 3(f) and ↗ 7(c).
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(g) Recognition of Interest Income and Expenses
Interest income or expense is recognized using the effective interest 
method. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective inter-
est rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the 
asset is not credit-impaired) or to the amortized cost of the financial 
liability. However, for financial assets that have become credit-impaired 
subsequent to initial recognition, interest income is calculated by ap-
plying the effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the credit im-
paired financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the 
calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.


(h) Income Taxes
The Company is a limited liability company, and as such, is not a taxable 
entity and does not have a separate tax obligation. BMW (US) Holding 
Corp. has an internal tax sharing arrangement whereby the Company 
settles its separate company tax receivables or liabilities annually with 
BMW (US) Holding Corp. As a single member limited liability company, 
the Company is treated as a division of BMW (US) Holding Corp., which 
files a consolidated federal, state, and local income tax return.


Income taxes are determined on a separate company basis and allo-
cated to each company based upon the BMW (US) Holding Corp.’s in-
ternal tax sharing arrangement. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined based on the differences between the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and tax basis of 
assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect for the year in 
which the differences are expected to reverse.


(i) Provisions for Pension and Similar Obligations
The Company’s net obligation for defined benefit plans is calculated 
separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that 
employees have earned in the current and prior periods, discounting 
that amount and deducting the fair value of any plan assets. The cal-
culation of defined benefit obligations is performed annually by a qual-
ified actuary using the projected unit credit method in accordance with 
IAS 19, Employee Benefits. When the calculation results in the potential 
asset for the company, the recognized asset is limited to the present 


value of economic benefit available in the form of any future refund from 
the plan or reduction in the future contribution to the plan. To calculate 
the present value of economic benefits, consideration is given to any 
applicable minimum funding requirements. 


Re-measurement of the net pension liability, which comprises actuari-
al gains and losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest), are 
recognized immediately in OCI. The company determines the net inter-
est expense (income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset) for the 
period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined ben-
efit obligation at the beginning annual period to the net defined benefit 
liability (asset), taking into account any changes in the net defined ben-
efit liability (asset) during the period as a result of contributions and 
benefit payments. Net interest expense and other expenses related to 
the defined benefit plans are recognized in profit or loss. 


When the benefits of a plan are changed or a plan is curtailed, the re-
sulting change in benefit that relates to the past service or the gain or 
loss on curtailments is recognized in profit or loss. The Company rec-
ognizes the gains and losses on the settlement of the defined benefit 
plan when the settlement occurs. 


3 Notes on the Items of the Balance Sheet
(a)  Receivables from BMW Group companies, Liabilities to BMW Group  


companies


The Company makes and accepts loans to/from various BMW Group 
companies in the course of normal business operations. Receivables 
from BMW Group companies due within 12 months and the related ac-
crued interest receivable from BMW Group companies are short term 
in nature. The fair value of long-term amounts receivable from BMW 
Group companies is the estimated discounted future cash flows based 
on rates currently available for debt with similar terms and remaining 
maturities. The Company serves as the In-house bank service provider 
for the Americas region and is the cash pool leader for USD, CAD and 
MXN currencies. The Company receives deposits from and/or lends 
funds to participating entities of the BMW Group. Balances from par-
ticipating entities are not subject to offsetting.
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In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has adjusted the carrying 
value of receivables subject to fair value hedges by the change in fair 
value to the risk being hedged as of December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020. At December 31, 2021, the resulting adjustment decreased the 
related value of the underlying receivable by $33,252k. At December 
31, 2020, the resulting adjustment increased the related value of the 
underlying receivable by $234,388k. Concurrently with this adjustment, 
the derivative instruments classified as fair value hedges were carried 
at fair value with changes in fair value recorded in profit of loss.


Receivables from BMW Group companies at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, along with the range of interest rates charged on such loans are 
as follows:


Long-term Short-term


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020 2021 2020


 13,505,220 16,337,361 20,386,612 16,636,810


 
0.64%–


1.96%
0.66%–


3.40%
0.5%–
1.70%


0.08%–
1.78%


Maturities of receivables from BMW Group companies are as follows at 
December 31, 2021 and 2020:


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars
Carrying 
amount Fair value


Carrying 
amount Fair value


Maturity:     


Due within one year 20,386,612 20,533,814 16,636,810 16,796,336


Due between one  
and five years 13,505,220 13,633,216 16,337,361 16,762,999


Total 33,891,832 34,167,030 32,974,171 33,559,335


Liabilities due to BMW Group Companies at December 31, 2021 and 
2020, along with the range of annual interest rates on such loans, are 
as follows:


Long-term Short-term


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020 2021 2020


 540,000 1,240,000 12,783,286 10,951,277


 
0.15%–


0.78%
0.10%–


0.78%
0.02%–


0.21%
0.05%–


0.79%


Maturities of liabilities due to BMW Group companies are as follows at 
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020:


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars
Carrying 
amount Fair value


Carrying 
amount Fair value


Maturity:     


Due within one year 12,783,286 12,778,534 10,951,277 10,950,838


Due between one  
and five years 540,000 538,105 1,240,000 1,237,605


Total 13,323,286 13,316,639 12,191,277 12,188,443


(b) Other Liabilities
Other liabilities include mainly trade payables and period end accruals.
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(c) Pension and Similar Obligations
The Company participates in the Pension, Post-Retirement Medical, and 
Life Insurance Plans of BMW (US) Holding Corp. and its affiliates. The 
Post-Retirement Medical and Life Insurance Plans are group plans for 
retired employees with the appropriate age and years of service. Com-
ponents of the plan include an annual deductible, employee coinsur-
ance, out of pocket limit, no lifetime maximum benefit, and prescription 
drug coverage. The Pension Plan and Post-Retirement Medical Plan are 
defined benefit plans.


The defined benefit obligation is calculated using the projected unit 
credit method. The actuarial computation requires the use of estimates 
and assumption, including discount rate and mortality. Actuarial gains 
and losses arising from defined benefit plans are recorded directly in 
other comprehensive income. Interest expense on the net defined ben-
efit liability is presented within net interest margin on the Statements 
of Comprehensive Income / (loss). All other components of pension ex-
pense are presented in the comprehensive income / (loss) statements 
under general and administrative expenses.


The Plan was closed to new participants on March 1, 2012. Employees 
hired after March 1, 2012, are not eligible for the Plan. Eligibility for un-
reduced retirement benefits begins at age 60, provided that the partic-
ipant has at least five-years of service. Reduced retirement benefits can 
commence prior to age 60 with a least 5 years of service. An early re-
tirement subsidy is provided at retirement after age 55 with at least 10 
years of service.


As of June 30, 2019, the Company has frozen the pension plan. The 
Post-Retirement Medical and Life Insurance plans were not affected by 
the pension plan decision. The defined benefit to employees will be 
based on amounts contributed by the Company up to this date. 


(d) Commercial Paper
The Company maintains a BMW AG guaranteed U.S. commercial paper 
program of $7 billion. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
commercial paper outstanding totaled $1,219,937k and $0k, respec-
tively. The weighted average interest rate on the commercial paper was 
0.11% and 0.00%, at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, re-
spectively. All commercial paper mature within 180 days.


Commercial paper is an unsecured and discounted promissory note 
issued to finance the short term credit needs of institutions. Although 
commercial paper is occasionally issued as an interest bearing note, it 
typically trades at a discount to its par value. In other words, the pur-
chaser usually purchases commercial paper below par and then receives 
its face value at maturity. The discount, or the difference between the 
purchase price and the face value of the note, is amortized over the term 
of the commercial paper as interest expense by applying the effective 
interest rate method. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, 
the commercial paper unamortized discount was $63k and $0k, re-
spectively.


At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the fair value of the 
Company’s commercial paper obligations approximated the recorded 
value primarily due to the short-term nature of the outstanding com-
mercial paper. 


3 Management Report


7 Responsibility Statement


9 Independent Auditor’s Report


14 Statements of Financial Position


15 Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)


16 Statements of Changes in Member’s Capital


17 Statements of Cash Flows


18 Notes to Financial Statements


BMW US Capital, LLC Annual Report 202125







(e) Term Debt and Line of Credit
Term debt consists of the following at December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020:


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars Carrying amounts Carrying amounts


Foreign and U.S. dollar denominated variable 
rate notes interest range from 0.12%–0.58% 
at December 31, 2021 and 1.89%–2.04% at 
December 31, 2020. 2,135,471 2,157,135


Foreign and U.S. dollar denominated fixed 
rate notes interest range from 0.63%–6.19% 
at December 31, 2021 and 0.63%–6.19% at 
December 31, 2020. 17,422,059 20,241,308


Total 19,557,530 22,398,443


The carrying amounts of term debt due in the following five fiscal years, 
and thereafter, are as follows as of December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020:


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars Carrying amounts Carrying amounts


Maturity:   


Due within one year 3,336,005 6,801,010


Due between one and five years 11,047,131 9,691,756


Due later than five years 5,174,394 5,905,677


Total 19,557,530 22,398,443


The movements in term debt are as follows for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2021 and 2020:


in thousands of dollars  


Balance as of December 31, 2020 22,398,443


Issues 4,495,485


Repayments (6,525,907)


Accrued interest payable (17,623)


Change in fees amortized by the effective interest method (7,206)


Fair value change due to hedge accounting (785,662)


Balance as of December 31, 2021 19,557,530


in thousands of dollars  


Balance as of December 31, 2019 20,570,735


Issues 3,988,105


Repayments (2,899,391)


Accrued interest payable 8,427


Change in fees amortized by the effective interest method 12,604


Fair value change due to hedge accounting 717,963


Balance as of December 31, 2020 22,398,443


Term Debt by category:


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Debt part of a fair value hedge relationship 17,254,136 20,055,788


Debt at amortized cost 2,303,394 2,342,655


Total 19,557,530 22,398,443
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In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company has adjusted the carrying 
value of term debt subject to fair value hedges by the change in fair 
value to the risk being hedged as of December 31, 2021 and December 
31, 2020. At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the resulting 
adjustment increased the related value of the underlying debt by 
$232,943k and $796,554k respectively. Concurrently with this adjust-
ment, the derivative instruments classified as fair value hedges were 
carried at fair value with changes in fair value recorded through earn-
ings.


At December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, $19,557,530k and 
$22,398,443k respectively, of the unsecured debt is guaranteed by 
BMW AG. The Company has access to a syndicated revolving credit 
facility of eight billion Euros, maturing in July 2024. The credit facility 
was negotiated in July 2017 with a maturity of July 2024 and is being 
provided by a consortium of 44 international banks. As of December 31, 
2021 there were no borrowings under the credit facility outstanding.


Bond discount and private placement fees incurred related to the issu-
ance of term debt are taken into account when initially recording the 
term debt and are recognized in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss) as interest expense under the effective interest rate meth-
od over the remaining lives of the debt. Bond discount is the difference 
between the face value and the proceeds received when the term debt 
is issued below face value. Private placement fees relate to legal and 
administrative fees associated with the issuance of the term debt.


(f) Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities
The Company enters into payer interest rate swaps, combined inter-
est / currency swaps and option agreements with both BMW Group 
companies and external parties to manage and hedge its interest rate 
exposure arising from mismatches between the interest earned on 
non-derivative financial assets and the interest paid on non-derivative 
financial liabilities. Floating rates are fixed periodically and, during this 
transition period for the respective benchmark rates, are mostly based 
on USD London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) as published daily by 
the British Bankers’ Association or USD secured overnight financing 


rate (SOFR) as published by The New York Federal Reserve. Depending 
on the respective hedge relationship interest rate swaps and combined 
interest / currency swaps are accounted for as designated hedging in-
struments applying hedge accounting as well as stand-alone financial 
derivatives categorized as FVPL. 


In addition, foreign exchange forward and swap agreements are con-
cluded with affiliates and external parties to hedge foreign exchange 
rate risk. In general, the Company concludes foreign exchange deriva-
tives with external parties and simultaneously enters into reciprocal 
contracts with its affiliates in order to manage currency risk on the lev-
el of the affiliates.


The below table summarizes the Company’s derivative notional 
amounts and corresponding fair values:


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars Notional Fair value Notional Fair value


Derivative assets     


Interest rate derivatives 24,476,170 551,434 22,544,541 1,193,461


Foreign exchange rate 
derivatives 117,217 1,180 217,718 2,407


Total 24,593,387 552,614 22,762,259 1,195,868


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars Notional Fair value Notional Fair value


Derivative liabilities     


Interest rate derivatives 18,500,836 273,904 25,400,835 444,033


Total 18,500,836 273,904 25,400,835 444,033


Additional information is provided in note ↗ 7(c).
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4 Notes on the Items of the Comprehensive Income Statement
(a) Interest income and expense 
Interest income with BMW Group Companies relates to loans to affili-
ates, derivatives and factoring of short-term BMW AG trade receivables. 
The factored receivable is accounted for at amortized cost. The com-
pany earns a premium which is the difference between the present 
value and face value of the receivable factored and is earned as the 
receivable comes due (terms 30–90 days). Interest expense with BMW 
Group Companies relates to loans with affiliates and derivatives. 


Interest income with third parties relates to derivatives and bank de-
posits. Interest expense with third parties relates to derivatives, interest 
on debt and commercial paper. 


(b) Financial Result
The caption “Financial Result” in the statements of comprehensive in-
come / (loss) includes: the liquidity fee between BMW US Capital and 
BMW AG, the fee remitted to BMW AG to guarantee the unsecured debt, 
and foreign exchange gains and losses on operational transactions, 
stand-alone interest rate derivatives, fair value adjustments of hedged 
items, debt and other financial instruments. Operational transactions 
include routine transactions denominated in foreign currencies.


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Liquidity fee 156,064 39,872


Gains on stand-alone interest rate  
derivatives 272,197 6,248


Gains on fair value adjustments from  
applying hedge accounting 693,565 1,014,774


Foreign exchange gains on term debt 188,639 49


Foreign exchange gains on other financial 
instruments 24,324 43,324


Total Gains 1,334,789 1,104,267


Guarantee fee (25,966) (27,360)


Losses on stand-alone interest rate  
derivatives (4,964) (2,453)


Losses on fair value adjustments from  
applying hedge accounting (1,135,374) (800,564)


Foreign exchange losses on term debt – (264,014)


Foreign exchange losses on other financial 
instruments (24,877) (40,238)


Total Losses (1,191,181) (1,134,629)


Total 143,608 (30,362)
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(c) Income taxes
The Company’s federal and state income tax payments are made by 
BMW (US) Holding Corp. as part of a consolidated tax return. Included 
in Payables to BMW Group companies at December 31, 2021 is $16,073k 
of current income tax payable. At December 31, 2020 a current income 
tax receivable of $11,727k is included in Receivables from BMW Group 
companies. The provision for federal, and state income taxes for the 
periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 consists of the following:


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Current:   


Federal (12,595) 9,921


State and local (3,478) 1,806


 (16,073) 11,727


Deferred:   


Federal 2,860 7,999


State and local 604 1,881


 3,464 9,880


Total income taxes (12,609) 21,607


The effective tax rate for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
was 25.6 % and 24.3 %, respectively.


The components of deferred taxes for the years ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020 are as follows:


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Deferred tax assets:   


Accrued employee bonus 98 79


Pension 41 104


Deferred income 746 360


Credit reserve 813 987


Derivative instruments 8,599 6,828


Accrued payroll taxes 7 15


Total deferred tax assets 10,304 8,373


The following table presents a reconciliation between the reported in-
come taxes and the income taxes which would be computed by apply-
ing the normal federal tax rate to income before taxes:


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Net (loss) before provision for income taxes 49,232 (89,024)


Applicable statutory federal income tax rate 21% 21%


Computed federal income tax benefit (10,339) 18,695


State income tax benefit (2,253) 2,849


Others (1) (1)


Effect of tax rate change (16) 64


Total income tax benefit (12,609) 21,607
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5 Additional Disclosures to Financial Instruments
The following table presents the carrying amounts and fair values of the 
Company’s financial instruments at December 31, 2021 and 2020 under 


2021 Category Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3


Financial instruments included on the statement of 
financial position:       


Non-current financial assets:       


Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 13,505,220 13,633,216 – 13,633,216 –


Derivative assets       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 3,597 3,597 – 3,597 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 457,461 457,461 – 457,461 –


Current financial assets:       


Cash AC 95,067 95,067 95,067 – –


Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 20,386,612 20,533,814 – 20,533,814 –


Derivative assets       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 3,605 3,605 – 3,605 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 87,950 87,950 – 87,950 –


Non-current financial liabilities:       


Term debt AC 16,221,525 17,198,711 – 17,198,711 –


Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 540,000 538,105 – 538,105 –


Derivative liabilities       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 7,114 7,114 – 7,114 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 164,083 164,083 – 164,083 –


Current financial liabilities:       


Term debt AC 3,336,005 3,334,807 – 3,334,807 –


Commercial paper AC 1,219,937 1,219,937 – 1,219,937 –


Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 12,783,286 12,778,534 – 12,778,534 –


Derivative liabilities       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 2,805 2,805 – 2,805 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 99,901 99,901 – 99,901 –


consideration of the respective measurement categories according to 
IFRS 9:
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2020 Category Carrying amount Fair value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3


Financial instruments included on the statement of 
financial position:       


Non-current financial assets:       


Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 16,337,361 16,762,999 – 16,762,999 –


Derivative assets       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 4,169 4,169 – 4,169 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 983,402 983,402 – 983,402 –


Current financial assets:       


Cash AC 993,754 993,754 993,754 – –


Receivable from BMW Group companies AC 16,636,810 16,796,336 – 16,796,336 –


Derivative assets       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 48,919 48,919 – 48,919 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 159,378 159,378 – 159,378 –


Non-current financial liabilities:       


Term debt AC 15,597,433 16,587,786 – 16,587,786 –


Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 1,240,000 1,237,605 – 1,237,605 –


Derivative liabilities       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 33,563 33,563 – 33,563 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 235,685 235,685 – 235,685 –


Current financial liabilities:       


Term debt AC 6,801,010 6,803,384 – 6,803,384 –


Commercial paper AC – – – – –


Liabilities due to BMW Group companies AC 10,951,277 10,950,838 – 10,950,838 –


Derivative liabilities       


Thereof stand-alone FVPL 20,494 20,494 – 20,494 –


Thereof within hedge accounting n/a 154,291 154,291 – 154,291 –
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The Company measures the fair value of the financial instruments based 
on the fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurement:


Level 1:  Level 1 inputs are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical assets or liabilites that the Company can 
access at the measurement date.


Level 2:  Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices included 
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly or indirectly. The fair value of financial instruments in 
Level 2 are based on valuation techniques using observable 
inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived 
from prices) at the measurement date. 


Level 3:  Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 
The fair value of financial instruments in Level 3 are based on 
valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs.


The Company generally uses the discounted cash flow model as the 
valuation technique to determine the fair value of financial instruments 
at the measurement date. The objective of the valuation technique is to 
arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be 
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly trans-
action between market participants at the measurement date. Essential 
observable inputs used in this valuation technique include risk free (i.e. 
Fed Rates) and benchmark interest rates (i.e. LIBOR, USD SOFR Rates), 
credit spreads and foreign currency exchange rates.


Derivatives are classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy using the 
discounted cash flow model to determine the fair value using yield 
curves of the cash flow currency and relevant credit spreads. 


For non-current non-derivative financial assets and liabilities (such as 
receivables / liabilities from BMW Group companies and term debt) the 
fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is measured by 
discounting the future principal and interest cash flows using a market 
rate of interest for similar risk and matching maturity as well as relevant 


credit spreads at the reporting date. Therefore these fair values are 
allocated as Level 2.


For reasons of materiality, the fair value of current non-derivative finan-
cial assets and liabilities is generally deemed to be approximated by 
the carrying amount.


For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the fair value of 
the financial instruments has been measured by using either Level 1 or 
Level 2 inputs.


The transfers between the level of the fair value hierarchy are reported 
at the respective reporting dates. There have been no transfers between 
the levels during the reporting period.


The following table shows net gains and losses by category:


Recognized in  
profit or (loss) from interest


Recognized in profit or (loss) 
from subsequent  


measurement at fair value


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020 2021 2020


Financial instruments  
measured at fair value 
through profit or loss 49,276 (40,000) (8,843) (42,546)


Financial assets  
measured at amortized cost 407,320 637,646 – –


Financial liabilities  
measured at amortized cost (553,479) (656,746) – –


Net gains and losses from financial instuments at fair value through 
profit or loss are composed of derivative financial instruments not in-
cluded in a hedging relationship.


Total interest income arising on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost mainly relates to the interest income earned on receivables from 
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group companies and is reported within interest income on the state-
ment of comprehensive income. 


Total interest expense for financial liabilities measured at amortised 
cost mainly relates to the interest expense on term debt and liabilities 
to group companies and is reported within interest expense on the 
statement of comprehensive income. 


The below table represents the offsetting of financial instruments, which 
have the following impact on the carrying amounts of derivatives:


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars


Reported on 
assets  


side


Reported on 
liabilities 


side


Reported on  
assets  


side


Reported on 
liabilities 


side


Balance sheet  
amounts as reported 552,613 273,903 1,195,868 444,033


Gross amount of derivatives 
which can be offset in case 
of insolvency (194,058) (194,058) (253,708) (253,708)


Net amount after offsetting 358,555 79,845 942,160 190,325


6 Related Parties
In accordance with IAS 24 (Related Party Disclosures), related individ-
uals or entities, which have the ability to control the Company or which 
are controlled by the Company, must be disclosed unless such parties 
are already included in the financial statements as affiliated companies. 
Control is defined as ownership of more than one half of the voting pow-
er of the Company or the power to direct, by statute or agreement, the 
financial and operating policies of the management of the Company.


The disclosure requirements of IAS 24 also cover transactions with as-
sociates, joint ventures, and individuals that have the ability to exercise 
significant influence over the financial and operating policies of the 
Company. 


In addition, the requirements contained in IAS 24 relating to key man-
agement personnel and close members of their families or intermediary 
entities are also applied.


BMW AG guarantees the unsecured debt of the Company, for this the 
Company remits a fee to BMW AG. The guarantee fee of 12.5bps is defined 
based upon a transfer pricing policy and arm’s length principle defined by 
BMW AG and it is remitted from the Company to BMW AG on a monthly 
basis. For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 the amount 
paid for this guarantee was $25,996k and $27,360k respectively. 


The Company provides a factoring service of short-term inter-group 
BMW AG trade receivables. For this service the Company earns a com-
mission equal to 0.05% of the receivables. The Company also earns 
interest which is equal to the designed benchmark rate for maturities 
between 30 and 90 days plus a defined margin. The defined margin is 
set by the Company monthly and is communicated to seller at the be-
ginning of each month. 


The company earns interest on loans granted to affiliates and pays 
interest on loans received from affiliates. The interest rate is defined 
according to the BMW Group pricing policies and based upon the Arm’s 
length principle plus a defined margin which is derived from BMW Group 
borrowing costs and service fees. For the periods ended December 31, 
2021 and 2020 the Company received interest in the amounts of 
$447,403k, and $712,442k. For the same periods, the Company paid 
interest in the amounts of $14,014k, and $84,411k respectively. 


For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the 
disclosure requirements of IAS 24 only affect the Company with regard 
to relationships with the Parent, affiliated entities, and members of man-
agement and officers.
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The related party balances for the years periods ended December 31, 
2021 and December 31, 2020 were as follows:


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Receivable from BMW AG 175,252 39,872


All other receivables from  
BMW Group companies 33,716,580 32,934,299


Total 33,891,832 32,974,171


Liabilities due to BMW AG – 61,800


All other liabilities due to  
BMW Group companies 13,323,286 12,129,477


Total 13,323,286 12,191,277


The Company did not enter into any contracts with any member of man-
agement or officers. The same applies to close members of the families 
of those persons. For the periods ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 
the remuneration of key management is $1,502k and $1,103k respec-
tively. The remuneration consists of:


in thousands of dollars 2021 2020


Short-term employee benefits 1,441 1,066


Post-employment benefits 61 37


Total 1,502 1,103


7 Risk Management
The exposure of the Company can be broken down into two main cat-
egories: financial and nonfinancial risks.


(i) Financial Risks
The formal procedures and policies operated by the Company to cover 
bank, credit, interest rate, foreign exchange, and other treasury matters 
are consistent with objectives and policies for the financial risk man-
agement within BMW AG. The Company’s policy is not to take positions 
in derivative financial instruments with the aim of profit realization. On 
a daily basis, the Company measures the risk of outstanding positions, 
which are managed within the established limits in compliance with the 
BMW AG policies. Financial risks arise mainly from credit, liquidity and 
market risks including currency and interest rate risks. 


(a) Credit Risk
The Company is exposed to credit risk because of its group external 
business operation and financing activities within the BMW Group. Cred-
it risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if any counterparty fails 
to meet its contractual obligations associated with a financial instrument. 
This risk is partly mitigated by entering into financial instruments only 
with parties, which have the investment grade credit standing. Further, 
the Company participates in a comprehensive limit system that assess-
es and limits the credit exposure to any single external counterparty on 
an ongoing basis. The Company continually monitors its position to en-
sure that it stays within the credit exposure limits set by BMW AG. 


The maximum credit risk is reflected by the carrying amount of the fi-
nancial assets recognized in the balance sheet. Expected Credit Loss-
es (ECL) according to IFRS 9 are determined using the general approach 
for receivables from BMW Group companies based on historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors as 
well as general economic conditions. Due to the structure of the debtors 
encompassing mostly BMW Group companies the credit risk is deemed 
to be low. Therefore, the company does not hold any material collater-
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als or other credit enhancements. Other than the credit risk exposure 
resulting from the BMW Group companies, there are no material con-
centrations of credit risk in the Company. The amounts in the below 
table have an S&P credit rating of A. 


The Company recognized the following loss allowance for receivables 
from BMW Group companies as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, re-
spectively:


2021
Stage 1 


12 month ECL
Stage 2 


Lifetime ECL


Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL  


(credit-impaired)


Cash and cash  
equivalents 95,067   


Receivables from  
BMW Group companies    


Gross carrying 
amounts 33,895,154 – –


Recognized loss 
allowances (3,322) – –


Total 33,986,899 – –


2020
Stage 1 


12 month ECL
Stage 2 


Lifetime ECL


Stage 3 
Lifetime ECL  


(credit-impaired)


Cash and cash  
equivalents 993,754   


Receivables from  
BMW Group companies    


Gross carrying 
amounts 32,977,417 – –


Recognized loss 
allowances (3,246) – –


Total 33,967,925 – –


Considering the stable portfolio of the receivables from BMW Group 
companies and the mostly unchanged circumstances regarding the 
inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques for calculating the ex-
pected credit losses, no material changes in the recognized loss allow-
ance were determined as of December 31, 2021. Due to the change in 
balances of the Group receivables the expected credit loss increased 
year-over-year by $75k to $(3,322)k. 


(b) Liquidity Risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in 
meeting its financial obligations as they come due. With its access to 
the BMW AG Euro Medium Term Note Program, as well as its commer-
cial paper program and short term deposits, the Company has ample 
resources to mitigate this risk. The Company believes it has a compre-
hensive funding strategy that incorporates a diverse set of funding op-
tions.
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The following table shows how the undiscounted cash flows relating to 
financial liabilities and derivatives affect the Company’s liquidity position 
as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively:


Future cash flows  
at December 31, 2021 
 
in thousands of dollars


Maturity 
within  


one year 


Maturity 
between 


one and five 
years


Maturity 
later than 
five years Total


Non-derivative 
financial liabilities     


Term debt 3,198,800 11,005,000 5,037,900 19,241,700


Interest payments  
on term debt 475,486 1,157,698 420,689 2,053,873


Commercial paper 1,220,000 – – 1,220,000


Loans due to  
BMW Group companies 12,783,286 540,000 – 13,323,286


Loans-external 124,339 – – 124,339


Total 17,801,911 12,702,698 5,458,589 35,963,198


Derivative  
financial liabilities     


With gross settlement 2,409 5,314 – 7,723


Cash outflows 48,467 120,581 – 169,048


Cash inflows 46,058 115,267 – 161,325


With net settlement 99,107 123,075 49,523 271,705


Cash outflows 99,107 123,075 49,523 271,705


Total 101,516 128,389 49,523 279,428


Future cash flows  
at December 31, 2020 
 
in thousands of dollars


Maturity 
within  


one year 


Maturity 
between 


one and five 
years


Maturity 
later than 
five years Total


Non-derivative 
financial liabilities     


Term debt 6,634,302 9,454,100 5,423,050 21,511,452


Interest payments  
on term debt 532,154 1,251,193 474,738 2,258,085


Commercial paper – – – –


Loans due to  
BMW Group companies 10,958,642 1,242,081 – 12,200,723


Loans-external 90,459 – – 90,459


Total 18,215,557 11,947,374 5,897,788 36,060,719


Derivative  
financial liabilities     


With gross settlement (342) 8,111 – 7,769


Cash outflows 84,677 285,542 – 370,219


Cash inflows 85,019 277,431 – 362,450


With net settlement 283,030 126,770 34,260 444,060


Cash outflows 283,030 126,770 34,260 444,060


Total 282,688 134,881 34,260 451,829


Cash outflows from derivatives concluded as part of hedging relation-
ships are also taken into account.


(c) Market Risk
Market risk is the risk from changes in market prices, such as foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates, and credit spreads, which will affect the 
Company’s income or the value of its holdings of the financial instru-
ments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and 
control market risk exposure within acceptable limits.
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Increases in credit spreads could arise from changes in demand for term 
debt instruments in capital markets, the removal of the unconditional 
and irrevocable guarantees of BMW AG for the debt issuance programs 
in which the Company participates, a weakening credit profile of the 
BMW Group, and a decreasing willingness of banks to provide credit 
lines and loans. This risk is managed centrally within the BMW Group 
with a wide range of organizational components to identify and mitigate 
such events.


Currency Risk
Currency risk refers to the potential changes of value or cash flows in 
financial assets and liabilities including derivatives in response to fluc-
tuations in exchange rates. The Company manages this risk for its af-
filiates by entering into forward, swap and option contracts denominat-
ed in foreign currencies with third parties, which are used to hedge 
certain operating cycle commitments in accordance with the cash flow 
exposure strategy managed by BMW AG. Simultaneously, the Compa-
ny enters into reciprocal contracts with affiliates. Therefore, no materi-
al net gain or loss is realized by the Company. In addition, the Compa-
ny utilizes foreign exchange rate derivatives to hedge foreign exchange 
rate exposures arising from foreign currency loans. 


At December 31, 2021 and, 2020, the Company had foreign currency 
forward and swap contracts with external parties to buy and / or sell 
foreign currencies with notional amounts totaling approximately 
$117,217k and $217,718k, respectively. The fair value of these contracts 
at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was $1,180k and $2,407k, 
respectively. The currency exposure at December 31, 2021 and, 2020 is 
detailed below. Hedge Accounting is not applied to account for these 
economic hedge relationships at December 31, 2021 and, 2020.


2021 
in thousands  
(all currencies)


Non-derivative 
financial assets


Non-derivative 
financial liabilities


Derivative financial 
instruments


CAD 305,630 (255,478) (50,000)


MXN 25,293 (29,355) –


EUR – (1,501,945) 1,500,000


2020 
in thousands  
(all currencies)


Non-derivative 
financial assets


Non-derivative 
financial liabilities


Derivative financial 
instruments


AUD – (30,000) 30,000


CAD 200,000 (369,498) (200,000)


MXN 492 (27,477) –


EUR – (2,500,000) 2,500,000
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The sensitivity of the Company’s results to changes in foreign currencies 
against the functional currency shows:


2021 
Currency


Effects on result of a 10% 
rise in the USD against the 


respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)


Effects on result of a 10% 
decrease in the USD against 


the respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)


CAD (11) 13


MXN 18 (22)


EUR 201 (246)


2020 
Currency


Effects on result of a 10% 
rise in the USD against the 


respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)


Effects on result of a 10% 
decrease in the USD against 


the respective currency  
(in thousands dollars)


AUD – –


CAD 26,387 (32,251)


MXN 124 (151)


EUR – –


The sensitivity analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular 
interest rates, remain the same. A concentration of currency risk has 
not been identified.


Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in non-derivative 
financial assets and liabilities including derivatives in response to fluc-
tuations in interest rates. The Company holds a substantial volume of 
interest rate sensitive non-derivative financial assets and liabilities for 
operational and financial activities. Changes in interest rates can have 
adverse effects on the financial position and operating result of the 
Company. In order to mitigate the impact of interest rate risk, the Com-
pany aims in general to change interest rates from fixed to floating. 
Furthermore, interest rate risk is managed through economic hedges, 


using derivative financial instruments. To manage the maturity gaps, 
appropriate interest rate derivatives are used.


As a result of the ongoing reform and replacement of specific benchmark 
interest rates, uncertainty remains regarding the timing and exact nature 
of those changes. Overall, a considerable number of contracts within the 
Company are directly affected by the reform of benchmark interest rates. 
Hedging relationships within the Company are based primarily on USD 
LIBOR reference interest rates, whereby those rates are designated as 
the hedged risk in fair value hedges. In the case of these hedging rela-
tionships, uncertainty arises with respect to the identifiability of the des-
ignated benchmark interest rates. For instruments maturing after the 
cessation of USD LIBOR, the notional amount of financial derivatives 
not yet converted to an alternative interest rate at December 31, 2021, is 
$2,653,434k. The notional amount of non-derivative financial liabilities 
not yet converted to an alternative interest rate is $50,000k. 


The transition to the newly created or revised benchmark interest rates 
is being managed, monitored and assessed with regard to risk man-
agement implications as part of a multidisciplinary project, the scope 
of which is likely to cover changes to systems, processes, risk and val-
uation models, as well as dealing with the related impact at an account-
ing and financial reporting level. The uncertainty triggered by the inter-
est rate benchmark reform is expected to be eliminated during the 
financial year 2022.


All interest rate derivative instruments not formally designated as hedg-
ing instruments in hedging relationships are recorded at fair value with 
the changes in fair value recognized in the financial result on the state-
ments of comprehensive income or loss. The fair value of these interest 
rate derivative positions are reflected as of December 31, 2021 and, 2020 
in interest rate derivative assets in the amount of $6,022k and $50,681, 
respectively, and interest rate derivative liabilities in the amount of 
$9,919k and $54,057k, respectively. The realized and unrealized gain 
on stand-alone interest rate derivatives was $267,233k in 2021 and loss 
of $3,795k in 2020. 
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For those hedging relationships for which fair value hedge accounting 
is applied according to IFRS 9, the fixed rate debt designated as hedged 
item are accounted for as an amount equal to the amortized cost and 
an amount representing the change in fair value of the interest rate risk 
being hedged (basis adjustment). Changes in the fair value of interest 
rate swap contracts and the offsetting changes in the adjusted carrying 
value of the related portion of the fixed rate debt being hedged are 
recognized in the statement of comprehensive income or loss. The in-
effective portion of a fair value hedge is recognized immediately in prof-
it or loss.


The nominal amounts of hedging instruments at December 31, 2021 
and 2020 were as follows:


2021 
in thousands of dollars


Maturity within  
one year


Maturity between 
one and five years


Maturity later than 
five years


Nominal amounts of 
hedging instruments    


Interest rate swaps 11,035,000 21,805,000 4,470,000


Combined interest /   
currency swaps 1,135,800 – 567,900


2020 
in thousands of dollars


Maturity within 
one year


Maturity between 
one and five years


Maturity later than 
five years


Nominal amounts of 
hedging instruments    


Interest rate swaps 11,205,000 22,125,000 4,810,000


Combined interest /   
currency swaps 1,249,302 1,226,100 613,050


The following table provides information on the nominal amounts, car-
rying amounts and fair value changes of derivative financial instruments 
designated as hedging instruments:


Carrying amounts / Fair values


2021 
in thousands of dollars


Nominal 
amounts


Derivative 
assets


Derivative 
liabilities


Change in 
fair value of 
designated 


components 
in reporting 


period for 
determining 
ineffective-


ness


Fair value hedges     


Interest rate risks 37,310,000 434,481 263,984 (277,719)


Combined interest rate /   
currency risk 1,703,700 110,930 – (38,814)


Carrying amounts / Fair values


2020 
in thousands of dollars


Nominal 
amounts


Derivative 
assets


Derivative 
liabilities


Change in 
fair value of 
designated 


components 
in reporting 


period for 
determining 
ineffective-


ness


Fair value hedges     


Interest rate risks 38,140,000 741,414 389,976 255,822


Combined interest rate /   
currency risk 3,088,452 401,366 – 6,406
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The following table summarizes key information on hedged items for 
each risk category:


2021 
in thousands of dollars


Carrying amount of hedged 
items (incl. cumulative fair 


value hedge adjustment)


Balance of cumulative  
adjustments to the carrying 


amount of the designated  
fair value hedges


Change in the fair value of the 
hedged items for determining 


ineffectiveness in the  
reporting period


Change in the FV of the 
hedged item for determining 


hedge ineffectiveness, where 
hedging relationships termi-
nated in the reporting period


Fair value hedges     


Receivables from BMW Group companies 21,916,748 (33,252) (211,539) (56,101)


Term debt (15,543,600) (221,512) 491,849 24,798


Combined interest rate / currency risk     


Term debt (1,710,536) (11,430) 37,859 9,105


Total 4,662,612 (266,194) 318,169 (22,198)


2020 
in thousands of dollars


Carrying amount of hedged 
items (incl. cumulative fair 


value hedge adjustment)


Balance of cumulative  
adjustments to the carrying 


amount of the designated  
fair value hedges


Change in the fair value of the 
hedged items for determining 


ineffectiveness in the  
reporting period


Change in the FV of the 
hedged item for determining 


hedge ineffectiveness, where 
hedging relationships termi-
nated in the reporting period


Fair value hedges     


Receivables from BMW Group companies 22,159,388 234,388 163,798 –


Term debt (16,916,987) (738,160) (451,339) 2,871


Combined interest rate / currency risk     


Term debt (3,138,801) (58,394) (7,404) –


Total 2,103,600 (562,166) (294,945) 2,871


The recorded ineffectiveness in the financial result in the income state-
ment amounts to $1,636k in the reporting year and $(32,717k) in the 
prior year and mainly results from currency basis adjustments and late 
designations of interest rate swaps.
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The cost of hedging reserve, showing the not designated components, 
has developed as follows:


2021 2020


in thousands of dollars Cost of hedging Cost of hedging


Balance at January 1 8,142 12,942


Reclassification to profit or loss (5,932) (6,436)


Deferred taxes 1,461 1,636


Balance at December 31 3,671 8,142


The fair value of the Company’s interest rate portfolio, which represents 
the net present value of all future, fixed cash flows, including loans, 
deposits, and derivative financial instruments, was $(494,150k) as of 
December 31, 2021 and $(388,742k) as of December 31, 2020. A one 
basis point movement in interest rates would have increased or de-
creased this valuation at December 31, 2021 by $1k and by $120k at 
December 31, 2020.


The Company assesses its interest rate exposure by using a value at 
risk analysis. This is based on a historical simulation, in which the po-
tential future fair value losses of the interest rate portfolio are compared 
with expected amounts on the basis of a holding period of 250 days 
and a confidence level of 99.98%. For year ended December 31, 2021 
and 2020, the potential volume of fair value fluctuations measured on 
the basis of the value at risk approach was $48,236k and $40,981k, 
respectively.


(ii) Nonfinancial Risks
Nonfinancial risks could arise from the Company’s operations. Opera-
tional risks mainly result from the use of computer systems and infor-
mation technology. The Company uses computer systems to monitor 
financial positions and daily cash flows and process payments to inter-
nal and external counterparties. System failures can result in delays in 


payment processing. Further operational risk can arise from the settle-
ment of financial transactions. The management of daily cash flows at 
the Company depends on the timely receipt of funds from external in-
stitutions who act as counterparties of financial transactions, such as 
bonds, swaps, or other derivative financial instruments. To mitigate 
negative impacts of system failures, all key systems are set up in par-
allel and/or have backup facilities.


(a) Capital Management
The Company’s objectives, when managing capital at an individual 
company level, are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Company may issue new shares or adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders. The Company has no prescribed divi-
dend policy. 


The Company’s equity, as disclosed on the face of the statement of 
financial position, constitutes its capital. The Company maintains its 
level of capital by reference to its financial obligations and commitments 
arising from operations requirements. In view of the extent of the Com-
pany’s borrowings or debt, the capital level as at the end of the report-
ing period is deemed adequate by the board of management of the 
Company.


There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital manage-
ment during the first half of the year. The Company is not subject to 
externally imposed capital requirements.


(b) Concentration of Risk
No concentration of risk was identified that would be relevant to finan-
cial statement readers.
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8 Cash Flow
The statements of cash flows show how the cash and cash equivalents 
of the Company have changed during the year as a result of cash inflows 
and cash outflows. In accordance with IAS 7, cash flows are classified 
into cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities. The 
Company’s purpose is to assist the financing of the activities conduct-
ed by companies of the BMW Group. The cash flows from operating 
activities are presented under the indirect method (profit or loss for the 


in thousands of dollars 2020 Cash flows Accrued interest Foreign exchange 
Fair value  


adjustments Fee amortization 2021


Term debt 22,398,443 (2,030,422) (17,623) (188,639) (597,023) (7,206) 19,557,530


Commercial paper – 1,219,917 20 – – – 1,219,937


 22,398,443 (810,505) (17,603) (188,639) (597,023) (7,206) 20,777,467


9 Segment Information
According to the definition of an operating segment under IFRS 8 and 
as presented in Note (1) Nature of Operations, BMW US Capital, LLC 
has one segment, and figures included in the statements of compre-
hensive income / (loss) represent the nature and financial effects of the 
business activities.


10 Additional Disclosures
During 2021, no events have occurred, that could be considered unusu-
al due to their nature, size or incidence, that have not been disclosed 
in previous notes and that could have a major impact on the earnings 
performance, financial position and net assets of the Company. There 
have been no changes in the composition of the Company during 2021. 
The Company did not become an investment entity under the definition 
of IFRS 10.


period reconciled to the total net cash flow from operating activities). 
Under this method, changes in assets and liabilities relating to operat-
ing activities are adjusted for currency translation effects. The cash flows 
from investing and financing activities are based on actual payments 
and receipts.


Liabilities related to financing activities can be reconciled as follows:
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11 Contingent Liabilities
In December 2019, the Company was informed by the U. S. Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the SEC) that the SEC had commenced an 
inquiry into BMW Group’s vehicle sales practices and reporting. On Jan-
uary 22, 2020, the SEC formally opened an investigation into potential 
violations of U. S. securities laws by the Company relating to disclosures 
regarding BMW Group’s unit sales of new vehicles. 


This matter was settled in September 24, 2020 with the SEC, without 
admitting or denying the allegations, and BMW Group consented to the 
entry of an Order finding violations of the U. S. Securities Act and agreed 
to pay a penalty of $18 million. Certain BMW Group entities and their 
officers are defendants in private securities litigation following the SEC 
Order. Possible risks for the BMW Group cannot be quantified at present. 
Further disclosures pursuant to IAS 37.86 cannot be provided at present.


12 Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated subsequent events for potential recogni-
tion, measurement, or disclosure in the financial statements occurring 
after the reported period through the date of this report April 25, 2022 
and concluded no such events occurred.


The war in Ukraine had no impact on Company’s Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. Any potential effects on the BMW 
Group’s business performance are being monitored on an ongoing ba-
sis. Due to the current situation, local production in Russia as well as 
the export of automobiles and motorcycles to the Russian market have 
been discontinued for the foreseeable future. The resulting supply re-


strictions have led to production schedule adjustments and interruptions 
at a number of BMW Group plants, which in turn is likely to have a 
negative impact on automobile sales figures. For this reason, the cor-
responding key performance indicators reported by the Automotive 
segment are now forecast to be down on the previous year. The war in 
Ukraine is not currently expected to have a significant impact on the 
business performance of the Motorcycles and Financial Services seg-
ments. Current estimates and assumptions for the financial year 2022, 
to the extent already known, have been taken into account and de-
scribed in the outlook. However, the outlook does not factor in a signif-
icant tightening of sanctions against Russia and/or an escalation of the 
conflict outside Ukraine. Similarly, additional major price hikes for en-
ergy and raw materials, including rises triggered by the war in Ukraine 
and/or the related sanctions, have not been taken into account.


BMW US Capital, LLC


April 25, 2022
Christian Kunz
President


3 Management Report


7 Responsibility Statement


9 Independent Auditor’s Report


14 Statements of Financial Position


15 Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)


16 Statements of Changes in Member’s Capital


17 Statements of Cash Flows


18 Notes to Financial Statements


BMW US Capital, LLC Annual Report 202143





		Management Report

		Responsibility Statement

		Independent Auditor’s Report

		Statements of Financial Position

		Statements of Comprehensive Income/(Loss)

		Statements of Changes in Member’s Capital

		Statements of Cash Flows

		Notes to Financial Statements



		Schaltfläche 1: 

		Schaltfläche 3: 

		Schaltfläche 2: 

		Schaltfläche 4: 

		Seite 3: 

		Seite 4: 

		Seite 5: 

		Seite 6: 

		Seite 7: 

		Seite 8: 

		Seite 9: 

		Seite 10: 

		Seite 11: 

		Seite 12: 

		Seite 13: 

		Seite 14: 

		Seite 15: 

		Seite 16: 

		Seite 17: 

		Seite 18: 

		Seite 19: 

		Seite 20: 

		Seite 21: 

		Seite 22: 

		Seite 23: 

		Seite 24: 

		Seite 25: 

		Seite 26: 

		Seite 27: 

		Seite 28: 

		Seite 29: 

		Seite 30: 

		Seite 31: 

		Seite 32: 

		Seite 33: 

		Seite 34: 

		Seite 35: 

		Seite 36: 

		Seite 37: 

		Seite 38: 

		Seite 39: 

		Seite 40: 

		Seite 41: 

		Seite 42: 

		Seite 43: 



		Schaltfläche 5: 

		Seite 4: 

		Seite 5: 

		Seite 6: 

		Seite 7: 

		Seite 8: 

		Seite 9: 

		Seite 10: 

		Seite 11: 

		Seite 12: 

		Seite 13: 

		Seite 14: 

		Seite 15: 

		Seite 16: 

		Seite 17: 

		Seite 18: 

		Seite 19: 

		Seite 20: 

		Seite 21: 

		Seite 22: 

		Seite 23: 

		Seite 24: 

		Seite 25: 

		Seite 26: 

		Seite 27: 

		Seite 28: 

		Seite 29: 

		Seite 30: 

		Seite 31: 

		Seite 32: 

		Seite 33: 

		Seite 34: 

		Seite 35: 

		Seite 36: 

		Seite 37: 

		Seite 38: 

		Seite 39: 

		Seite 40: 

		Seite 41: 

		Seite 42: 

		Seite 43: 

		Seite 3: 



		Schaltfläche 6: 

		Seite 4: 

		Seite 5: 

		Seite 6: 

		Seite 7: 

		Seite 8: 

		Seite 9: 

		Seite 10: 

		Seite 11: 

		Seite 12: 

		Seite 13: 

		Seite 14: 

		Seite 15: 

		Seite 16: 

		Seite 17: 

		Seite 18: 

		Seite 19: 

		Seite 20: 

		Seite 21: 

		Seite 22: 

		Seite 23: 

		Seite 24: 

		Seite 25: 

		Seite 26: 

		Seite 27: 

		Seite 28: 

		Seite 29: 

		Seite 30: 

		Seite 31: 

		Seite 32: 

		Seite 33: 

		Seite 34: 

		Seite 35: 

		Seite 36: 

		Seite 37: 

		Seite 38: 

		Seite 39: 

		Seite 40: 

		Seite 41: 

		Seite 42: 

		Seite 43: 

		Seite 3: 









2021_Annual_Report_BMW_International_Investment_BV.pdf


BMW INTERNATIONAL 
INVESTMENT B.V.


ANNuAL REpORT 2021











Contents


Annual Management Report 4
Report of the Supervisory Board 8
Financial statements 10
Income Statement and Statement of comprehensive 
 income for the year ended 31 December 2021 10
Balance Sheet at 31 December 11
Cash Flow Statement 12
Statement of Changes in Equity 13
Notes to the Financial Statements 14
[1] Significant accounting policies 16
[2] Interest income and expense 21
[3] Factoring commission income 21
[4] Other financial income and expenses 21
[5] Impairment loss on financial receivables 21
[6] Result from financial transactions 22
[7] Miscellaneous income & expenses 22
[8] Taxes 23
[9] Remuneration of Board of Directors 23
[10] Receivables from BMW Group companies 24
[11] Tax assets and liabilities 25
[12] Deferred tax assets and liabilities 25
[13] Equity 25
[14] Debt securities 26
[15] Loans due to banks 27
[16] Liabilities due to BMW Group companies 27
[17] Interest payables and other liabilities 28
[18] Financial instruments 29
[19] Risk management 35
[20] Related parties 39
[21] Subsequent events 40
Other information 41
Independent auditor’s report 41
Statutory rules as to appropriation of result 41
Responsibility statement 42
Declaration by the Supervisory Board 43
Independent auditor’s report 44







04


Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 


BMW International Investment B.V. (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Netherlands and is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of BMW Holding B.V. (“BMW Holding”) who in turn is a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW 
Intec Beteiligungs GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW AG. The statutory seat of BMW International 
Investment B.V. is the Hague, The Netherlands. The main purpose of the Company was and is to assist the 
financing of business activities conducted by companies of the BMW Group and its affiliates in the United 
Kingdom as well as to provide financial services in connection therewith. 


During the year under report, the Company has successfully managed many challenges and embraced 
 important growth opportunities. The Board of Director’s gives an overview of these developments in the 
 paragraphs below.


The Company’s activities and risk management
The core business of the Company comprises mainly financing BMW Group companies in the United 
 Kingdom (UK) that are priced in accordance with the “at arm’s length” principle. As a consequence, the main 
activities are providing long-term liquidity, intercompany funding for BMW Group companies and factoring of 
receivables of BMW Group companies in the United Kingdom. Based on its activities, the Company has 
identified the most important risks associated with its activities. The main categories of risk are credit and 
counterparty default risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk and operational risk. Group policies, 
guidelines, control systems and threshold structures are essential to making the Company’s risk appetite an 
intrinsic part of our business, as they help minimize all the risks and control them at an acceptable level.


Firstly, protection against such risks is provided by so-called natural hedges that arise when the values of 
non-derivative financial assets and liabilities have matching maturities, amounts (netting), and other proper-
ties. Derivative financial instruments are used, such as interest rate swaps and cross-currency swaps, to 
 reduce the risk remaining after taking into account the effects of natural hedges. With regard to interest rate 
risk, the Company successfully implemented the financial strategy of the BMW Group, which is explained in 
more detail in note 19. 


Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks such a the risk of fraud and compliance risk. Risk of fraud is 
mainly identified in the area of misappropriation of assets. The Company has aligned its internal control and 
risk management system on misappropriation of assets and financial reporting in accordance with the 
BMW Group policy. Risk management is based on the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 
Treadway Commission) model, where the relevant processes include the early identification of risks and 
 opportunities, their measurement and the use of suitable instruments to manage and monitor risks. The Com-
pany has established an encompassing reporting system that provides decision makers with comprehensive, 
up-to-date information and insights into developments regarding the capital markets. 


The Company has locally implemented the BMW Group’s Company-wide Compliance Management System 
(‘CMS’). CMS is based on the Prevent, Detect, Respond Model, which defines specific prevention, monitor-
ing, control and response measures, on the basis of clearly assigned roles and responsibilities. The CMS is 
tailored to the Company’s specific risk situation. It addresses all relevant compliance topics, including fraud 
prevention. An effective and efficient compliance organisation is fundamental to reducing sanction and liabili-
ty risks, as well as risks arising from other (non)financial disadvantages, such as reputational risks.


By regularly sharing experiences with other counterparties, we ensure that innovative ideas and approaches 
are included in the risk management system and that risk management is subjected to continuous improve-
ment. The contracted staff of the Company follow regular trainings as well as information events, which are 
invaluable ways of preparing employees for new or additional requirements. The overall risk management 
process within the BMW Group is, although managed centrally, applied locally and reviewed for appropriate-
ness and effectiveness by the BMW Group’s internal audit department, which is acting upon this as an inde-
pendent authority. Please refer to the BMW Group’s financial statements for more detailed information.


BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Annual Management Report
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Given the objectives of the Company, the Company is economically interrelated with the ultimate holding 
company, BMW AG, Germany. In assessing the solvency and general risk profile of the Company, the solvency 
of the BMW Group as a whole, headed by BMW AG, needs to be considered. Solvency is assured by manag-
ing and monitoring the liquidity situation based on a rolling cash flow forecast. The resulting funding require-
ments are secured by a variety of instruments placed on the world’s financial markets. The objective is to 
 minimise risk by matching maturities for the Group’s financing requirements within the framework of the target 
debt ratio. The BMW Group has good access to capital markets as a result of its solid financial position and a 
diversified refinancing strategy. This is underpinned by the long-term ratings (Moody’s as of March 26, 2021: 
A2 with a stable outlook; S&P as of August 5, 2021: A with a stable outlook) and short-term ratings (Moody’s 
as of March 26, 2021: P-1; S&P as of August 5, 2021: A-1) issued by Moody’s and S&P. The debt securities 
of the Company are guaranteed by BMW AG.


At present, no risks have been identified which could threaten the going concern status of the Company or 
which could have a materially adverse impact on the net assets, financial position, or results of operations of 
the Company.


Operations during the year
In the year under report, the health crisis caused by the coronavirus continued to have a negative impact on 
the economy and, in contrast, the company’s results were very good. The below paragraphs focus on the 
 development of the Company’s operations in 2021. 


The year 2021 resulted in a gross income of GBP 49.6 million (2020: loss of GBP 2.7 million). The positive 
result of the Company was mainly impacted by a positive interest margin of GBP 7.8 million (2020: profit 
of GBP 8.7 million), a factoring commission income related to factoring activities of GBP 2.3 million (2020: 
GBP 2.8 million), and a profit on financial transactions of GBP 39.8 million (2020: loss of GBP 14.1 million).


The Company presented a stable interest margin with a profit of GBP 7.8 million (2020: profit of GBP 8.7 mil-
lion). The Company received a liquidity fee from BMW AG of GBP 9.2 million (2020: received GBP 2.8 million) 
related to its business nature as a strategic liquidity reserve provider to BMW AG and its focus on the financing 
business of BMW Group, as disclosed in note 2. A remuneration between the Company and BMW AG is 
 established in order to ensure that the Company earns an “at arm’s length” net profit per financing business 
activity and based on its functional and risk profile. This matured process is nevertheless periodically reviewed 
from a legal and fiscal perspective by relevant internal and external stakeholders.


The factoring commission income decreased to GBP 2.3 million (2020: GBP 2.8 million). The Company 
stopped purchasing factoring receivables in the fourth quarter 2021, as it has been decided that going forward 
the Company’s main focus will be the financing of BMW Group companies. 


The increase of the Result from financial transactions to a gain of GBP 39.8 million (2020: loss of GBP 14.1 
million) is related to the fair value measurement of financial instruments. The latter was mainly impacted by a 
fair value gain on derivatives not included in a hedge relationship, caused by a significant increase in the 2-year 
GBP Swap curve. The development of the Result from financial transactions is monitored closely and it is in 
line with the risk strategy of the Company.


The Company’s balance sheet total decreased by GBP 0.9 billion to GBP 9.3 billion at 31 December 2021 
(2020: GBP 10.2 billion). The main factor of the decline in assets was the decrease in Receivables from 
BMW Group companies. Such decrease is mainly related to the reduced funding needs of the BMW Group 
companies in the United Kingdom as well as the Company repaid its capital of GBP 1,427 million to its parent 
company in March 2021. 


The Company did not pay dividend to its parent company BMW Holding B.V. in 2021 (2020: nil).


During 2021, the Company did not engage in any research and development or other events, and no such 
events are expected to occur during 2022.
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Debt capital markets
The Euro Medium Term Note (“EMTN”) Program of euro 50.0 billion together with the euro 5.0 billion 
Multi-Currency Commercial Paper Program has been successfully utilized during 2021 to refinance 
BMW Group companies in the United Kingdom. Both programs give the Company the ability to raise funds 
without significant administrative efforts. 


Under the EMTN Program, the Company did not issue any new EMTN’s (2020: two EMTN’s with a nominal 
amount of GBP 550 million) but repaid three EMTN’s with a nominal amount of GBP 341 million (2020: five 
EMTN’s with a nominal value of GBP 890 million) during the year 2021. 


Furthermore, the Company has not entered in any new loan agreements (“Schuldscheindarlehen”) (2020: 
USD 150 million) nor issued any European Commercial paper. 


Global developments and outlook
In January 2022, before the start of the war in Ukraine, the International Monetary Fund expected global eco-
nomic growth to moderate from 5.9% in 2021 to 4.4% in 2022 and to slow further to 3.8% in 2023. Russia’s 
war in Ukraine is a humanitarian disaster. In addition, the economic damage is already being felt worldwide and 
threatens to become increasingly severe and long-lasting. Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 24 February has 
jeopardised the recovery of growth following the COVID 19 pandemic and caused a catastrophe throughout 
the region, destroying lives, homes and infrastructure. The consequences are felt worldwide. While the situa-
tion remains highly fluid and the outlook is subject to extraordinary uncertainty, the economic consequences 
are already seen in high energy and commodity prices. The sanctions on Russia will also have a substantial 
impact on the global economy, financial markets and EUR/RUB exchange rate. 


The increased inflation is expected to persist for longer than forecasted, with ongoing supply chain disruptions 
and high energy prices continuing in 2022. 


In March 2022, the US Federal Reserve raised interest rates by 0.25% and in addition to this rate step, the 
committee has planned increases for each of the six remaining meetings this year, indicating a consensus rate 
of 1.9% by the end of the year as inflation is well above 2% and the labour market continues to tighten. Other 
central banks are expected to take similar action with a mix of reforms, monetary and fiscal policy measures.


The British Chamber of Commerce has revised its expectations for UK GDP growth in 2022 downwards to 
3.6% from the 7.5% growth recorded last year. The downward revision is largely due to a deteriorating outlook 
for consumer spending and a weaker-than-expected rebound in business investment. The effect of Brexit on 
the Company is very small, therefore no further impact expected. 


The abrupt introduction of tightened new laws and regulations represents a significant risk for the automotive 
industry, particularly in relation to emissions, safety, and consumer protection, as well as taxes on vehicle pur-
chases and use. Country- and sector-specific trade barriers could also change at short notice. Unfavourable 
developments in any of these areas can necessitate significantly higher levels of investments and ongoing 
expenses that influence customer behaviour. Risks from changes in legislation and regulatory requirements 
are expected to have a low impact on earnings over the two-year assessment period. The risk level attached to 
these risks is classified as not significant. 


The Company is continuing to monitor the development of the pandemic and taking care to keep its people 
safe and its business strong. The outbreak of the pandemic had a limited impact on the Company’s business 
and financial results 2021. To date, none of its counterparties are or have been in a default position and there 
are no indications to date this will occur.


In the light of the economic outlook and developments in the political environment, and the development of 
the pandemic, as discussed above, the Company believes that it will continue to face a year full of challenges, 
like interest rate changes, in 2022, for which it prepares through its risk management procedures and strategic 
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guidelines. The Management of the Company does not see any threat to the Company’s status as going 
 concern. The Company’s financial position is stable, with liquidity requirements currently covered by available 
liquidity and credit lines. 


Regular in-depth dialogue with capital market participants has always been a high priority for the BMW Group. 
Within a short space of time, sustainability has become a key driver for the financial market. Investors and 
 analysts are increasingly considering environment, social and governance (ESG) aspects in their investment 
recommendations and decision-making processes. For the main features of corporate social responsibility, 
we refer to the BMW AG group annual report. 


Climate change
BMW International Investment B.V.’s exposure is solely through BMW AG’s potential impact from climate 
change, which BMW AG mitigates through geographic and technological diversification of assets and the 
 existence of dedicated areas and plans for Crisis Management and Business Continuity at corporate level, 
among other mitigation measures. No significant impacts are expected for BMW International Investment 
B.V.’s financial position.


Company Information
During 2021 the Company did not employ people by itself (2020: nil), but instead contracted the staff of BMW 
Finance N.V. 


Peter Picker was appointed as Director effective 25 February 2021, therefore succeeding Rainer Schmidbauer 
in his position.


According to the regulations of the Dutch Civil Law (Wet Toezicht Bestuur effective as of 1 January 2013) the 
Company’s Board of Directors is unbalanced since less than 30% of the members is female. In line with the 
change to treasury center, the Company had set up a Supervisory Board in 2016. The Company’s Board 
members have been appointed based on their qualifications and availability, irrespective of gender. In order to 
create more balance, the Boards will take the regulations into account to the extent possible with respect to 
future appointments of members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board. 


The Hague, 21 April 2022


W. Knopp G. Ramcharan P. Picker
Managing Director  Financial Director Director  
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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,


During 2021, the Company BMW International Investment B.V. had to face a variety of challenges caused by 
the changing international market environment within Europe, as well as globally, which was accompanied by 
an increase in financial market uncertainty. Some of the causes of these challenges were the coronavirus 
 crisis, restrictive trade policies, increasing inflation, shortages of chips and raw materials, all of which affected 
our company, which is naturally interrelated with its ultimate parent company BMW AG.


Monitoring and advisory activities of the Supervisory Board
In their capacity, the Supervisory Board, provided the Board of Directors with in-depth advice on matters re-
lating to the management and further development of the Company and monitored the Board of Director’s 
running of the business, both continuously and thoroughly. In 2021, the Supervisory Board convened for two 
regular meetings. 


Moreover, the Supervisory Board collectively and individually interacted with members of the Board of Direc-
tors and with senior management outside the formal Supervisory Board meetings.


Key topics that were addressed in the Supervisory Board meetings were the financial statements of 2020, 
strategy update as well as the financial outlook, and the fulfilment of all risk and compliance requirements. 


Description of the Audit Committee work
The Supervisory Board has assigned certain of its tasks to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is 
formed by Jolanda Messerschmidt-Otten and Fredrik Altmann. The function of the Audit Committee is to 
prepare the decision-making of the full Supervisory Board. A list of activities performed was: the review of the 
Company’s accounting policies and practices, including adherence to accounting and reporting standards. 
Assessing the appropriateness of material judgments and the interpretation and application of accounting 
principles.


The Audit Committee convened for two regular meetings. During the meetings, the board report and audit 
plan of the independent auditor were presented. The full Supervisory Board retains overall responsibility for the 
activities of its committee.


Composition of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board comprises of four members: Fredrik Altmann, Caroline Philipp, Anne Brons, and 
Jolanda Messerschmidt-Otten. In August 2021, Caroline Philipp replaced Thomas Sieber, and in November 
2021, Anne Brons replaced Stefanie Wurst as members of the Supervisory Board. In June 2021, Fredrik 
 Altmann was re-elected as member and chairman of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is 
 balanced as more than 30% of its members are female. The Supervisory Board members have been appointed 
based on their qualifications and availability, irrespective of gender. In order to keep such balance, the Board 
will take these regulations into account to the extent possible with respect to future appointments of Board 
members. The members of the board will continue to be selected based on their experience, knowledge and 
background. The successor will be hired based on required qualifications for the job.


The external member of the Supervisory Board received a remuneration of GBP 8.526 in 2021. No further 
benefits, bonuses, or incentives were received by members of the Supervisory Board.


Examination of the financial statements
The 2021 Annual Report of BMW International Investment B.V. as presented by the Board of Directors, has 
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., as the Company’s independent external auditor. 
The Audit Committee carefully examined and discussed the proposed financial statements. Consequently, 
the Supervisory Board authorised the 2021 Annual Report of the Company for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 21 April 2022 and will be submitted for approval to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders on 21 April 
2022.


BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Report of the Supervisory Board
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The Supervisory Board wishes to express their appreciation to the members of the Board of Directors and the 
entire Company for their dedication, their ideas and achievements during the financial year 2021.


The Hague, 21 April 2022


F. Altmann C. Philipp A. Brons J. Messerschmidt-Otten
Chairman







10 BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Financial statements
Income Statement and Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2021


 


in GBP thousand Note 2021 2020 


Interest income BMW Group companies  82,305 116,977 
Interest income third parties  102 155 
Interest related income  9,190 2,756 
Interest and interest related income [2] 91,597 119,888 
    
Interest expense BMW Group companies  (42,524) (67,800) 
Interest expense third parties  (41,236) (43,435) 
Interest expense [2] (83,760) (111,235) 
Interest margin [2] 7,837 8,653 
 
Factoring commission income [3] 2,252 2,794 
Net commission income  2,252 2,794 
 
Other financial income and expenses [4] 10 (48) 
Impairment loss on financial receivables [5] 84 388 
Result from financial transactions [6] 39,758 (14,081) 
Financial result  49,941 (2,294) 
 
Miscellaneous income & expenses [7] (348) (379) 
Income/(loss) before taxation  49,593 (2,673) 
 
Taxes [8] (11,686) 847 
Net income/(loss)  37,907 (1,826) 


   
Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Items that can be reclassified to the income statement in the future
Cost of hedging (net effect after tax) [13] 1,778 (1,793)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the period  39,685 (3,619)
Basic earnings per share of common stock in pound sterling    
from net income [13] 2,106 (101)


The total comprehensive income for the period is attributable to the shareholder of BMW International Invest-
ment B.V.


The notes from page 14 to 40 form an integral part to the financial statements. 
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Equity and liabilities  Note 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
in GBP thousand   


   


Assets  Note 31.12.2021 31.12.2020
in GBP thousand   


BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Balance Sheet at 31 December
Before profit appropriation


   


Receivables from BMW Group companies  [10] 2,944,500 3,461,000
Derivative assets  [18] 50,761 76,955
Deferred tax assets  [12] 436 1,011
Non-current assets  2,995,697 3,538,966
     
Receivables from BMW Group companies  [10] 6,294,507 6,651,125
Derivative assets  [18] 10,363 3,568
Tax receivables  [11] – 874
Current assets  6,304,870 6,655,567
     
Total assets  9,300,567 10,194,533


Issued capital  [13] 18 18
Share premium reserve  [13] 62,241 1,488,741
Cost of hedging reserve  [13] (1,254) (3,032)
Retained earnings  [13] 44,493 46,319
Undistributed income/(loss)  [13] 37,907 (1,826)
Equity  143,405 1,530,220
     
Debt Securities  [14] 1,546,720 2,372,617
Loans due to banks  [15] 287,478 284,559
Other liabilities  [17] – 112,994
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies  [16] – 1,253,250
Derivative liabilities  [18] 53,460 48,633
Non-current liabilities  1,887,658 4,072,053
     
Debt Securities  [14] 763,318 345,493
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies  [16] 6,367,528 4,196,746
Derivative liabilities  [18] 2,479 35,953
Interest payables and other liabilities  [17] 126,497 14,068
Tax liabilities  [11] 9,682 –
Current liabilities  7,269,504 4,592,260
     
Total equity and liabilities  9,300,567 10,194,533


The notes from page 14 to 40 form an integral part to the financial statements. 







12 BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Cash Flow Statement


   


in GBP thousand Note 2021 2020
   


Net income for the year  37,907 (1,826) 
 
Adjustments for non-cash items    
Fair value measurement losses/(gains) derivatives [6] 9,649 (38,368) *
Fair value measurement (gains)/losses non-derivative financial instruments [6] (36,606) 46,137 *
Amortisation financial instruments  1,290 1,470 *
Interest income [2] (91,597) (119,888) 
Interest expense [2] 83,760 111,235 
Change in impairment allowance [5] (84) (388) 
Taxes [8] 11,686 (847) 
(Loss)/profit on revaluation on financial instruments  2,352 (2,460) 
 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Receivables from BMW Group companies [10] 875,500 1,602,349 
Derivatives  (18,896) 2,089 *
Liabilities to BMW Group companies [16] 1,848 (2,262) *
Interest payables and other liabilities  (330) 1,726 *
Interest received  89,298 122,504 
Interest paid  (81,900) (119,435) 
Tax paid  (1,130) (1,467) *
Cash flow from operating activities  882,747 1,600,569 
 
Cash flow from investing activities  – – 
 
Capital injection by parent company  – 476,500 
Capital repayment to parent company  (1,426,500) – 
Proceeds from the issuance of Debt securities  – 549,636 *
Repayment Debt Securities  (342,093) (889,905) *
Proceeds from the issuance of Loans due to banks  – 121,134 *
Proceeds from the issuance of Liabilities to BMW Group companies  31,072,973 22,951,218 *
Repayment Liabilities to BMW Group Companies  (30,187,127) (24,809,152) *
Cash flow from financing activities  (882,747) (1,600,569) 
    
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  – –


Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  – –
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31  – – 


*The figures have been restated for comparison purposes.


The notes from page 14 to 40 form an integral part to the financial statements. 
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in GBP thousand  Note Issued Share Cost of Retained Undis- Total 
   Capital premium hedging earnings tributed 
    reserve reserve  income


BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Statement of Changes in Equity


1 January 2020  [13] 18 1,012,241 (1,239) 40,023 6,296 1,057,339
       
Net income   – – – – (1,826) (1,826)
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  
for the period after tax   – – (1,793) – – (1,793)
Comprehensive income/(expense)  
31 December 2020   – – (1,793) – (1,826) (3,619)
Appropriation of results 2019   – – – 6,296 (6,296) –
       
Transactions with owner recorded  
directly in equity    
Capital injection by parent company   – 476,500 – – – 476,500
1 January 2021   18 1,488,741 (3,032) 46,319 (1,826) 1,530,220
       
Net income/(loss)   – – – – 37,907 37,907
Other comprehensive income/(expense)  
for the period after tax   – – 1,778 – – 1,778
Comprehensive income/(expense)  
31 December 2021   – – 1,778 – 37,907 39,685
Appropriation of results 2020   – – – (1,826) 1,826 –
       
Transactions with owner recorded  
directly in equity   
Capital repayment to its parent company   – (1,426,500) – – – (1,426,500)
31 December 2021  [13] 18 62,241 (1,254) 44,493 37,907 143,405


The notes from page 14 to 40 form an integral part to the financial statements.
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Reporting entity
BMW International Investment B.V. (the “Company”) 
was incorporated in the Netherlands and is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of BMW Holding B.V. who in  
turn is a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW Intec 
Beteiligungs GmbH, a wholly owned subsidiary of 
BMW AG. The statutory seat of the Company is The 
Hague. The Company has its registered office 
and principal place of business in Rijswijk in the 
Netherlands. The Company was recorded in the 
commercial register on 14 December 2004, number 
17.171.669. The Company’s purpose is to assist the 
financing of business activities conducted by 
 companies of the BMW Group and its affiliates and 
to provide financial services in connection therewith. 
The core business of the Company comprises mainly 
financing BMW Group companies in the United 
Kingdom that are priced in accordance with the “at 
arm’s length” principle and to contribute to the 
 liquidity requirements of the BMW Group.


The members of the Board of Directors do not 
receive remunerations from the Company. The Com-
pany has three directors. All directors are paid by a 
BMW Group company outside the scope of the 
Company.


The Company did not employ personnel itself, 
but instead contracted the staff of BMW Finance 
N.V. 


Peter Picker was appointed as Director effective 
25 February 2021, therefore succeeding Rainer 
Schmidbauer in his position.


A Supervisory Board, established in April 2016, 
exists and currently consists of four members. In 
 August 2021, Caroline Philipp replaced Thomas 
 Sieber, and in November 2021, Anne Brons replaced 
Stefanie Wurst as members of the Supervisory 
Board. 


The financial statements of the Company are 
 included in the BMW AG consolidated financial 
statements prepared according to IFRS as endorsed 
in the EU. These financial statements are available 
on BMW Group’s website at www.bmwgroup.com.


Coronavirus impact
On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organisation 
(WHO) declared an international health emergency 
due to the outbreak of coronavirus. The Company is 
continuously monitoring the market and economic 
turbulences that have arisen as a consequence 
of the virus, as well as its impact on the business 
 development of the Company. The most significant 
risks the Company faces are particularly related to 


credit and interest rate changes. A comprehensive 
risk management system is in place to ensure that 
the Company successfully manages these risks. In 
the year under report, the direct impact of the 
 pandemic on the Company has been very limited, 
due to the nature of its business. Hence, no threat to 
the status as a going concern has been identified 
and the Company’s financial position is stable, with 
liquidity requirements covered by available liquidity 
and credit lines.


Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Company have been 
drawn-up in accordance with the International Finan-
cial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the 
European Union and issued by the International 
 Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and with Part 9 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.


Solvency
Given the objectives of the Company, the Company 
is economically interrelated with the ultimate holding 
company, BMW AG, Germany. In assessing the 
 solvency and general risk profile of the Company, the 
solvency of the BMW Group as a whole, headed by 
BMW AG, needs to be considered. The Board of 
 Directors consider it appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparing these 
 financial statements based on a forecast analysis 
which supports the going concern assumption.


Basis of preparation


Functional and presentation currency
Since October 2015, the Company took the role of a 
treasury centre for financial services denominated 
in British Pound Sterling for the BMW Group 
 companies operating in the United Kingdom. The 
 financial statements are presented in British Pound 
Sterling. Items included in the financial statements 
are measured using the currency of the primary eco-
nomic environment in which the Company operates. 
All financial information presented in British Pound 
Sterling has been rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise stated in the notes.


Comparison with previous year
The valuation principles and methods of determining 
the result are the same as those used in the previous 
year, with the exception of the changes in accounting 
policies as set out in the relevant sections.


BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Notes to the Financial Statements
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The Company has disaggregated adjusted the 
presentation of the Cash flow from operating activi-
ties and Cash flow from financing activities, here 
 especially the ‘Derivatives’, ‘Liabilities to BMW Group 
companies’, ‘Proceeds/Repayment Debt Securities’, 
‘Proceeds/Repayment Loans due to banks’ and 
 ‘Proceeds/Repayment Liabilities to BMW Group 
com panies’. 


In each case, the corresponding comparative 
numbers of the previous year have been amended 
for comparison reasons. 


The valuation principles and method of deter-
mining the result remained the same as those used 
in the previous year.


Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for the following material 
items in the statement of financial position: 


Financial assets and liabilities are measured at 
their fair value: 
– derivative financial instruments, and
– recognised financial assets and liabilities that are 


part of fair value hedge relationships are mea-
sured at fair value in respect of the risk that is 
hedged. 


Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial 
assets and liabilities are stated at amortised cost or 
historical cost. 


Inherent to the Company’s activities, the going 
concern of the Company is dependent upon the 
 performance of the financial performance of the 
counterparties of the loans issued to BMW AG Group 
companies. The Company’s Board of Directors 
 evaluated the financial position of the counterparties 
of loans to group companies and their ability to repay 
the notional and interest to the Company. The Com-
pany has not identified events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  


Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in con-
formity with IFRS requires management to make 
certain assumptions and judgements, and to use es-
timations that can affect the application of account-
ing policies and reported amounts of assets and 
 liabilities, income and expenses. The assumptions 


used are continuously checked for their validity. Actu-
al amounts could differ from the assumptions and 
estimations used if business conditions develop dif-
ferently to the Company’s expectations. 


Revisions to accounting estimates are rec-
ognised in the period in which the estimates are 
 revised and in future periods affected. Due to the 
current financial market conditions, the estimates 
contained in these financial statements concerning 
the operations, economic performance and financial 
condition of the Company are subject to known and 
unknown risks, uncertainties and contingencies, 
 many of which are beyond the control of the 
 management of the Company, which may cause 
 actual results, performance or achievements to differ 
materially from anticipated results, performance or 
achievements. Also, the estimates are based on 
management’s estimates of fair values and of future 
costs, using currently available information. 


Factors that could cause differences include, 
but are not limited to:
– risks of economic slowdown, downturn or 


 recession
– risks inherent in changes in market interest rates 


and quality spreads, especially in an environment 
of unpredictable financial market conditions


– lending conditions to companies turning to the 
worse, thereby increasing the cost of borrowing


– changes in funding markets, including commer-
cial paper and term debt


– uncertainties associated with risk management, 
including credit, prepayment, asset/liability, inter-
est rate and currency risks


– changes in laws or regulations governing our 
business and operations, and


– changes in competitive factors


For the valuation of financial instruments the most 
significant assumptions and estimates relate to the 
interest rates and exchange rates used in the valua-
tion models. More details are disclosed in the notes 
18 and 19.


The spread of the corona pandemic and the 
 accompanying measures introduced to contain it 
had no significant impact on the application of 
 accounting policies and reported amounts in the 
 financial statements. 
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In August 2020, the IASB published the Amend-
ment Standard Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 
(IBOR) – Phase 2. The amendments contain a num-
ber of reliefs to mitigate the impact on the account-
ing treatment of hedge relationships, financial instru-
ments and lease liabilities resulting from the reform 
of interest rate benchmarks. The Company is im-
pacted by the reform of interest rate benchmarks 
 primarily in the area of financial liabilities and related 
interest rate hedges. For a significant proportion of 
these instruments, the previous benchmark interest 
rate was replaced by an alternative interest rate in 
2021. The adoption of the rules contained in the 
amended Standard means that the existing hedging 


relationships can be continued and the contractual 
changes arising due to the interest rate benchmark 
reform do not therefore have any direct impact on 
profit or loss. Further explanatory comments on 
the impact of the interest rate benchmark reform 
provided in note 19.


(b) Financial reporting pronouncements issued by 
the IASB, but not yet applied:
There are no other financial reporting standards is-
sued by the IASB and not yet applied are not expect-
ed to have any significant impact on the Company’s 
financial statements. 


[1]


Standard Interpretation  Date of issue Date of Date of 
   by IASB mandatory mandatory 
    application by IASB application EU


Changes to IFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 27.08.2020 1.1.2021 1.1.2021 
IAS 39, IFRS 7


Financial reporting rules 
(a) Financial reporting standards applied for the first 
time in the financial year 2021
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Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been 
 applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements. 


Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at 
the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
individual transactions. At the end of the accounting 
period the unsettled balances on foreign currency 
receivables and liabilities are valued at the rates of 
exchange prevailing at the year-end. Exchange rate 
differences arising on translation are recognised in 
the income statement, within Other financial income 
and expenses. Quotations of market rates are ob-
tained from Reuters Ltd. Real time rates are frozen 
on daily basis.


Financial result
The financial result comprises the Interest margin, 
Factoring commission income, Other financial in-
come and expenses, Impairment loss on financial 
receivables and the Result from financial transac-
tions. 


The Interest margin is the difference between 
Interest income and Interest expenses. The Interest 
income comprises interest income on funds invest-
ed as well as an interest remuneration between the 
Company and BMW AG. The latter is established in 
order to ensure that the Company earns an “at arm’s 
length” net interest result for its financing activity 
based on its business model and risk profile as a 
strategic liquidity reserve provider to BMW AG and 
its focus on the financing business of BMW Group. 
Interest expenses include interest expense on bor-
rowings. Interest income and expense is recognised 
as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective inter-
est method. 


Factoring administration charges and other fee 
income is recognised in profit or loss at the time 
the debts are factored. The discount charge is 
 recognised in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into 
account the effective yield on the asset.


Other financial income and expenses cover the 
exchange rate differences of the monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currency. For-
eign currency gains and losses are reported on a net 
basis. 
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A model is used for determining the impairment 
losses on financial receivables which is based on ex-
pected credit losses and is comprised in the Impair-
ment loss on financial receivables. More information 
on the model itself can be found under the paragraph 
“Impairment”.


The Result from financial transactions include 
changes in the fair value of ‘financial assets at fair 
 value through profit or loss’ and gains and losses on 
hedging instruments that are recognised in profit or 
loss.


Dividends
Dividends proposed by the Board of Directors are not 
recorded in the financial statements until the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders has approved the 
proposal. Dividend income is recognised in profit or 
loss on the date that the Company’s right to receive 
payment is established.


Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 
tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that it relates items 
recognised directly in equity or in other comprehen-
sive income. 


Current tax is the expected tax payable or receiv-
able on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
 reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years. Current tax payable also 
includes any tax liability arising from the declaration 
of dividends (i.e. withholding taxes).


A deferred tax asset and liability are recognised 
in respect of temporary differences between the 
 carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for 
 taxation purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the 
tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary 
differences when they reverse, based on the laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by 
the reporting date.


A deferred tax asset and liability are recognised 
for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised.


Earnings per share
The Company presents basic earnings per share 
(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
 calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable 
to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares out-
standing during the period, adjusted for own shares 
held. There is no program which dilute the number of 
shares outstanding. 


Financial instruments


Categories of financial assets
The categories of financial assets that are held by the 
Company are:
−	 at	amortised	costs,	and
−	 financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	and	loss


Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the 
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights 
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Company 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership. 


The Company derecognises a financial liability 
when its contractual obligations are discharged, 
 cancelled or expired. 


Measurement
At initial recognition, the Company measures a 
 financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
 financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of 
financial assets carried at fair value through profit or 
loss are expensed in profit or loss.


‘Financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss’ are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or 
losses arising from changes in the fair value for 
 ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ are 
recognised in profit or loss within Result from financial 
transactions.


Interest income from ‘financial assets at fair  value 
through profit or loss’ and interest on loans and 
 receivables are included in the Interest income and 
expense (note 2).
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Determination of fair value
A number of the Company’s accounting policies and 
disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes. For the methods used 
see note 23. When applicable, further information 
about the assumptions made in determining fair 
 values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset 
or liability.


Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net 
amount is presented in the statement of financial 
 position when, and only when, the Company has a 
legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to 
settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously. Fair value, which is deter-
mined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based 
on the present value of future principal and interest 
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest 
at the reporting date.


Non-derivative financial assets
The Company initially recognises financial assets at 
fair value on the date that they are originated. The 
Company derecognises a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contrac-
tual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction 
in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that is created 
or retained by the Company is recognised as a sepa-
rate asset or liability. 


Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets are classified as “at amortised cost” 
if the following two conditions are both met:
1) the financial asset is held within a business model 


whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows, and


2) the contractual terms of the financial asset gener-
ate cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest on the principal amount outstanding


If these conditions are fulfilled, these assets are 
 initially recognised at fair value in addition to any 
transaction costs that are directly attributable. Sub-
sequently, the financial assets are measured at 
 amortised cost using the effective interest rate 


 method, less any impairment losses. Assets at amor-
tised cost comprise receivables from BMW Group 
companies, and trade and other receivables. The fair 
value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, 
is calculated based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the 
market rate of interest and relevant credit spreads at 
the reporting date.


Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
 balances and call deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less. 


Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Company initially recognises debt securities 
 issued on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade 
date at which the Company becomes a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instrument. The 
Company derecognises a financial liability when its 
contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled 
or expired. Financial assets and liabilities are offset, 
and the net amount is presented in the statement of 
financial position when, and only when, the Compa-
ny has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends 
either to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.


The Company has the following non-derivative 
financial liabilities: debt securities, loans due to 
banks, loans due to BMW Group companies, interest 
payables and other liabilities. Such financial liabilities 
are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition these financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 


The determination of the fair value of the non- 
derivative financial instruments which is allocated 
to level 1 is based on quoted prices in an active 
 market. The fair value of non-derivative financial 
 instruments classified at level 2 is determined using 
a measurement model, which takes the Group’s own 
default risk and that of counterparties into account in 
the form of credit default swap (CDS) contracts 
which have matching terms, and which can be ob-
served on the market.


Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
activities
Derivative financial instruments are used within the 
Company for hedging purposes. The Company 
holds derivative financial instruments to hedge its 
foreign currency and interest rate risk exposures. All 
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derivative financial instruments are measured at fair 
value. Fair values are determined on the basis of 
 valuation models (discounted cash flow models). 
The observable market price, tenor and currency 
 basis spreads are taken into account in the measure-
ment of derivative financial instruments. Further-
more, the Company’s own credit risk and that of 
counterparties is taken into account on the basis of 
credit default swap values. Interest rate and currency 
swaps are valued by using discounted cash flow 
models. The changes in the fair values of these 
 contracts are reported in the income statement (in 
Result from financial transactions). 


The Company applies the option to recognise 
credit risks arising from the fair values of a group of 
derivative financial assets and liabilities on the basis 
of their total net amount. Portfolio-based valuation 
adjustments (credit valuation adjustments and debit 
valuation adjustments) to the individual derivative 
 financial assets and financial liabilities are allocated 
using the relative fair value approach (net method).


Forward foreign exchange contracts are valued 
by using discounted cash flow models. Changes in 
fair value are calculated by comparing this with the 
original amount calculated by using the contract for-
ward rate prevailing at the beginning of the contract. 


Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; 
attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes 
therein are accounted for as described below.


When the Company holds derivative financial 
 instruments due to risk management policies, but no 
hedge accounting can be applied in line with IFRS 9, 
then all changes in its fair value are recognised im-
mediately in profit or loss.


Fair value hedges
On initial designation of the hedge, the Company for-
mally documents the relationship between the hedg-
ing instrument(s) and hedged item(s), including the 
risk management objectives and strategy in under-
taking the hedge transaction, together with the 
methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness 
of the hedging relationship. The Company makes an 
assessment, both at the inception of the hedge 
 relationship as well as through periodic prospective 
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an eco-
nomic relationship exists between the hedged item 
and hedging instrument. Items are hedged on the 
basis of a constant ratio of one to one between 
hedging instrument and risk exposure.


Where fair value hedge accounting is applied, 
changes in fair value are recognised in the income 
statement (in Result from financial transactions) or in 
other comprehensive income as a component of the 
Cost of hedging reserve. 


Changes in the fair value of a derivative hedging 
instrument designated as a fair value hedge are 
 recognised in profit or loss. The hedged item also is 
stated at fair value in respect of the risk being hedged; 
the gain or loss attributable to the hedged risk is 
 recognised in profit or loss with an adjustment to the 
carrying amount of the hedged item. Hedges are 
mainly used to hedge interest rate risks and foreign 
currency risks relating to debt securities and loans 
due to banks. Cross currency basis spreads are not 
designated as part of the hedging relationship in the 
case of interest rate hedges accounted for as fair 
 value hedges. Accordingly, changes in the market 
value of such instruments are recorded as costs of 
hedging within the Cost of hedging reserve. Amounts 
recorded in equity are reclassified to the income 
statement over the term of the hedging relationship.


The Company discontinues hedge accounting 
prospectively when the hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting. Any hedging adjust-
ment made previously to a hedged financial instru-
ment for which the effective interest method is used 
is amortised to profit or loss by adjusting the effec-
tive interest rate of the hedged item from the date on 
which amortisation begins over the remaining period 
of the hedge relationship before discontinuing. If the 
hedged item is derecognised, then the adjustment is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.


Impairment


Financial assets 
The Company applies the approach described in 
 IFRS 9 to determine impairment of trade receivables 
in place. IFRS 9 requires the implementation of an 
‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model, which aims to be 
forward looking and requires to recognise an im-
pairment loss for all financial assets as an expected 
expense. In accordance with this model, valuation 
allowances for expected credit losses on financial 
 assets classified at amortised cost are recognised in 
two stages. Impairment allowances on financial 
 assets are measured at initial recognition based on 
the expected 12-months credit loss. If, at subse-
quent balance sheet dates, the credit loss risk has 
increased significantly since the date of initial rec-
ognition, the impairment allowance will instead be 
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measured based on the lifetime expected credit 
losses. The calculations of impairment allowances 
on receivables from affiliates are primarily based on 
information which is available in the market (e.g. rat-
ings and probabilities of default) as well as on internal 
and external information on recovery rates. The 
Company generally assumes creditworthiness is 
 impaired if a receivable is more than 90 days over-
due. Credit-impaired assets are identified as such on 
the basis of this definition of default. In the case of 
credit-impaired assets which had not been credit- 
impaired at the time they were acquired or originated, 
an impairment allowance is recognised at an amount 
equal to lifetime expected credit losses (Stage 3). 
There were no significant changes in the assump-
tions or methodology applied in the assessment of 
expected credit losses, compared with the prior year.


Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. There is no 
preference share capital or compound financial 
 instruments issued by the Company. 


Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows how the cash and 
cash equivalents of the Company have changed in 
the course of the year as a result of cash inflows and 
cash outflows. In accordance with IAS 7 (Statement of 
Cash Flows), cash flows are classified into cash flows 
from operating, investing and financing activities. 


The cash flows from investing and financing 
 activities are based on actual payments and receipts. 
While the cash flow from operating activities is 


 derived indirectly from the net profit for the year. 
 Under this method, changes in assets and liabilities 
relating to operating activities are adjusted for 
 currency translation effects. The changes in balance 
sheet positions shown in the cash flow statement do 
not therefore agree directly with the amounts shown 
in the Company balance sheets.


The Company’s purpose is to assist the financ-
ing of the activities conducted by companies of the 
BMW Group in the United Kingdom. This assistance 
is considered to be an operating activity for the 
 Company. Movements related to debt securities and 
liabilities to BMW Group companies are considered 
to be operating activities. The cash flow from operat-
ing activities is computed using the indirect method, 
starting from the net income of the Company. Under 
this method, changes in assets and liabilities relating 
to operating activities are adjusted for currency trans-
lation effects. 


Segment reporting
Under IFRS 8 the Company is required to disclose 
segmental information of its performance. Only one 
operating income could be identified. The Company 
derives its revenues interest income and factoring 
commission fee by financing and factoring receiv-
ables of BMW Group companies in the United King-
dom and trading in derivatives to hedge the market 
risks of the Company. Furthermore, the interest reve-
nue is derived by contributing to the liquidity require-
ments of the BMW Group. The interest revenue 
streams are related to the business model of the 
Company. 
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[2] Interest income and expense
Total interest income and expense for financial assets 
and liabilities comprise the following:


   


in GBP thousand  2021 2020 
   


Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost  75,871 104,462
Interest income on financial assets included in a fair value hedge relationship  2,013 –
Interest income on derivatives at fair value not included in a hedge relationship  13,713 15,426
Interest and interest related income  91,597 119,888
   
Interest expense on financial liabilities at amortised cost  (37,714) (68,112)
Interest expense on financial liabilities included in a fair value hedge relationship  (34,411) (33,130)
Interest expense on derivatives at fair value not included in a hedge relationship  (11,635) (9,993)
Interest expense  (83,760) (111,235)
   
Interest margin  7,837 8,653


Interest income and expense (paid and accrued 
 interest) are recognised in the income statement 
 using the effective interest method. Assets and 
 liabilities at fair value stem from financial derivative 
instruments. Non-derivative financial instruments are 
measured at amortised cost. The carrying amount is 
adjusted for the changes in the value of the hedged 
risks when the instrument is included in a fair value 
hedge relationship. Fair value movements are not 
presented under interest income and expense, but 
under result from financial transactions (see note 6).  


The interest income from BMW Group 
 companies is earned over the Receivables from 
BMW Group companies. The interest expense from 
BMW Group companies is mainly related to loans 
due to BMW Group companies and derivatives. The 
interest expense third parties comprises the interest 
expense due to activities in Debt Securities and 


Loans due to banks. The interest income and 
 expenses are presented as non-cash items in the 
Cash flow statement. 


An interest remuneration between the Company 
and BMW AG is established in order to ensure that 
the Company earns an “at arm’s length” net interest 
result for its financing activity based on its function 
and risk profile as a strategic liquidity provider to 
BMW AG and its focus on the financing the business 
of the BMW Group. This matured process is never-
theless periodically reviewed from a legal and fiscal 
perspective by relevant internal and external stake-
holders. The Company received a liquidity fee of 
GBP 9.2 million (2020: GBP 2.8 million). In addition, 
a guarantee fee was paid of GBP 5.2 million (2020: 
GBP 5.5 million), as the latter unconditionally and 
 irrevocably guarantees the Company’s issuances on 
the capital markets.


[4]


[5]


Other financial income and expenses
The item comprises a profit of GBP 10 thousand 
(2020: loss of GBP 48 thousand) due to exchange 
rate differences.


Impairment loss on financial receivables
The Company recognized a provision for expected 
credit losses according to IFRS 9 in respect of 
 Receivables from BMW Group companies measured 
at amortised cost. This resulted in an impairment 


 allowance relief of GBP 84 thousand (2020: impair-
ment allowance relief of GBP 388 thousand). No 
 significant changes to estimation techniques or 
 assumptions were made during the reporting period.


[3] Factoring commission income
Factoring commission income consists of fee re-
lated to factoring of short-term BMW Group trade 
receivables and amounted to GBP 2.3 million (2020: 
GBP 2.8 million). The Company stopped purchasing 


factoring receivables in the fourth quarter 2021, as it 
has been decided that going forward the Company’s 
main focus will be the financing of BMW Group 
 companies. 
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[7] Miscellaneous income & expenses


   


in GBP thousand  2021 2020 
   


Management fee to related parties  (207) (257)
Advisory & audit cost  (91) (84)
Rent and leasing  (19) (6)
Other miscellaneous income & expenses  (31) (32)
Total  (348) (379)


With reference to Section 2:382a (1) and (2) of the 
Netherlands Civil Code, the following fees for the 


 financial year 2021 and 2020 have been charged 
by PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.


   


in GBP thousand PwC Other PwC Total PwC  
31.12.2021: Accountants N.V.  network network


Audit of the financial statements (67) – (67)
Other audit services (20) – (20)
Tax services – – –
Other non-audit services – – –
Total (87) – (87)


   


in GBP thousand PwC Other PwC Total PwC   
31.12.2020: Accountants N.V.  network network


Audit of the financial statements (64) – (64)
Other audit services (20) – (20)
Tax services – – –
Other non-audit services – – –
Total (84) – (84)


The fees charged are presented as advisory & audit 
cost. In 2021 and 2020 the fees were charged by  
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.


[6] Result from financial transactions


   


in GBP thousand  2021 2020 
   


Ineffective portion of financial instruments included in a hedge relationship  601 598
Revaluation of derivatives not included in a hedge relationship  39,157 (14,679)
Total  39,758 (14,081)


The increase of the Result from financial transactions 
to a gain of GBP 39.8 million (2020: loss of GBP 
14.1 million) refers to the fair value measurement of 
financial instruments. This result was mainly related 
to fair value gain on derivatives, which in turn were 
impacted by a significant increase in the 2-year GBP 


swap curve by 116 bps through the financial year 
2021. 


The revaluation of derivatives not included in a 
hedge relationship is mainly related to interest rates 
swaps to hedge the portfolio of receivables with a 
fixed rate from BMW Group companies (see note 18).
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[8]


   


in GBP thousand  2021 2020 
   


Current tax income/(expense)  (11,686) 847
Deferred tax income/(expense)  – –
Total tax income/(expense) in income statement  (11,686) 847


Taxes
Income taxes comprise the following:


The fees listed above relate to the procedures applied 
to the Company by accounting firms and external 
 auditors as referred to in Section 1, subsection 1 of 
the Audit Firms Supervision Act (‘Wet toezicht 
 accountantsorganisaties – Wta’) as well as by Dutch 


and foreign-based accounting firms, including their 
tax services and advisory groups.


All fees relate to the audit of the 2021 and 2020 
financial statements, irrespective of whether the work 
was performed during the financial year.


   


in GBP thousand 2021 2020 
  


Profit/(loss) before tax 49,593 (2,673)
Income tax using the domestic corporate tax rate (12,398) 668
Tax charges related to other periods 409 176
Tax benefit arising from tax free income – –
Other differences 303 3
Total tax income/(expense) in income statement  (11,686) 847
Effective tax rate  23.6% 31.7%


Reconciliation of the effective tax rate:


The Company is independently liable for the pay-
ment of any tax liabilities. The Company calculates its 
taxable profit in GBP and translates the amount into 
euro at year-end against the average exchange rate 
of the respective year. 


For 2021 the applicable Dutch corporation tax 
rate is 25% (2020: 25%). For the taxable amount up 


to and including euro 245,000 the applicable corpo-
ration income tax rate in 2021 is 15% (2020: 16.5% 
amount up to euro 200,000). 


The Company has agreed with the Dutch tax 
 authorities to use the IFRS accounting as a basis for 
the current tax calculation in the Netherlands. 


Remuneration of Board of Directors
The Company has three directors. All directors are 
paid by other BMW Group companies outside the 
scope of the Company. The same was applicable for 
2020. 


The external member of the Supervisory Board 
received a remuneration of GBP 8.526 in 2021 
(2020: 9.028). No further benefits, bonuses, or incen-
tives were received by members of the Supervisory 
Board. 


[9]
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All financial receivables from BMW Group companies 
are guaranteed by BMW AG when the aggregated 
losses on these receivables exceed euro 2 million 


 (excluding any accrued interest). Trade receivables are 
not guaranteed. 


Of the total receivables from BMW Group Companies 
78% have a fixed interest rate. The weighted average 
maturity period and the weighted average effective 


interest rate of the receivables from BMW Group 
 companies during the financial year 2021 are: 


in GBP thousand  Outstanding Weighted average  Weighted average 
   maturity period  effective interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Receivables from affiliated companies 8,944,594 0.9 0.0
Inhouse Bank BMW AG 272,672 Daily SONIA* + spread
Trade receivables from BMW Group companies 21,741 1.0 (0.1)
Total 9,239,007  


* SONIA = Sterling Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2021: 0.1906%).


The weighted average maturity period and the 
weighted average effective interest rate of the re-


ceivables from BMW Group companies during the 
financial year 2020 are:


The Company participate in the Global Payment 
Platform from BMW AG. Therefore, the cash position 
with the external bank is reflected in the Inhouse 


Bank position with BMW AG. The balance is 
 accounted for as part of the Receivables from 
BMW Group companies.


in GBP thousand  Outstanding Weighted average  Weighted average 
   maturity period  effective interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Receivables from affiliated companies 9,366,811 0.9 0.7
Inhouse Bank BMW AG 168,274 Daily SONIA* + spread
Trade receivables from BMW Group companies 577,040 0.1 0.7
Total 10,112,125  


* SONIA = Sterling Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2020: 0.0394%).
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Receivables from BMW Group companies


in GBP thousand  31.12.2021 31.12.2020
   
NNon-current receivables from BMW Group companies  2,944,500 3,461,000 
Current receivables from BMW Group companies  6,294,507 6,651,125 
Total receivables from BMW Group companies  9,239,007 10,112,125 


The Company recognised an impairment loss on 
Receivables from BMW Group companies of GBP 
0.9 million in 2021 (2020: GBP 1.0 million) in accor-


dance with IFRS 9. No significant changes to esti-
mation techniques or assumptions were made 
during the reporting period. 


[10]
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[11] Tax assets and liabilities
The tax liability of GBP 9.7 million (2020: tax receiv-
able of GBP 0.9 million), is related to the Corporate 
Income Tax (CIT) to be paid to the Dutch tax authori-
ties. 


The Company left the fiscal unity, headed by 
BMW Holding B.V., per 30 June 2019. It has been 
independently liable for the payment of any tax liabili-
ties as of 1 July 2019. 


[12]


[13]


Deferred tax assets and liabilities
The deferred tax for derivatives relates to the cost of 
hedging of derivative financial instruments included 
in a fair value hedge relationship. The deferred tax 
 asset/liability is calculated with a tax rate of 25.8% 


Equity


Issued capital
Authorised share capital consists of 18,001 ordinary 
shares of GBP 1 per share, all of which have been 
called up and fully paid-in. The holders of ordinary 
shares are entitled to execute the rights under the 
Dutch Civil Code without any restrictions. In compar-
ison with the year-end 2020, there were no changes 
in these figures. The Company generated earnings 
per share of GBP 2,106 (2020: GBP 101 negative). 


Share premium reserve
The share premium reserve comprises additional 
paid-in capital on the issue of the shares. In March 
2021, the Company repaid capital to its parent com-
pany BMW Holding B.V. to the amount of GBP 1,427 
million (2020: received GBP 476.5 million).


and results in a deferred tax asset of GBP 436 thou-
sand (2020: deferred tax asset of GBP 1,011 thou-
sand).  


Cost of hedging reserve
As of 31 December 2021, the amount of the fair val-
ue measurement of financial instruments recognised 
directly in equity amounted to GBP 1,254 thousand 
negative (2020:GBP 3,032 thousand negative) net 
of deferred taxes. The hedging reserve as of 31 De-
cember 2021 is related to the cost of hedging of fair 
value hedges. The currency basis spread is excluded 
from the hedge designation and effectiveness 
 measurement in accordance with IFRS 9, posted to 
Other comprehensive income (OCI) as cost of hedg-
ing and amortised into P&L over the lifetime of the 
hedge. The amounts recorded in the cost of hedging 
reserve are reclassified to the income statement over 
the term of the hedging relationship.


in GBP thousand  2021 2020


   
Opening balance at 01 January  (3,032) (1,239)
Thereof gains/ losses arising in the period under report  997 (2,603)
Thereof reclassifications to the income statement  781 810
Closing balance at 31 December  (1,254) (3,032)


   


in GBP thousand Maturity within  Maturity between  Maturity later  Total 
 one year one and five years than five years 


31.12.2021 6,294,507 2,944,500 – 9,239,007 


31.12.2020 6,651,125 3,461,000 – 10,112,125  


The following table shows the maturity structure of 
the receivables from BMW Group companies:


The Company has not and has not been asked to 
grant any payment holidays on their loans to BMW 
Group companies.
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Appropriation of result
The appropriation of the result for the year 2020 
amounting to a net loss of GBP 1.8 million deducted 
from the retained earnings has been endorsed by 
the General meeting of Shareholders dated 22 April 
2021.


Capital management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital 
at an individual company level are to safeguard the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and bene-
fits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In order 
to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
 Company may issue new shares or adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders. The Company has 
no prescribed dividend policy. 


The Company’s equity, as disclosed on the face 
of the statement of financial position, constitutes its 


capital. The Company maintains its level of capital by 
reference to its financial obligations and commitments 
arising from operations requirements. In view of the 
extent of the Company’s borrowings or debt, the 
capital level as at the end of the reporting period is 
deemed adequate by the board of directors of the 
Company. 


There were no changes in the Company’s 
 approach to capital management during the year. 


The Company is not subject to externally 
 imposed capital requirements.


 


Proposed appropriation of result
The Board of Directors proposes the addition of the 
net income for the year 2021 amounting to GBP 
37.9 million to the retained earnings.


[14] Debt securities 
Debt securities include both hedged and unhedged 
debt securities, as well as commercial paper.


in GBP thousand  31.12.2021 31.12.2020
   
Debt securities part of a fair value hedge relationship  2,110,038 2,423,200
Debt securities at amortised cost  200,000 294,909
Commercial paper  – –
Total  2,310,038 2,718,109


The Bonds under the EMTN Program and other 
 securities issued by the Company during the financial 
year 2021:


Interest  Currency Issue volume Weighted average  Weighted average 
  in millions maturity period  effective interest rate 
   (in years) (in %)


Variable GBP 200 2.0 0.7
Fixed CHF 600 6.8 0.5
 GBP 1,550 4.1 1.4
 NOK 1,000 10.0 3.3
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The Bonds under the EMTN Program and other 
 securities issued by the Company during the financial 
year 2020:


Interest  Currency Issue volume Weighted average  Weighted average 
  in millions maturity period  effective interest rate 
   (in years) (in %)


Variable GBP 250 2.2 0.5 
 SEK 500 3.0 0.7 
Fixed CHF 600 6.8 0.5 
 GBP 1,800 4.1 1.3 
 NOK 1,000 10.0 3.3 


The Euro Medium Term Note (“EMTN”) Program of 
euro 50.0 billion has been used in several currencies 
by the Company. In 2021 the Company did not issue 
any new EMTN’s (2020: two EMTN’s with an 
 equivalent of GBP 550 million). Further issuers are 
BMW AG, BMW US Capital LLC, BMW Finance N.V. 
and BMW Japan Finance Corp. Furthermore, the 
Company participates in the euro 5.0 billion 
Multi-Currency Commercial Paper Program estab-


lished by BMW AG, BMW Finance N.V. and the 
Company itself. The Multi-Currency Commercial 
 Paper Program support flexible and broad access to 
capital markets. Debt issuances under these pro-
grams have unconditional and irrevocable guaran-
tees from BMW AG.


There are no outstanding balances with respect 
to the Euro 5.0 billion Multi-Currency Commercial 
Paper Program as of 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).


in GBP thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period (in years) interest rates (in %)
  2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020


Total  287,478 284,559 5.0 5.0 1.5 1.5


[15] Loans due to banks
The average maturity and interest rates are presented 
in the table below:


   


in GBP thousand Maturity within  Maturity between  Maturity later  Total 
 one year one and five years than five years 


31.12.2021 6,367,528 – – 6,367,528 


31.12.2020 4,196,746 1,253,250 – 5,449,996 


Liabilities due to BMW Group companies


in GBP thousand  31.12.2021 31.12.2020


   
Non-current liabilities due to BMW Group companies  – 1,253,250
Current Liabilities due to BMW Group companies  6,367,528 4,196,746
Total liabilities due to BMW Group companies  6,367,528 5,449,996


[16]
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From the total liabilities from BMW Group Compa-
nies 80% have a fixed interest rate. The weighted 
average maturity period and the weighted average 


From the total liabilities from BMW Group Compa-
nies 58% have a fixed interest rate. The weighted 
average maturity period and the weighted average 


in GBP thousand  Outstanding Weighted average  Weighted average 
   maturity period  interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Liability due to affiliated companies 6,363,243 0.2 0.5
Inhouse Bank BMW AG – Daily SONIA* + spread
Trade payables due to BMW Group companies 4,285 30 days None
Total 6,367,528  


* SONIA = Euro Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2021: 0.1922%).


in GBP thousand  Outstanding Weighted average  Weighted average 
   maturity period  interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Liability due to affiliated companies 5,448,074 0.5 0.4
Inhouse Bank BMW AG – Daily SONIA* + spread
Trade payables due to BMW Group companies 1,921 30 days None
Total 5,449,995  


* SONIA = Euro Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2020: 0.0394%).


effective interest rate for the liability due to BMW 
group companies during the financial year 2021 are: 


effective interest rate for the liability due to BMW 
group companies during the financial year 2020 are:


Interest payables and other liabilities


in GBP thousand  31.12.2021 31.12.2020


   
Interest payables to third parties  15,018 14,035
Trade payables  65 33
Other liabilities  111,414 112,994
Total  126,497 127,062


Interest payables to third parties are related to debt 
securities, Loan due to banks and other liabilities of 
the Company.


[17]


in GBP thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period (in years) interest rates (in %)
  2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020


Total  111,414 112,994 3.0 3.0 3.4 3.4 


The table below further illustrates the characteristics 
of this transaction, such as maturity and interest rates:
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[18] Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of financial instruments are 
assigned to IFRS 9 categories in the following table:


For the financial year 2020, the items are allocated 
by categories in accordance with the requirements 
of IFRS 9 as applied in that year:


31 December 2021   At amortised Fair value  Total 
   cost trough 
in GBP thousand    profit or loss


Assets
Derivative instruments  – – –
Fair Value Hedges  – 36,528 36,528
Other derivative instruments  – 24,596 24,596
Receivables from BMW Group companies  9,239,007 – 9,239,007
Total of financial assets  9,239,007 61,124 9,300,131


31 December 2021   At amortised Fair value  Total 
   cost trough 
in GBP thousand    profit or loss


Liabilities
Debt securities  2,310,038 – 2,310,038
Loans due to banks  287,478 – 287,478
Derivative instruments  – – –
Fair value hedges  – 19,966 19,966
Other derivative instruments  – 35,973 35,973
Interest payables and other liabilities  126,497 – 126,497
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies  6,367,528 – 6,367,528
Total of financial liabilities  9,091,541 55,939 9,147,480


31 December 2020   At amortised Fair value  Total 
   cost trough 
in GBP thousand    profit or loss


Assets
Derivative instruments   – – – 
Fair Value Hedges   – 78,974 78,974 
Other derivative instruments   – 1,550 1,550 
Receivables from BMW Group companies   10,112,125 – 10,112,125 
Total of financial assets   10,112,125 80,524 10,192,649 


31 December 2020   At amortised Fair value  Total 
   cost trough 
in GBP thousand    profit or loss


Liabilities
Debt securities  2,718,109 – 2,718,109
Loans due to banks  284,559 – 284,559
Derivative instruments  – – –
Fair value hedges  – 1,563 1,563
Other derivative instruments  – 83,023 83,023
Interest payables and other liabilities  127,062 – 127,062
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies  5,449,996 – 5,449,996
Total of financial liabilities  8,579,726 84,586 8,664,312
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Interest rates taken from interest rate curves were 
 adjusted, where necessary, to take account of the 
credit quality and risk of the underlying financial 
 instrument. Derivative financial instruments are 
 measured at their fair value. The fair values of deri-
vative financial instruments are determined using 
measurement models, as a consequence of which 
there is a risk that the amounts calculated could 
 differ from realisable market prices on disposal. 
 Observable financial market prices are taken into 
 account in the measurement of derivative financial 
instruments. The valuation takes into account the 
Company’s own default risk and that of counter-
parties in the form of credit default swap (CDS) 


spreads which have appropriate terms and which 
can be observed on the market.


Financial instruments measured at fair value are 
 allocated to different levels:
1. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 


active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date


2. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, and


3. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
 asset or liability


The interest rates at 31 December 2020 were:


   


%  EUR GBP


interest rate for six months  (0.53) 0.03
interest rate for one year  (0.53) –
interest rate for five years  (0.46) 0.19
interest rate for 10 years  (0.26) 0.40


Fair value measurement of financial instruments 
The fair values shown in the financial statements and 
disclosure to the financial statements are computed 
using market information available at the balance 
sheet date using appropriate measurement methods 


like discounted cash flow models. In the latter case, 
the amounts were discounted at 31 December 2021 
on the basis of the following interest rates:


   


%  EUR GBP


interest rate for six months  (0.55) 0.47 
interest rate for one year  (0.48) 0.88 
interest rate for five years  0.02 1.29 
interest rate for 10 years  0.30 1.21 


At 31 December 2021 the financial assets and liabili-
ties measured at fair value according to IFRS 9 are 


classified as follows in the measurement levels in 
 accordance with IFRS 13:


   


 Level hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 13
in GBP thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3


Derivative instruments (assets)
Fair value hedges – 36,528 –
Other derivative instruments – 24,596 –
Derivative instruments (liabilities)   
Fair value hedges – 19,966 –
Other derivative instruments – 35,973 –
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 Level hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 13
in GBP thousand Level 1 Level 2 Level 3


The classification of financial assets and liabilities at 
fair value according to IFRS 9 to measurement levels 


in accordance with IFRS 13 at 31 December 2020 
was as follows:


Derivative instruments (assets)    
Fair value hedges – 78,974 – 
Other derivative instruments – 1,550 – 
Derivative instruments (liabilities)    
Fair value hedges – 1,563 – 
Other derivative instruments – 83,023 – 


The other derivative instruments are derivatives not 
included in a hedge relationship and are related to 
interest rate swaps and foreign currency swaps to 
hedge the portfolio of fixed rated receivables from 
BMW Group companies.


There were no reclassifications within the level 
hierarchy neither in the financial year 2021 nor in the 
financial year 2020.


Where the fair value was required for a financial 
instrument for disclosure purposes, the discounted 
cash flow method was used, taking account of the 
BMW Group’s credit risk. These fair values are allo-


cated as Level 2. The fair value of level 2 financial 
 instruments is determined using valuation techniques 
(income approach) which maximise the use of 
 observable market data and rely as little as possible 
on entity-specific estimates. 


The notional amounts and fair values of deriva-
tive financial instruments of the Company are shown 
in the following analysis. In accordance with internal 
guidelines, the notional amounts of the derivative 
 financial instruments correspond to the volume of 
exposures being covered with derivatives.


 


in euro thousand  Notional Fair value Notional Fair value 
  amount amount amount amount 
  2021 2021 2020 2020


Assets 
Foreign currency derivatives 485,947 29,603 608,437 50,527 
Interest rate derivatives 2,107,000 21,158 1,580,000 26,428 
Non-current assets 2,592,947 50,761 2,188,437 76,955 
    
Foreign currency derivatives 113,602 132 44,802 1,877 
Interest rate derivatives 2,511,000 10,231 671,000 1,691 
Current assets 2,624,602 10,363 715,802 3,568 
    
Total assets 5,217,549 61,124 2,904,239 80,524 
    
Liabilities
Foreign currency derivatives 371,999 41,625 371,419 37,912 
Interest rate derivatives 1,335,000 11,835 1,858.000 10,721 
Non-current liabilities 1,706,999 53,460 2,229,419 48,633 
    
Foreign currency derivatives – – 366,153 29,963 
Interest rate derivatives 768,000 2,479 1,554,000 5,990 
Current liabilities 768,000 2,479 1,920,153 35,953 
    
Total liabilities 2,474,999 55,939 4,149,572 84,586 


The fair values in the financial asset and liability 
 categories approximate their carrying values, except 
for the BMW Group receivables with a fixed interest 
rate, non-current debt securities and other (inter-


company) payables with a fixed interest rate. The fair 
values shown are computed using market informa-
tion available at the balance sheet date.
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‘Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ 
are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value for ‘financial 
 assets at fair value through profit or loss’ are 


 recognised in profit or loss within Result from financial 
transactions.


For interest income and expenses related to 
 financial instruments, see note 2. 


Gains and losses of financial instruments 
The following table shows the net gains and losses 


arising on financial instruments in the financial year 
2021 pursuant to IFRS 9:


in GBP thousand  2021 2020
   
Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss  (26,135) 17,159 
Financial assets measured at amortized cost  84 (388) 
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost  65,893 (31,240) 
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31 December 2021:


31 December 2020:


   
in GBP million Note Fair value Carrying value Difference


BMW Group receivables (level 2) [10] 9,267 9,239 28
Non-current debt securities [14] 1,539 1,547 (8)
whereof level 1  1,451  
whereof level 2  88  
Loans due to banks (level 2) [15] 301 287 14
Other liabilities (level 2) [17] 115 111 4
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies [16] 6,372 6,368 4


   
in GBP million Note Fair value Carrying value Difference


BMW Group receivables (level 2) [10] 10,171 10,112 59
Non-current debt securities [14] 2,402 2,373 * 29
whereof level 1  2,107  
whereof level 2  295  
Loans due to banks (level 2) [15] 302 285 17
Other liabilities (level 2) [17] 117 113 4
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies [16] 5,464 5,450 14
* Figure restated for comparison purposes.


BMW Group receivables are valued at amortised 
cost. The underlying changes to the fair value of 
these assets are therefore not recognised in the 
 balance sheet. The Company does not apply hedge 
 accounting to loans in the intercompany receivables 
with a fixed interest rate. The change of fair value of 


the BMW Group receivables are valued according to 
level 2 methodologies.


For the current debt securities the fair value 
 approximates the carrying value. The change in fair 
value of the loans due to banks and other liabilities is 
valued according to level 2 methodologies. 


The following table shows the fair values and carry-
ing amounts of financial assets and liabilities that are 
measured at cost or amortised cost and where carry-


ing amounts differ from their fair value. For some 
 balance sheet items, fair value corresponds to the 
carrying amount due to their short maturity.







33


Fair value hedges
The following table shows gains and losses on 
 hedging instruments and hedged items which are 
deemed to be part of fair value hedge relationship:


 result recognised on hedged items represents the 
ineffective portion of fair value hedges. Fair value 
hedges are mainly used to hedge interest rate risk on 
bonds. 


The profit/loss from hedged items relates to the 
 liabilities of the Company. The difference between 
the gains or losses on hedging instruments and the 
result recognised on hedge instruments and the 


in GBP thousand  2021 2020


   
Revaluation on hedging instruments (Foreign Currency Derivatives)  (29,431) 11,877
Revaluation on hedging instruments (Interest Rate Derivatives)  (35,861) 19,961
Profit/(loss) from hedged items  65,893 (31,240)
Ineffective portion of fair value hedges  601 598


   


31 December 2021 Maturity within  Maturity between  Maturity later  Total 
in GBP thousand one year one and five years than five years Nominal


Assets 
Foreign currency derivatives 110,869 271,320 214,627 596,816
Interest rate derivatives 600,000 350,000 – 950,000
Liabilities
Foreign currency derivatives – – 83,740 83,740
Interest rate derivatives – 600,000 – 600,000


Maturity structure hedging instruments
The following table illustrates a breakdown of the 


nominals of the hedging instruments according to 
their maturity structure:


   


31 December 2020 Maturity within  Maturity between  Maturity later  Total 
in GBP thousand one year one and five years than five years Nominal


Assets 
Foreign currency derivatives – 388,226 220,221 608,447
Interest rate derivatives 250,000 1,550,000 – 1,800,000
Liabilities  
Foreign currency derivatives – – 85,819 85,819
Interest rate derivatives – – – –


December 2020:
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The following table summarises key information on 
hedged items for each risk category:


The following table summarises key information on 
hedging instruments for each risk category: 


December 2020:


December 2020:


  Carrying Amounts
in GBP thousand  Assets Liabilities Change in values  
    of hedged items


  Carrying Amounts
in GBP thousand  Assets Liabilities Change in values  
    of hedged instruments


  Carrying Amounts
in GBP thousand  Assets Liabilities Change in values  
    of hedged items


  Carrying Amounts
in GBP thousand  Assets Liabilities Change in values  
    of hedged instruments


The accumulated amount of hedge-related fair value 
adjustments is GBP 19.1 million negative (2020: 


GBP 46.7 million) for liabilities related to debt securi-
ties and loans due to banks.


Foreign currency risk – 671,120 30,233
Interest rate risk – 1,537,525 35,660


Fair value hedges
Foreign currency risk 29,633 (8,687) 29,431
Interest rate risk 6,895 (11,279) 35,861


Foreign currency risk – 715,025 (11,007) *
Interest rate risk – 1,821,169 (20,233) *


* The figures have been restated for comparison purposes.


Fair value hedges
Foreign currency risk 50,528 (1,563) (10,542)
Interest rate risk 28,446 – (19,729)


Offsetting of financial instruments
The offsetting of the financial assets and liabilities for 
derivatives with internal parties of the Company is 
taken into account. Actual balance sheet netting 
does not occur due to non-fulfilment of required 
conditions. Since enforceable master netting agree-


ments or similar contracts are in place actual offset-
ting would in principle be possible, for instance in the 
case of insolvency of the counterparty. Offsetting 
would have the following impact on the balance 
sheet values of the derivatives:


in GBP thousand  2021  2020
 Assets Liabilities Assets  Liabilities
   
Gross amounts as presented in the balance sheet 61,124 (55,939) 80,523 (84,586)
Amounts subject to an enforceable master netting agreement (66,824) 66,824 (90,916) 90,619
Net amount after offsetting (5,700) 10,885 (10,393) 6,033
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[19] tivities of the Company which are mainly related to 
intergroup financing. 


The Company applies the general approach 
 described in IFRS 9 to determine impairment of 
 financial assets. Under the general approach, loss 
 allowances are measured on initial recognition on 
the basis of the expected 12-month credit loss 
(stage 1). If the credit loss risk at the end of the re-
porting period has increased significantly since initial 
recognition, the impairment allowance is measured 
on the basis of lifetime expected credit losses (stage 
2 – general approach). Further disclosures relating to 
the model used are provided in the explanatory note 
1 in the paragraph “Impairment of financial assets”. 
The measurement of the change in default risk is 
based on a comparison of the default risk at the date 
of initial recognition and at the end of the reporting 
period. The default risk at the end of each reporting 
period is determined on the basis of credit checks, 
current key economic indicators and any overdue 
payments. Loss allowances on trade receivables are 
determined primarily on the basis of information 
 relating to overdue amounts. The loss allowance on 
these assets is calculated using the input factors 
available on the market (i.e. Corporate Default 
 Studies), such as ratings and default probabilities.


The amount recognised in the balance sheet of 
the Company for financial assets is the maximum 
credit risk in the case that counterparties are unable 
to fulfil their contractual obligations. In the case of 
derivative financial instruments, the Company is also 
exposed to credit risk, which results from the 
non-performance of contractual agreement on the 
part of the counterparty. This credit risk, for Treasury 
activities is mitigated by entering into such contracts 
only with parties of first-class credit standing. Further-
more, the Company participates in a BMW Group 
wide limit system that continually assesses and limits 
the credit exposure to any single external counter-
party. 


The financial receivables from BMW Group 
companies, excluding accrued interest, are guaran-
teed by BMW AG when the aggregated losses on 
these receivables exceed euro 2 million. As a result, 
credit risk of intergroup financial receivables is sub-
stantially mitigated. 


Risk management
The exposure of the Company can be broken down 
into two main categories: financial and non-financial 
risks.


Risk Management Framework
The formal procedures and policies operated by the 
Company to cover banking, foreign exchange and 
other treasury matters are consistent with objectives 
and policies for financial risk management within the 
BMW Group. The Company’s policy is to not take 
positions in derivative financial instruments with the 
aim of profit realisation. The Company’s risk man-
agement policy strives to achieve interest rate and 
foreign currency exposure neutrality.


Overview
The Company has exposure to the following risks 
from its use of financial instruments:
−	 credit	risk
−	 liquidity	risk	and	
−	 market	risk


This note presents information about the BMW 
Groups’ exposure to each of the above risks, the 
BMW Groups’ objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the BMW Group’s 
management of capital. Further quantitative disclo-
sures are included throughout these financial state-
ments.


Financial Risks


Credit risk
Credit risk comprises concentration risk and counter-
party risk. The Company however did not recognize 
any concentration risk and is not aware of the exis-
tence of a significant concentration of credit risk. The 
Company is exposed to counterparty credit risks if an 
internal- or external counterparty is unable or only 
partially able to meet their contractual obligations. As 
a general rule, the Company assumes that a receiv-
able is in default if it is more than 90 days overdue or 
if there are objective indications of insolvency. When 
a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 
the related provision. The Company extended the 
days of overdue from 30 to 90 days given the ac-
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Furthermore, due to the debt monitoring collection 
system implemented by the Company no credit 
 defaults were encountered. Hence all the Company’s 
receivables at 31 December 2021 are recoverable at 
their recognised amount.


The impact of the BREXIT is assessed to be 
 limited for the Company, due to the guarantee by 
BMW AG when the aggregated losses on these 
 financial receivables exceed euro 2 million, excluding 
any accrued interest of these transactions. During 
2021 the Company has had neither write-downs nor 
reversals of write-downs. The Company has no loans 
and receivables which are overdue. There were no 
past dues amongst loans and receivables and there 
were no collaterals received. 


Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company cannot 
meet its financial liabilities when they come due, at 


reasonable costs and in a timely manner. As a result, 
the Company’s borrowing capacity may be influ-
enced, and its financing costs may fluctuate. The 
cash and short-term lending mitigate the liquidity 
risk for the Company. Concentration of liquidity risk 
therefore doesn’t exist, as the Company is using 
 different types of debt instruments with different 
 maturity structures. It should be noted that in 2021 
the Company has a negative current ratio. The nega-
tive current ratio does not impact the liquidity risk, as 
on the one hand the Company can fall back on the 
Commercial Paper programme and on the other 
hand the Company can rely on BMW Finance N.V. or 
BMW AG to pay off its current liabilities. Further, it 
is planned that the Company will issue an EMTN 
in 2022, which will improve the liquidity of the 
 Company. 


The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting 
date was:


   


in GBP thousand  31.12.2021 31.12.2020


Loans and Receivables
Receivables from BMW Group companies  9,239,007 10,112,125
Interest receivables and other receivables  – –
Cash and cash equivalents  – –
Derivative assets  61,124 80,523
Gross exposure  9,300,131 10,192,648
  
Guaranteed by BMW AG  9,215,593 9,533,290
   
Residual maximum exposure  84,538 659,358 


The following table shows the maturity structure of 
expected contractual cash flows (undiscounted) for 
financial liabilities:


   


31 December 2021 Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total Carrying 
in GBP thousand one year one and five years than five years  amount


Debt securities 826,924 1,259,128 305,463 2,391,515 2,310,038
Liabilities to 
BMW Group companies 6,376,418 – – 6,376,418 6,367,528
Derivative instruments – outflow 382,092 95,814 25,721 503,627 55,939
Derivative instruments – inflow 341,607 89,183 19,827 450,617 –
Loans due to banks  
and other liabilities 119,431 303,745 – 423,176 398,958
Interest payables 15,083 – – 15,083 15,083
Total 7,378,341 1,569,504 311,357 9,259,202 9,147,546
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Market risk
The Company is exposed to market risk, which com-
prises interest rate risk and currency risk.


Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value 
in financial assets, liabilities or derivatives in response 
to fluctuations in interest rates. The Company holds 
a substantial volume of interest rate sensitive finan-
cial assets, liabilities and derivatives for operational, 
financial and investment activities. Changes in inter-
est rates can have adverse effects on the financial 
position and operating result of the Company. In 
 order to mitigate the impact of interest rate risk the 
Company aims in general to change fixed to floating 
interest rates. Furthermore, the Company continually 
assesses its exposure to this risk by using gap 
 analysis, value at risk analysis, and duration analysis. 
Interest rate risk is managed through natural hedges 
and hedged through the use of derivative financial 
instruments, such as interest rate swaps. To manage 
the maturity gaps appropriate interest rate deriva-
tives are used. The interest rate contracts used for 
hedging purposes comprise mainly swaps, which, if 
hedge accounting is applied, are accounted as fair 
value hedges. The economic relationship between 
the hedged item and the hedging instrument is 
based on the fact that the main parameters of the 
hedged item and the related hedging instrument, 
such as start date, term and currency, are the same.


The Company applies a value at risk-approach 
for internal reporting purposes and to control the 
 frequency, extent, and size of possible losses in such 
a way as to provide the minimum surprise. The 
 approach to value at risk is based on a modern 
 historical simulation, in which the potential future fair 


value losses of the interest rate portfolios are com-
pared across the BMW Group with probable amounts 
measured on the basis of a holding period of 250 
days and a confidence level of 99.98%. Due to the 
aggregation of these results, a risk reduction effect 
due to correlations between the various portfolios is 
accomplished. 


The Company implemented the Financial Strat-
egy of the BMW Group. The objective of interest rate 
risk neutrality is accomplished when interest rate 
gaps are managed in a manner that the economic 
value of the portfolio of financial instruments is im-
munised to a considerable degree against changes 
in interest rates. The Company monitors its interest 
rate risk exposure continuously and prepares a 
monthly report submitted to the BMW Group treasury 
department. A primary risk measure when judging 
the interest rate exposure of the Company is the 
present value of a basis point of the portfolio. This 
concept indicates the impact on profit and loss, rep-
resenting the sum of discounted cash flows of the 
financial instruments, by assuming a parallel shift of 
the interest rate curve of one basis point. Looking at 
this primary risk measure, the interest rate risk shift of 
one basis point on 31 December 2021 was GBP 
40.991 positive (2020: GBP 47.580 negative).


Currency risk 
Currency risk or exchange rate risk refers to potential 
changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or 
 derivatives in response to fluctuations in exchange 
rates. Changes in exchange rates can have adverse 
effects on the financial position and operating result 
of the Company. In order to mitigate the impact of 
currency risk arising from operational, financial and 


   


31 December 2020 Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total Carrying 
in GBP thousand one year one and five years than five years  amount


Debt securities 374,133 2,088,986 317,767 2,780,886 2,718,109 
Liabilities to 
BMW Group companies 3,650,324 1,255,554 – 4,905,878 5,449,996 
Derivative instruments – outflow 415,494 345,441 96,367 857,302 84,586 
Derivative instruments – inflow 376,809 312,493 94,187 783,489 – 
Loans due to banks  
and other liabilities 8,155 414,594 – 422,749 397,553 
Interest payables 14,068 – – 14,068 14,068 
Total 4,085,365 3,792,082 319,947 8,197,394 8,664,312 


The maturity analysis is based on undiscounted cash 
flows. All interest payables mature within one year.
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in thousand Non derivative Non derivative Derivative financial Net  
(all local currency) financial assets financial liabilities instruments exposure
   
CHF – 600,000 600,000 – 
NOK – 1,000,000 1,000,000 – 
USD – 540,000 540,000 – 
Total – 2,140,000 2,140,000 – 


Non-Financial Risks


Operating and Compliance risks
Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks. 
Risks mainly result from the use of IT systems and 
information technology. The Company uses systems 
to monitor financial positions and daily cash flows 
and to process payments to internal and external 
counterparties. System failures can, therefore, lead 
to delays in payment processes. Further operating 
risks can arise in connection with the settlement of 
financial transactions. The management of daily cash 
flows at the Company depends on the timely receipt 
of funds from external institutions who act as coun-
terparties to financial transactions, such as bonds, 
swaps or other derivative financial instruments. To 
avoid negative impacts of system failures, all key 
 systems are set up in parallel and/or backup facilities 
or available within the BMW Group. Likewise, the 
 security of all IT systems is continuously and 
 thoroughly checked, to ensure a high level of in-
formation safety is maintained at all times.


Business Continuity Management (BCM) aims 
to minimise the effects of emergencies and crises, 
and to (initially) ensure the survival of the Company at 
the level of an emergency operation, thus safeguard-
ing stakeholders’ interest and the organisation’s 
 reputation and value-creating activities. BCM fo-
cusses on:
−	 analysing	 threats	 and	 the	 business	 impact	 of	


emergencies and crises 
−	 determining	 the	 strategies	 and	 solutions	 to	 be	


 applied in the event of a crisis, such as business 
recovery, crisis management and IT disaster 
 recovery planning, so as to enable continuity of 
business operations 


−	 documenting	 and	 periodically	 assessing	 these	
strategies and solutions 


Business continuity mitigation controls, such as 
business continuity plans, crisis management, busi-
ness relocation plans, and IT disaster recovery plans 
are in place to prepare and deal with incidents and 
crises threatening the continuity of critical business 
processes.


Impact of the coronavirus
The rapid spread of the coronavirus and the actions 
being taken on a global basis for its containment 
have severely impacted the financial markets 
 worldwide. This has manifested through significant 
changes in interest rates, equity markets, and the 
widening of credit spreads. The Company has 
 continuously monitored the market and economic 
turbulences that have arisen as a consequence of 
the virus, as well as any possible impact on the 
 Company’s business development. The most 
 significant risks as a consequence of the pandemic 
which were identified, are related to credit and 
 interest rate changes. To ensure that these risks 
were continuously and successfully managed, the 
Company utilized its comprehensive risk manage-
ment system.


Given the objectives of the Company, the 
 Company is economically interrelated with the 
 ultimate holding company, BMW AG, Germany. In 
assessing the solvency and general risk profile of the 
Company, the solvency of the BMW Group as a 
whole, headed by BMW AG, needs to be  considered. 
All risks of the Coronavirus on the BMW Group’s 
 financials have been addressed in their 2021 annual 
financial statements. 


For the Company itself, the effects of the 
 Coronavirus have been limited and no increased 
 financial risks were identified in 2021. Therefore, the 
going concern status of the Company has been 
safeguarded.


investment activities, the Company continually as-
sesses its exposure to this risk. Currency risk is 
 managed and hedged through the use of derivative 
instruments, such as forward contracts and cross 
currency swaps. The economic relationship between 


the hedged item and the hedging instrument is 
based essentially on the fact that they are denomi-
nated in the same currency, same amount and have 
the same maturities. The Company does not have 
any currency risk per 31 December 2021.
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Related parties


Identification of related parties
A comprehensive exchange of internal services be-
tween affiliates of a multinational corporation as the 
BMW Group is common practice. In its responsibility 
to assist the financing of business activities conducted 
by companies of the BMW Group and its affiliates, 
BMW International Investment B.V. applies transfer 
prices for financial instruments in conformity with 
market levels and in accordance with national and 
international tax requirements (arm’s length principle, 
principle of economic allegiance, separate entity 
 approach, Art 9 OECD-MA Rz 126).


Key management personnel
The Company has three directors. All directors are 
paid by a BMW Group company outside the scope of 
the Company.


The Company does not have other key manage-
ment personnel other than the board of directors. 


Intercompany pricing
In principle, the transfer prices for financial instruments 
are determined on the basis of three components: 
the price for BMW Credit Default Swaps, the three 
months Commercial Paper Spread and a transfer 
pricing margin. The price for BMW Credit Default 
Swaps is applied for maturities >6 months, taken 
from Bloomberg. For uneven maturities and matur-
ities between Overnight and six months the method 
of linear inter-/-extrapolation based on the available 
BMW Credit Default Swaps is used to calculate the 
appropriate credit risk with regard to market prices. 
To enhance efficiency and ensure consistency 
throughout the BMW Group, a transfer pricing sheet 
is provided monthly by the Middle Office department 
of the BMW Group, which is daily filled with actual 
data to calculate the credit and term spread for  
every transaction. Finally, a transfer pricing margin is 


 applied to account for the running costs of the 
 Company.


Ultimate parent company
The interest rate result was positively affected by a 
liquidity fee of BMW AG of GBP 9.2 million (2020: 
positively affected by GBP 2.8 million) related to the 
business model of the Company. In addition, a 
 guarantee fee was paid of GBP 5.2 million (2020: 
GBP 5.5 million), as the latter unconditionally and 
 irrevocably guarantees the Company’s issuances on 
the capital markets. The outstanding balances of the 
Company with its ultimate parent company are 
 disclosed in detail in note 10 ‘Receivables from 
BMW Group companies’ and note 16 ‘Liabilities due 
to BMW Group companies’.


Since July 2017 the Company has signed a 
 factoring agreement with BMW AG for buying trade 
receivables. In 2021, the Company stopped with the 
purchase of these trade receivables. The related 
 factoring commission income is amounting to GBP 
2.3 million (2020: GBP 2.8 million).


Transactions with affiliated companies
Since the nature of the Company is to act as a 
 finance company within the larger BMW AG Group, 
the majority of transactions are with related parties. 
These transactions are agreed in contracts between 
the parties involved and are proved from a statutory 
and tax perspective. All significant transactions are 
disclosed in these accounts. For details reference is 
made to the notes 10 “Receivables from BMW Group 
companies” and note 16 “Liabilities due to 
BMW Group companies”. The Company entered 
 into derivative agreements with Group companies 
as included in the balance of GBP 61.1 million 
 Derivatives assets (2020: GBP 80.5 million derivative 
assets) and of GBP 55.9 million derivative liabilities 
(2020: GBP 84.6 million derivative liabilities).


[20]
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The Hague, 21 April 2022


The Board of Directors:
W. Knopp G. Ramcharan  P. Picker
Managing Director Financial Director Director


The Supervisory Board:


F. Altmann C. Philipp A. Brons J. Messerschmidt-Otten
Chairman


Subsequent events
The war in Urkaine and the sanctions for Russia 
therewith, had no impact on the financial statements 
2021. So, no subsequent events occurred after the 
balance sheet date 31 December 2021.
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Other information


Independent auditor’s report
The independent auditor’s report is added to 
page 44.


Statutory rules as to appropriation of result
According to article 9 of the articles of association, 
undistributed income is at the disposition of the 
General Meeting of Shareholders.
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Responsibility statement


To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance 
with the applicable reporting principles of Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Netherlands Civil Code, the Annual Report gives a 
true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
 position and profit or loss of the Company, and the 


Company’s Annual Management Report includes a 
fair review of the development and performance of 
the business and the position of the Company, 
 together with a description of the principal oppor-
tunities and risks associated with the expected 
 development of the Company. 


BMW International Investment B.V.


The Hague, 21 April 2022


W. Knopp G. Ramcharan  P. Picker
Managing Director Financial Director Director
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BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.


−	 Pursuant	 to	 the	 Articles	 of	 Association	 we	 are	
pleased to submit the Annual Report for the year 
2021 as drawn up by the Board of Directors.


−	 The	 Annual	 Report,	 which	 both	 the	 Supervisory	
Board and the Board of Directors have signed 


has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.


−	 The	independent	auditor’s	report	is	included	in	the	
other information section of the Annual Report.


The Hague, 21 April 2022


F. Altmann C. Philipp A. Brons J. Messerschmidt-Otten
Chairman


BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Declaration by the Supervisory Board
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44 BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.BMW INTERNATIONAL INVESTMENT B.V.
Independent auditor’s report


To: the general meeting and the supervisory board of 
BMW International Investment B.V.  


Report on the financial statements 2021
 
Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of BMW 
 International Investment B.V. (‘the Company’) give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the 
 Company as at 31 December 2021, and of its result 
and its cash flows for the year then ended in ac-
cordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union 
(‘EU-IFRS’) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code.


What we have audited
We have audited the accompanying financial state-
ments 2021 of BMW International Investment B.V., 
The Hague.


The financial statements comprise:
– the balance sheet as at 31 December 2021;
– the following statements for 2021: the income 


statement, the statements of comprehensive in-
come, changes in equity and cash flows; and


– the notes, comprising a summary of the signifi-
cant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information.


The financial reporting framework applied in the 
preparation of the financial statements is EU-IFRS 
and the relevant provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code.
 
The basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch 
law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. We 
have further described our responsibilities under 
those standards in the section ‘Our responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements’ of our report.


We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.


Independence
We are independent of BMW International Invest-
ment B.V. in accordance with the European Union 
Regulation on specific requirements regarding statu-
tory audit of public-interest entities, the ‘Wet toezicht 
accountantsorganisaties’ (Wta, Audit firms supervi-
sion act), the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijk-
heid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO, 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regu-


lation with respect to independence) and other rele-
vant independence regulations in the Netherlands. 
Furthermore, we have complied with the ‘Verorden-
ing gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants’ (VGBA, 
Dutch Code of Ethics).


Our audit approach
We designed our audit procedures with respect to 
the key audit matters, fraud and going concern, and 
the matters resulting from that, in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole and in 
forming our opinion thereon. The information in sup-
port of our opinion, like our findings and observations 
related to individual key audit matters, the audit 
 approach fraud risk and the audit approach going 
concern was addressed in this context, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on 
these matters.


Overview and context
The Company’s main activity is the financing of 
group companies, through bond offerings on the 
 international capital markets. The repayment of the 
bonds to the investors is guaranteed by BMW AG as 
disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements. The 
Company has derivative financial instruments in 
place to mitigate interest rate risk and currency risk. 
We paid specific attention to the areas of focus 
 driven by the operations of the Company, as set out 
below.


As part of designing our audit, we determined 
materiality and assessed the risks of material mis-
statement in the financial statements. In particular, 
we considered where the board of directors made 
important judgements, for example, in respect of 
 significant accounting estimates that involved making 
assumptions and considering future events that are 
inherently uncertain. In these considerations, we paid 
attention to, amongst others, the assumptions 
 underlying the physical and transition risk related to 
climate change. In the section ‘Use of estimates and 
judgements’ of the financial statements, the Com-
pany describes the areas of judgement in applying 
accounting policies and the key sources of esti-
mation uncertainty. Given the significant estimation 
uncertainty and the related higher inherent risks of 
material misstatement in the measurement of 
 expected credit losses and derivative valuation, we 
considered these matters as key audit matters as set 
out in the section ‘Key audit matters’ of this report. 
Furthermore, we identified the existence of the loans 
issued and hedge accounting as key audit matter 
because of the importance of existence for users of 
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the financial statements and the detailed require-
ments for hedge accounting.


Other areas of focus, that were not considered 
as key audit matters, are areas such as the impact of 
COVID-19, IBOR reform and taxation.


BMW International Investment B.V. assessed 
the possible effects of climate change on its financial 
position. We discussed their assessment and gover-
nance thereof with the board of directors and evalu-
ated the potential impact on the Company including 
underlying assumptions and estimates as included 
in the financial statements. Given the nature of the 
Company’s activities, the impact of climate change is 
not considered a key audit matter.


We ensured that the audit team included the ap-
propriate skills and competences, which are needed 
for the audit of a finance company. We therefore 
 included specialists in the areas of valuation and 
 accounting in our team.


Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by the appli-
cation of materiality, which is further explained in the 
section ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the finan-
cial statements’.


Based on our professional judgement we deter-
mined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 
including the overall materiality for the financial state-
ments as a whole as set out below. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to deter-
mine the nature, timing and extent of our audit proce-
dures on the individual financial statement line items 
and disclosures and to evaluate the effect of identi-
fied misstatements, both individually and in aggre-
gate, on the financial statements as a whole and on 
our opinion.


Based on our professional judgement, we deter-
mined the materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole at £93,000,000 (2020: £101,000,000). As a 
basis for our judgement, we used 1% of total assets. 
We used total assets as the primary benchmark, a 
generally accepted auditing practice, based on our 
analysis of the common information needs of the 
stakeholders. Inherent to the nature of the Com-
pany’s business, the amounts in the balance sheet 


are large in proportion to the income statement line 
items miscellaneous income & expenses and taxes. 
Based on qualitative considerations we performed 
audit procedures on those income statement line 
items, applying a benchmark of 10% of the total of 
those expenses.


We also take misstatements and/or possible 
misstatements into account that, in our judgement, 
are material for qualitative reasons.


We agreed with the supervisory board that we 
would report to them any misstatement identified dur-
ing our audit above £4,650,000 (2020: £5,050,000) 
as well as misstatements below that amount that, in 
our view, warranted reporting for qualitative reasons.


Audit approach fraud risks
We identified and assessed the risks of material mis-
statements of the financial statements due to fraud. 
During our audit we obtained an understanding of 
the entity and its environment and the components 
of the system of internal controls, including the risk 
assessment process and the board of directors’ 
 process for responding to the risks of fraud and 
 monitoring the system of internal controls, as well as 
the outcomes. We refer to section ‘The Company’s 
activities and risk management’ of the annual 
 management report.


We inquired with the board of directors regard-
ing their fraud risk assessment, evaluated the design 
and relevant aspects of the system of internal con-
trols as well as among others the code of conduct 
and whistle blower procedures. We evaluated the 
design and the implementation and, where consid-
ered appropriate, tested the operating effectiveness, 
of internal controls designed to mitigate fraud risks, 
i.e. authorisation of payments.


As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, 
we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to finan-
cial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and 
bribery and corruption. We evaluated whether these 
factors indicate that a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud is present. We identified the following 
fraud risk and performed the following specific pro-
cedures:
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Identified fraud risk Audit work and observations


The risk of management override of 
control
In all of our audits, we need to per-
form procedures over the risk of 
manage ment override of control. 
This includes the evaluation of a 
 potential misstatement due to fraud 
based on the potential interest of the 
board of directors, including proces-
ses for gener ating and processing 
journal entries and making of esti-
mates (including potential manage-
ment bias) and significant trans-
actions outside normal business 
operations.


We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our 
audit. We also considered the outcome of our audit 
procedures and evaluated whether any findings were 
indicative of fraud or non-compliance.


We considered available information and made 
enquiries of relevant senior members of staff and 
board of directors.


Audit approach Going Concern
As disclosed in the section ‘Basis of measurement’ 
of the financial statement the board of directors 
 performed their assessment of the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for the foreseeable 
 future and have not identified events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern (hereafter: going 
concern risks). Our procedures to evaluate the board 
of directors going concern assessment include, 
amongst others:
– Considering whether the board of directors’ 


 going concern assessment includes all relevant 
information of which we are aware as a result of 
our audit, inquire with the board of directors 
 regarding the board of directors’ most important 
assumptions underlying their going concern 
 assessment.


– Analysing the financial position per balance sheet 
date in relation to the financial position per prior 
year balance sheet date to assess whether events 
or circumstances exist that may lead to a going 
concern risk.


To the extent relevant to our audit, we have reviewed the design and 
effectiveness of the internal control measures, i.e. authorisation of 
payments, that are intended to mitigate the risk of management 
override of control and tested the design and implementation of the 
controls in the processes for generating and processing journal 
 entries and making of estimates. 


We have selected journal entries based on risk criteria and 
 performed specific audit procedures on these, also paying attention 
to significant transactions outside normal business operations. 
We also performed specific audit procedures on management 
 estimates, with specific attention to the valuation of loans issued to 
group companies. We refer to the section ‘Key audit matters’ for the 
performed audit procedures.


Our work did not reveal any material misstatements in the infor-
mation provided by the board of directors in the financial statements.


Our work did not lead to specific indications of fraud or suspi-
cions of fraud regarding the risk of management override of control 
by the board of  directors.


– We evaluated the financial position of the coun-
terparties of loans to group companies and their 
ability to repay the notional and interest to the 
Company, by assessing observable data from 
 rating agencies, developments in credit spreads, 
current financial data (such as recent financial 
 information and cash flows) and other publicly 
available data and by discussing and obtaining 
 information from the group auditor.


– Performing inquiries of the board of directors as to 
their knowledge of going concern risks beyond 
the period of the board of directors’ assessment.


Our procedures did not result in outcomes contrary 
to the board of directors’ assumptions and judg-
ments used in the application of the going concern 
assumption.


Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgement, were of most significance in 
the audit of the financial statements. We have com-
municated the key audit matters to the supervisory 
board. The key audit matters are not a comprehen-
sive reflection of all matters identified by our audit 
and that we discussed. In this section, we described 
the key audit matters and included a summary of the 
audit procedures we performed on those matters.


Due to the nature of the Company, key audit 
matters do not change significantly year over year. As 
compared to last year there have been no changes in 
key audit matters.
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Measurement of expected credit losses
Note 10
We considered the valuation of the loans to group 
companies, as disclosed in note 10 to the financial 
statements for a total amount of £9,239,007,000, to 
be a key audit matter. This is due to the size of the 
loan portfolio and relevant impairment rules.


The board of directors has determined that all 
loans to group companies are categorised as stage 1 
loans, hence only a 12-month expected credit loss 
(‘ECL’) has been recognised. As stated in the annual 
management report, the board of directors of the 
Company has assessed that the impact of COVID-19 
has been limited on the Company, due to the sector 
in which the Company operates. As disclosed in note 
10 to the financial statements, the Company has not 
granted, nor has been requested to grant any pay-
ment holidays on their loans to group companies.


The impairment rules in IFRS 9 are complex and 
require judgement to calculate the ECL. Amongst 
other things, this applies to choices and judgements 
made in the impairment methodology, including the 
determination of the point in time probability of 
 default (‘PD’), the loss given default (‘LGD’) and the 
exposure at default (‘EAD’). These calculations also 
take into account forward-looking information of 
macro-economic factors considering multiple sce-
narios. The board of directors monitors the need for 
changes in the methods, significant assumptions or 
the data used in making the accounting estimate by 
monitoring key performance indicators that may 
 indicate unexpected or inconsistent performance. 
Mainly with respect to the PD and LGD used in the 
determination of the expected credit losses, the 
board of directors has applied significant judgement 
given the low default character of the entity’s loan 
portfolio. As a result, there is limited internal historical 
data to support and back-test the PD and LGD.


In the absence of internal historical losses and 
default information, the board of directors used data 
from external data source providers in determining 
the ECL.


The Company has received a guarantee on the 
loans granted to BMW AG group companies. This 
has been considered as part of the calculation of the 
expected credit loss.


We performed the following procedures to test the 
board of directors’ assessment of the expected credit 
loss to support the valuation of the loans to BMW AG 
group companies:
– With respect to the ECL calculation, we deter-


mined that the loans qualify as stage 1 loans by 
assessing the actual performance of the loans (i.e. 
no significant deterioration of credit risk).


– We evaluated the financial position of the counter-
parties of loans to group companies and guarantor 
by assessing observable data from rating agen-
cies, developments in credit spreads, the latest 
available financial information and other publicly 
available data in order to assess if there are no 
 adverse conditions present suggesting to classify 
the loans as stage 2 or stage 3 loans. We have 
 assessed the board of directors’ position on the 
impact of COVID-19 on the financial position of 
the counterparties of the loans to group compa-
nies as part of our procedures.


– For the expected credit loss, we assessed that the 
impairment methodology and model applied by 
the entity were in accordance with the require-
ments of IFRS 9. We assessed that the forward- 
looking information used by the client as part of 
the impairment methodology was appropriate 
considering the characteristics of the loan portfolio 
of BMW International Investment B.V. We have 
 assessed the board of directors’ position on the 
impact of COVID-19 on the forward-looking infor-
mation as part of our procedures.


– We assessed for a sample of financial instruments 
that the PD and LGD and the assumptions, ap-
plied by the board of directors, are appropriate and 
were based upon data from external data source 
providers including indicators for potential man-
agement bias. We have recalculated the impair-
ment recorded in the financial statements.


We found the board of directors’ assessment to be 
sufficiently rigorous. Our procedures as set out above 
did not indicate material differences.


Key audit matter How our audit addressed the matter
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Derivative valuation
Note 18
We considered the fair value of the derivatives 
 portfolio of £61,124,000 (derivative assets) and 
£55,939,000 (derivative liabilities) as disclosed in 
note 18 to the financial statements and used in the 
Company’s hedge effectiveness testing to be a key 
audit matter. This is due to the nature of the portfolio 
that includes longer-dated interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency interest rate swaps. The board of 
 directors monitors the need for changes in the 
 methods, significant assumptions or the data used in 
making the accounting estimate by monitoring key 
performance indicators that may indicate unexpect-
ed or inconsistent performance. The market for these 
swaps is not always fully liquid, and therefore valua-
tion is a complex area.


We performed the following procedures to support 
the valuation of derivatives:
– We tested the valuation of derivatives as well as 


the valuation of hedged items in hedge account-
ing relationships (when relevant) by testing the 
 input of contracts in the Company’s valuation 
 system on a sample basis.


– We reconciled the interest rate curves and other 
market data with independent sources.


– We also tested the mathematical accuracy of the 
models used and reconciled the outcome of the 
valuation system with the general ledger.


We found the board of directors’ assumptions used in 
the valuation of derivatives to be reasonable and 
 appropriate compared to market data and the chosen 
models to be in line with market practice. Based on 
the procedures as set out above we found no material 
differences.


Hedge accounting
Note 18
We considered the application of hedge accounting 
to be a key audit matter. Refer to note 18 to the 
 financial statements. This is because of the detailed 
formal and technical requirements that are relevant to 
the application of hedge accounting and because 
inappropriate application of these requirements can 
lead to a material effect on the financial statements.


   
 


We performed the following procedures to support 
the appropriateness of the application of hedge ac-
counting:
– We tested on a sample basis whether the hedge 


documentation and hedge effectiveness testing 
as prepared by the board of directors met the 
 requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and 
whether the hedge effectiveness test was mathe-
matically correct.


– We reconciled the outcome of the effectiveness 
testing for the derivative portfolio as a whole to the 
financial statements.


Based on the procedures as set out above we found 
the application of hedge accounting to be appropri-
ate.
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Existence of the loans to group companies
Note 10
We considered the existence of the loans to group 
companies, as disclosed in note 10 to the financial 
statements for a total amount of £9,239,007,000, to 
be a key audit matter. Significant auditor’s attention 
is necessary because of the size of the loan portfolio 
and the importance of existence for users of the 
 financial statements.
 


We performed the following procedures to support 
the existence of the loans to BMW AG group compa-
nies:
– We confirmed the existence of the loans with the 


counterparties on a sample basis.
– We tested the input of contracts in the Company’s 


treasury management system.
– We performed a substantive analytical procedure 


on the relationship between the interest expenses 
versus interest income, taken into consideration 
the applicable spread.


– We compared interest receipts with bank state-
ments.


Based on the procedures as set out above, we found 
no material differences.
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Report on the other information included in the 
annual report


 
The annual report contains other information. This 
includes all information in the annual report in 
 addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.


Based on the procedures performed as set out 
below, we conclude that the other information:
– is consistent with the financial statements and 


does not contain material misstatements;
– contains all the information regarding the annual 


management report and the other information 
that is required by Part 9 of Book 2of the Dutch 
Civil Code.


We have read the other information. Based on our 
knowledge and the understanding obtained in our 
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we 
have considered whether the other information 
 contains material misstatements.


By performing our procedures, we comply with 
the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope 
of such procedures was substantially less than the 
scope of those procedures performed in our audit of 
the financial statements.


The board of directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information, including the 
annual management report and the other informa-
tion in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code.


Report on other legal and regulatory require-
ments and ESEF


 
Our appointment
We were appointed as auditors of BMW International 
Investment B.V. on 6 April 2020 by the supervisory 
board. This followed the passing of a resolution by 
the shareholders at the annual general meeting held 
on 6 April 2020. Our appointment has been renewed 
annually by shareholders and now represents a total 
period of uninterrupted engagement of 2 years.


European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)
BMW International Investment B.V. has prepared the 
annual report, including the financial statements, in 
ESEF. The requirements for this format are set out 
in the Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 
2019/815 with regard to regulatory technical stan-
dards on the specification of a single electronic 
 reporting format (these requirements are hereinafter 
referred to as: the RTS on ESEF).


In our opinion, the annual report prepared in 
XHTML format, including the financial statements of 
BMW International Investment B.V., complies, in all 
material respects, with the RTS on ESEF.


The board of directors is responsible for prepar-
ing the annual report, including the financial state-
ments, in accordance with the RTS on ESEF. Our 
responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance for 
our opinion on whether the annual report complies 
with the RTS on ESEF.


Our procedures, taking into account Alert 43 of 
the NBA (Royal Netherlands Institute of Chartered 
Accountants), included amongst others:
– Obtaining an understanding of the entity’s finan-


cial reporting process, including the preparation of 
the annual report in XHTML format.


– Examining whether the annual report in XHTML 
format is in accordance with the RTS on ESEF.


No prohibited non-audit services
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not 
provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to 
in article 5(1) of the European Regulation on specific 
requirements regarding statutory audit of public- 
interest entities.


Services rendered
The services, in addition to the audit, that we have 
provided to the Company, for the period to which our 
statutory audit relates, are disclosed in note 7 to the 
financial statements.


Responsibilities for the financial statements 
and the audit


 
Responsibilities of the board of directors and the 
supervisory board for the financial statements
The board of directors is responsible for:
– the preparation and fair presentation of the finan-


cial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and 
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; and for


– such internal control as the board of directors de-
termines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


As part of the preparation of the financial statements, 
the board of directors is responsible for assessing 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going-con-
cern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks 
mentioned, the board of directors should prepare the 
financial statements using the going-concern basis 
of accounting unless the board of directors either 
 intends to liquidate the Company or to cease opera-
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tions or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The 
board of directors should disclose in the financial 
statements any event and circumstances that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.


The supervisory board is responsible for over-
seeing the Company’s financial reporting process.


Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements
Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit 
 engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
 sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a 
basis for our opinion. Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material mis-
statement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reason-


able assurance is a high but not absolute level of 
 assurance, which makes it possible that we may not 
detect all material misstatements. Misstatements 
may arise due to fraud or error. They are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial 
statements.


Materiality affects the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the 
 effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.


A more detailed description of our responsibili-
ties is set out in the appendix to our report.


Rotterdam, 21 April 2022


PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.
R. van der Spek RA
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the financial 
statements 2021 of BMW International Invest-
ment B.V.


 
In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report, 
we have further set out in this appendix our responsi-
bilities for the audit of the financial statements and 
explained what an audit involves.


The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
 financial statements
We have exercised professional judgement and have 
maintained professional scepticism throughout the 
audit in accordance with Dutch Standards on Audit-
ing, ethical requirements and independence require-
ments. Our audit consisted, among other things of 
the following:
– Identifying and assessing the risks of material 


misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, designing and performing 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and 
 appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
 resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
intentional override of internal control.


– Obtaining an understanding of internal control 
 relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal 
control.


– Evaluating the appropriateness of accounting pol-
icies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the 
board of directors.


– Concluding on the appropriateness of the board 
of directors’ use of the going-concern basis of ac-
counting, and based on the audit evidence ob-
tained, concluding whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events and/or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
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continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report and 
are made in the context of our opinion on the 
 financial statements as a whole. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.


– Evaluating the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and evaluating whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presen-
tation.


We communicate with the supervisory board regard-
ing, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, in-
cluding any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. In this respect, we 
also issue an additional report to the audit committee 
in accordance with article 11 of the EU Regulation 
on specific requirements regarding statutory audit of 
public-interest entities. The information included in 
this additional report is consistent with our audit 
opinion in this auditor’s report.


We provide the supervisory board with a state-
ment that we have complied with relevant ethical 
 requirements regarding independence, and to com-
municate with them all relationships and other mat-
ters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related  actions 
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards  applied.


From the matters communicated with the super-
visory board, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial state-
ments of the current period and are therefore the key 
audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
 auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
 extremely rare circumstances, not communicating 
the matter is in the public interest.
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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen, 


In 1983, BMW Finance N.V. (hereafter also referred to as the “Company”) was founded as a wholly owned 
subsidiary of BMW Holding B.V., who in turn is a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW Intec Beteiligungs GmbH, a 
wholly owned subsidiary of BMW AG, and incorporated in the Netherlands. The main purpose of the Company 
was and is to assist in the financing of business activities conducted by companies of the BMW Group and its 
affiliates as well as to provide financial services in connection therewith.


During the year under report, the Company has successfully managed many challenges and embraced impor-
tant growth opportunities. The Board of Director’s gives an overview of these developments in the paragraphs 
below. 


The Company’s activities and risk management
The core business of the Company comprises primarily financing BMW Group companies priced in accor-
dance with the “at arm’s length” principle. Consequently, the main activities are providing long-term liquidity, 
and intercompany funding for BMW Group companies. Based on its activities, the Company has identified the 
most important risks associated with its activities. The main categories of risk are credit and counterparty 
 default risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and operational risk. Group policies, guidelines, con-
trol systems, and threshold structures are essential to making the Company’s risk appetite an intrinsic part of 
the business, as they help minimize all the risks and control them at an acceptable level. 


Firstly, protection against such risks is provided by so-called natural hedges, that arise when the values of 
 non-derivative financial assets and liabilities have matching maturities, amounts (netting), and other properties. 
Derivative financial instruments are used to reduce the risk remaining after considering the effects of natural 
hedges. With regard to interest rate risk, the Company successfully implemented the financial strategy of the 
BMW Group, which is explained in more detail in note 20.


Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks such as the risk of fraud and compliance risk. Risk of fraud 
is mainly identified in the area of misappropriation of assets. The Company has aligned its internal control and 
risk management system on misappropriation of assets and financial reporting with the BMW Group policy. 
Risk management is based on the COSO model, where the relevant processes include the early identification 
of risks and opportunities, their measurement and the use of suitable instruments to manage and monitor 
risks. The Company has established an encompassing reporting system that provides decision makers with 
comprehensive, up-to-date information and insights into developments regarding the capital markets. 


The Company has locally implemented the BMW Group’s Company-wide Compliance Management System 
(‘CMS’). CMS is based on the Prevent, Detect, Respond Model, which defines specific prevention, monitor-
ing, control and response measures, on the basis of clearly assigned roles and responsibilities. The CMS is 
tailored to the Company’s specific risk situation. It addresses all relevant compliance topics, including fraud 
prevention. An effective and efficient compliance organisation is fundamental to reducing sanction and liabil-
ity risks, as well as risks arising from other (non)financial disadvantages, such as reputational risks.


By regularly sharing experiences with other counterparties, we ensure that innovative ideas and approaches are 
included in the risk management system and that risk management is subjected to continuous improvement. 
The employees of the Company follow regular trainings as well as information events, which are invaluable 
ways to be prepared for new or additional requirements. The overall risk management process within the 
BMW Group is, although managed centrally, applied locally and reviewed for appropriateness and effective-
ness by the BMW Group’s internal audit department, which is acting upon this as an independent authority. 
Please refer to the BMW Group’s financial statements for more detailed information.


BMW Finance N.V.
Annual Management Report
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Given the objectives of the Company, the Company is economically interrelated with the ultimate holding 
company, BMW AG, Germany. In assessing the solvency of the Company, the solvency of the BMW Group as 
a whole, headed by BMW AG, needs to be considered. Solvency is assured by managing and monitoring the 
liquidity situation based on a rolling cash flow forecast. The resulting funding requirements are secured by a 
variety of instruments placed on the world’s financial markets. The objective is to minimize solvency risk by 
matching maturities for the BMW Group’s financing requirements within the framework of the target debt ratio. 
The BMW Group has good access to capital markets as a result of its solid financial position and a diversified 
refinancing strategy. This is underpinned by the long-term ratings (Moody’s as of March 26, 2021: A2 with a 
stable outlook; S&P as of August 5, 2021: A with a stable outlook) and short-term ratings (Moody’s as of 
March 26, 2021: P-1; S&P as of August 5, 2021: A-1) issued by Moody’s and S&P. The debt securities are 
guaranteed by BMW AG.


At present, no risks have been identified which could threaten the going concern status of the Company or 
which could have a materially adverse impact on the net assets, financial position or results of operations of the 
Company.


Operations during the Year
In the year under report, the health crisis caused by the coronavirus continued to have a negative impact on 
the economy, in contrast, the company’s results were very good. The below paragraphs focus on the develop-
ment of the Company’s operations in 2021.


The year 2021 resulted in a gross profit of euro 155.7 million (2020: gross profit of euro 9.3 million). The posi-
tive result of the Company was mainly impacted by a positive interest margin of euro 26.3 million (2020: euro 
28.4 million) and a profit on financial transactions euro 130.0 million (2020: euro 22.9 million). The change in 
the latter is driven by the fair value measurement of financial instruments and the effect is mostly caused by a 
higher increase of the cross-currency swap curves of various currencies (especially the RUB and PLN) as well 
as the positive development in the 2-year euro swap curve. In addition, the factoring commission income is nil 
(2020: euro 5.1 million), which is due to the discontinuation in purchasing factoring receivables in the last 
quarter of the financial year 2020.


The Company presented a stable interest margin with a profit of euro 26.3 million (2020: euro 28.4 million). An 
interest remuneration between the Company and BMW AG is established in order to ensure that the Company 
earns an “at arm’s length” net interest result for its financing activity based on its function and risk profile as a 
strategic liquidity reserve provider to BMW AG and its focus on the financing business of BMW Group. This 
matured process is nevertheless periodically reviewed from a legal and fiscal perspective by relevant internal 
and external stakeholders. The Company received a liquidity fee of euro 88.6 million (2020: euro 116.2 million).


The Company’s balance sheet total decreased by euro 351 million to euro 41,488 million by 31 December 
2021 (2020: euro 41,839 million). The Company’s portfolio is stable, and the slight decrease is due to the 
minor fluctuations in the business. In line with this, the debt securities declined to euro 31,312 million (2020: 
euro 34,185 million), but were compensated by an increase in the Liabilities due to BMW Group companies 
euro 6,287 million (2020: 3,103 million). 
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The chart below illustrates the main drivers of the change in assets and liabilities during the year under report. 


 


During 2021, the Company did not engage in any research and development or other activities outside the 
core business, and no such activities are expected to occur during 2022.


Debt capital markets
Despite the continuous impact of the Covid-19 pandemic in 2021 and the related consequences for the 
economy and financial markets, the Company continues to enjoy good access to international capital markets 
and is also benefiting from attractive refinancing conditions. A broad range of instruments on international 
capital markets are used to finance the BMW Group companies world-wide. 


The Company has successfully utilised the Euro Medium Term Note (“EMTN”) Program of euro 50.0 billion, 
the euro 5.0 billion Multi-Currency Commercial Paper Program together with the 2.0 billion French Commercial 
Paper (Billets de Trésorerie) Program in the year under report with the objective to refinance the BMW Group 
companies. The programs give the Company the ability to raise funds without significant administrative efforts. 


Under the EMTN Program, the Company issued two new debt securities during the year 2021 (2020: 17 new 
debt securities) with a nominal amount of euro 1.5 billion (2020: euro 4.7 billion). During the year the Company 
redeemed 14 EMTN’s (2020: 27 EMTN’s) with a nominal amount of euro 4.7 billion (2020: euro 9.1 billion). 


In 2021, the company qualified to issue public Chinese placements as well. The Company issued six public 
Chinese placements, so-called “Panda Bonds”, for an amount of Chinese renminbi 9.5 billion (2020: Chinese 
renminbi 6 billion) and redeemed three “Panda Bonds” with a nominal amount of Chinese renminbi 5.0 billion 
(2020: Chinese renminbi 3.5 billion). Through these public placements the Company operated on its great 
advantage of tapping into the onshore Chinese debt capital market. 


Furthermore, the Company has access to the US capital markets through the issuance of 144a bonds, leading 
to even more flexibility in securing funds and showing its possibility to access the world’s largest capital 
 markets. In the year under report the Company did not issue nor redeemed any 144a bonds on the US capital 
market (2020: nil). 


Moreover, the Company has not entered in any new loan agreements (“Schuldscheindarlehen”) (2020: eight 
loan agreements with a nominal amount of euro 0.9 billion) but repaid a nominal amount of euro 0.6 billion.
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The Company also utilised successfully their European and French Commercial paper programs and issued 
four new liabilities with a nominal amount of euro 0.3 billion by the end of the year 2021, whereof the Company 
repaid euro 0.6 million in the first half year of 2021. 


Despite the political, economic, and financial consequences of the coronavirus, the Company managed to 
maintain a healthy liquidity level in 2021 and successfully issued EMTNs, European as well as French 
 Commercial Papers, and Panda Bonds. This has ensured that the Company remained one of the most 
 frequent corporate bond issuers on a global level, despite certain challenges that occurred due to the knock-on 
economic consequences of the coronavirus pandemic.


Economic outlook
In January 2022, before the start of the war in Ukraine, the International Monetary Fund expected global eco-
nomic growth to moderate from 5.9% in 2021 to 4.4% in 2022 and to slow further to 3.8% in 2023. Russia’s 
war in Ukraine is a humanitarian disaster. In addition, the economic damage is already being felt worldwide and 
threatens to become increasingly severe and long-lasting. Russia’s invasion of Ukraine on 24 February has 
jeopardised the recovery of growth following the COVID 19 pandemic and caused a catastrophe throughout 
the region, destroying lives, homes and infrastructure. The consequences are felt worldwide.


The increased inflation is expected to persist for longer than forecasted, with ongoing supply chain disruptions 
and high energy prices continuing in 2022.


In March 2022, the US Federal Reserve raised interest rates by 0.25% and in addition to this rate step, the 
committee has planned increases for each of the six remaining meetings this year, indicating a consensus rate 
of 1.9% by the end of the year as inflation is well above 2% and the labour market continues to tighten. Other 
central banks are expected to take similar action with a mix of reforms, monetary and fiscal policy measures.


The British Chamber of Commerce has revised its expectations for UK GDP growth in 2022 downwards to 
3.6% from the 7.5% growth recorded last year. The downward revision is largely due to a deteriorating outlook 
for consumer spending and a weaker-than-expected rebound in business investment. 


The war in Ukraine is resulting in human suffering and economic consequences. While the situation remains 
highly fluid and the outlook is subject to extraordinary certainty, the economic sequences are already seen in 
high energy and commodity prices. The Company monitors the situation closely and is in regular in-depth 
dialogue with the BMW Group departments and banks to assess the impact and be able to respond in a 
timely matter to any possible unforeseen events. The exchange risk of financial receivable is limited because 
all financial receivables with Russian counterparties are fully hedged, and renewal of Russian borrowing facili-
ties will not take place. The impact on non-repayment is assessed to be limited due to the guarantee that is in 
place with the BMW AG in case the aggregated losses on financial receivables exceed euro 2 million, exclud-
ing any accrued interest on these transactions. Up until now, no further issues were encountered or identified, 
and the liquidity position of the Company is in control. However, the geopolitical situation remains highly 
 volatile and uncertain, making it very difficult to accurately forecast outcomes for the financial year 2022.


The abrupt introduction of tightened new laws and regulations represents a significant risk for the automobile 
industry, particularly in relation to emissions, safety, and consumer protection, as well as taxes on vehicle 
 purchases and use. Country- and sector-specific trade barriers can also change at short notice. Unfavourable 
developments in any of the above areas can necessitate significantly higher levels of investments and ongoing 
expenses that influence customer behaviour. Risks from changes in legislation and regulatory requirements 
are expected to have a low impact on earnings over the two-year assessment period. The risk level attached to 
these risks is classified as not significant.


The Company is continuing to monitor the development of the pandemic and taking care to keep its people 
safe and its business strong. The outbreak of the pandemic had a limited impact on the Company’s business 
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and financial results 2021. To date, none of the Company’s counterparties are or have been in a default posi-
tion and there are no indications to date this will occur.


In the light of the economic outlook and development of the political environment discussed above, the 
 Company believes that it will continue to face a year full of challenges, like interest rate changes, in 2022, for 
which it has prepared through risk management procedures and strategic guidelines. It is not yet possible to 
accurately assess the full impact of the war in Ukraine and the sanctions on Russia therewith, as the situation 
remains highly volatile, making it extremely difficult to forecast macroeconomic developments and the likely 
impact on the financial receivables with Russian counterparties. The Management of the Company does not 
see any threat to the Company’s status as a going concern. The Company’s financial position is stable, with 
liquidity requirements currently covered by available liquidity and credit lines.


Regular in-depth dialogue with capital market participants has always been a high priority for the BMW Group. 
Within a short space of time, sustainability has become a key driver for the financial market. Investors and 
 analysts are increasingly considering environment, social and governance (ESG) aspects in their investment 
recommendations and decision-making processes. For the main features of corporate social responsibility, 
we refer to the BMW AG group annual report. 


Climate change
BMW Finance N.V.’s exposure is solely through BMW AG’s potential impact from climate change, which 
BMW AG mitigates through geographic and technological diversification of assets and the existence of 
 dedicated areas and plans for Crisis Management and Business Continuity at corporate level, among other 
mitigation measures. No significant impacts are expected for BMW Finance N.V.’s financial position. For 
 further details, we refer to the BMW AG Group annual report.


Company information
During 2021 the Company employed 16 people (2020: 15 people). 


As of February 25, 2021, P. Picker has succeeded R. Schmidbauer as director of the Company. 


The Company’s Board of Directors is unbalanced since less than 30% of its members are female. The 
 Company’s Board members have been appointed based on their qualifications and availability, irrespective of 
gender. In order to create more balance, the Boards will take these regulations into account to the extent 
 possible with respect to future appointments of Board members. 


The Hague, 21 April 2022


W. Knopp  G. Ramcharan P. Picker
Managing Director Financial Director Director
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Dear Ladies and Gentlemen,


During 2021, the Company BMW Finance N.V. had to face a variety of challenges caused by the changing 
international market environment within Europe, as well as globally, which was accompanied by an increase in 
financial market uncertainty. Some of the causes of these challenges were the coronavirus crisis, restrictive 
trade policies, increasing inflation, shortages of chips and raw materials, all of which affected our company, 
which is naturally interrelated with its ultimate parent company BMW AG.


Monitoring and advisory activities of the Supervisory Board
In our capacity as the Supervisory Board, we provided the Board of Directors with in-depth advice on matters 
relating to management and further development of the Company and monitored the Board of Directors 
 running of the business, both continuously and thoroughly. In 2021, the Supervisory Board convened for two 
regular meetings. Related to this, Russia’s war against Ukraine and the sanctions against Russia with the 
 corresponding damage to economies around the world were discussed.


Moreover, the Supervisory Board collectively and individually interacted with members of the Board of Directors 
and with senior management outside the formal Supervisory Board meetings.


Key topics that were addressed in the Supervisory Board meetings were the financial statements of 2020, 
strategy updates as well as the financial outlook, and the fulfilment of all risk and compliance requirements. 
Further, the war in Ukraine and the Russian sanctions were addressed and discussed. Up until now, no issues 
were encountered or identified, however the geopolitical situation remains highly volatile and uncertain.


Description of the Audit Committee work 
The Supervisory Board has assigned certain of its tasks to the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is 
formed by Jolanda Messerschmidt-Otten and Fredrik Altmann. The function of the Audit Committee is to 
prepare the decision-making of the full Supervisory Board. A list of activities performed was: the review of the 
Company’s accounting policies and practices, including adherence to accounting and reporting standards. 
Assessing the appropriateness of material judgments and the interpretation and application of accounting 
principles.


The Audit Committee convened for two regular meetings. During the meetings, the board report and audit 
plan of the independent auditor were presented. The full Supervisory Board retains overall responsibility for the 
activities of its committee.


Composition of the Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board comprises of four members: Fredrik Altmann, Caroline Philipp, Anne Brons, and 
 Jolanda Messerschmidt-Otten. In August 2021, Caroline Philipp replaced Thomas Sieber, and in November 
2021, Anne Brons replaced Stefanie Wurst as members of the Supervisory Board. In June 2021, Fredrik 
 Altmann was re-elected as member and chairman of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board is 
 balanced as more than 30% of its members are female and its members have been appointed based on 
qualifications and availability, irrespective of gender. In order to maintain balanced, the Board will take these 
regulations into account to the extent possible with respect to future appointments of Board members. 


The members of the board will continue to be selected based on their experience, knowledge and background. 
Future successors will be hired based on required qualifications for the job. 


The external member of the Supervisory Board received a remuneration of euro 10,000 in 2021. No further 
benefits, bonuses, or incentives were received by members of the Supervisory Board.


Examination of financial statements
The 2021 Annual Report of BMW Finance N.V. as presented by the Board of Directors, has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V., as the Company’s independent external auditor. The Audit 


BMW Finance N.V.
Report of the Supervisory Board
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 Committee carefully examined and discussed the proposed financial statements. Consequently, the Supervi-
sory Board authorised the 2021 Annual Report of the Company for issue by the Board of Directors on 21 April 
2022. The Annual Report will further be submitted for approval to the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders 
on 21 April 2022.


The Supervisory Board wishes to express their appreciation to the members of the Board of Directors and 
the entire workforce of the Company for their dedication, their ideas and achievements during the financial 
year 2021.


The Hague, 21 April 2022


F. Altmann C. Philipp A. Brons J. Messerschmidt-Otten 
Chairman
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BMW Finance N.V.
Financial statements
Income Statement and Statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2021


 


in euro thousand Note 2021 2020


Interest income BMW Group companies  371,155 397,334
Interest income third parties  290,982 294,965
Interest related income  88,557 116,177
Interest and interest related income [2] 750,694 808,476
     
Interest expenses BMW Group companies  (62,589) (76,760)
Interest expenses third parties  (661,819) (703,325)
Interest expenses [2] (724,408) (780,085)
     
Interest margin [2] 26,286 28,391
     
Factoring commission income [3] – 5,090
Net commission income  – 5,090
     
Other financial income and expenses [4] 1,203 (885)
Impairment gain/ (loss) on financial receivables [5] (13) 1,391
Result from financial transactions [6] 129,959 (22,936)
Financial result  157,435 11,051
     
Miscellaneous income & expenses [7] (1,753) (1,756)
Income before taxation  155,682 9,295
     
Taxes [8] (36,793) (2,581)
Net income   118,889 6,714


Other comprehensive income:
Items that can be reclassified to the income statement in the future
Cost of hedging (net effect after tax) [13] (5,748) (1,894)


Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the period  113,141 4,820
Basic earnings per share of common stock in euro    
From profit for the year [13] 33,968 1,918


The total comprehensive income for the period is attributable to the shareholder of BMW Finance N.V.


The notes from page 14 to 41 form an integral part to the financial statements. 
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12 BMW Finance N.V.
Balance Sheet at 31 December 
Before profit appropriation


   


Equity and liabilities  Note 2021 2020
in euro thousand   


Issued capital  [13] 1,750 1,750
Share premium reserve  [13] 55,488 55,488
Cost of hedging reserve  [13] 2,015 7,763
Retained earnings  [13] 128,333 121,619
Undistributed income  [13] 118,889 6,714
Equity  306,475 193,334
     
Debt securities  [14] 22,338,418 28,387,777
Loans due to banks  [15] 2,003,028 2,881,713
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies  [16] 775,000 1,581,000
Derivative liabilities  [19] 345,505 401,116
Deferred Tax Liability  [18] 701 2,588
Non-current liabilities  25,462,652 33,254,194
     
Debt securities  [14] 8,973,612 5,796,732
Loans due to banks  [15] 720,487 584,765
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies  [16] 5,511,773 1,521,723
Derivative liabilities  [19] 316,589 291,817
Interest payables and other liabilities  [17] 196,340 196,631
Current liabilities  15,718,801 8,391,668
     
Total equity and liabilities  41,487,928 41,839,196


The notes from page 14 to 41 form an integral part to the financial statements. 


   


Assets  Note 2021 2020
in euro thousand   


Receivables from BMW Group companies   [10] 18,914,307 20,740,261 
Derivative assets   [19] 664,738 1,147,601 
Non-current assets  19,579,045 21,887,862 
       
Receivables from BMW Group companies   [10] 21,695,068 19,724,127 
Derivative assets   [19] 207,578 215,442 
Interest receivables and other receivables   [11] 1 5,514 
Cash and cash equivalents   [12] 6,236 6,251 
Current assets  21,908,883 19,951,334 


Total assets  41,487,928 41,839,196
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13BMW Finance N.V.
Cash Flow Statement


   


in euro thousand Note 2021 2020
   


Net income/(loss) for the year  118,889 6,714
 
Adjustments for non-cash items   
Fair value measurement losses/(gains) derivatives [6] 451,644 (517,380) *
Fair value measurement losses/(gains) debt securities [6] (572,175) 539,844 *
Amortisation financial instruments  1,427 22,990 *
(Gain) on revaluation of financial instruments [13] (7,635) (1,983)
Change in impairment allowance [5] (13) 1,391
Taxes  [8] 36,793 2,581
Interest income [2] (750,694) (808,476)
Interest expense [2] 724,408 780,085
     
Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Receivables from BMW Group companies [10] 331,671 4,545,890 *
Receivables and other assets  5,513 35,128
Derivatives  8,244 (26,775) *
Other liabilities [17] (1,054) (12,666)
Interest received  742,188 800,676
Interest paid  (722,914) (774,234) *
Cash flow from operating activities  366,292 4,593,785
    
Marketable securities disposals  – 51,916
Cash flow from investing activities  – 51,916
     
Proceeds from the issuance of Debt securities  3,059,928 7,244,957 *
Repayment Debt securities  (5,892,551) (11,168,991) *
Proceeds from the issuance of the Liabilities to BMW Group companies  22,176,130 12,636,566 *
Repayment Liabilities to BMW group companies  (19,029,620) (13,740,074) *
Proceeds from Liabilities to BMW Group companies  – 885,157 *
Repayment Loans due to banks  (680,194) (497,204) *
Cash flow from financing activities  (366,307) (4,639,589)
     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (15) 6,112
Cash and cash equivalents at January 1  6,251 139
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 [12] 6,236 6,251


* Figures have been restated for comparison purposes. 


The notes from page 14 to 41 form an integral part to the financial statements.  







14 BMW Finance N.V.
Statement of Changes in Equity


in euro thousand Note Issued Share Cost of Retained Undis- Total 
  Capital premium hedging earnings tributed 
   reserve reserve  income


1 January 2020 [13] 1,750 55,488 9,657 130,343 (8,724) 188,514
         
Net income  – – – – 6,714 6,714
Other comprehensive income for the period after tax  – – (1,894) – – (1,894)
Comprehensive income for the year  
ended 31 December 2020  – – (1,894) – 6,714 4,820
Appropriation of results 2019  – – – (8,724) 8,724 –
   
31 December 2020  1,750 55,488 7,763 121,619 6,714 193,334
         
1 January 2021  1,750 55,488 7,763 121,619 6,714 193,334
  
Net income  – – – – 118,889 118,889
Other comprehensive income for the period after tax  – – (5,748) – – (5,748)
Comprehensive income for the year  
ended 31 December 2021  – – (5,748) – 118,889 113,141
Appropriation of results 2020  – – – 6,714 (6,714) –
   
31 December 2021 [13] 1,750 55,488 2,015 128,333 118,889 306,475


The notes from page 14 to 41 form an integral part to the financial statements.  


 04 Annual Management Report
 09 Report of the Supervisory Board
 11  Financial statements
 11   Income Statement and Statement 


of comprehensive income
 12  Balance Sheet at 31 December
 13  Cash Flow Statement
 14  Statement of Changes in Equity
 15  Notes to the Financial Statements
 17  1. Significant accounting policies
 21  2. Interest income and expense
 22  3. Factoring commission income
 22  4.   Other financial income and 


 expenses
 22  5.  Impairment loss on financial 


 receivables
 23  6.  Result from financial 


 transactions
 23  7.  Miscellaneous income & 


 expenses
 24  8. Taxes
 24  9.  Remuneration of Board of 


 Directors
 25  10.  Receivables from BMW Group 


companies
 26  11.  Interest receivables and other 


receivables
 26  12. Cash and cash equivalents
 26  13. Equity
 27  14. Debt securities
 29  15. Loans due to banks
 29  16.  Liabilities due to BMW Group 


companies
 30  17.  Interest payables and other 


 liabilities
 30  18. Deferred tax liability
 30  19. Financial instruments
 36  20. Risk management
 42  21. Related parties
 43  22. Subsequent events
 44  Other information
 44  Independent auditor’s report
 44   Statutory rules as to appropriation 


of result
 45  Responsibility statement
 46   Declaration by the Supervisory 


Board
 47  Independent auditor’s report







15BMW Finance N.V.
Notes to the Financial Statements


Reporting entity
BMW Finance N.V. (the “Company”) was incorporat-
ed in the Netherlands and is a wholly owned sub-
sidiary of BMW Holding B.V. who in turn is a wholly 
owned subsidiary of BMW Intec Beteiligungs GmbH, 
a wholly owned subsidiary of BMW AG. The statutory 
seat of the Company is The Hague in the Nether-
lands. The Company has its registered office and 
principal place of business in Rijswijk in the Nether-
lands. The Company was registered in the Commer-
cial Register on 14 June 1983, number 27.106.340. 
The Company’s purpose is to assist the financing of 
business activities conducted by companies of the 
BMW Group and its affiliates and to provide financial 
services in connection therewith. The core business 
of the Company comprises mainly financing BMW 
Group companies priced in accordance with the “at 
arm’s length” principle and to contribute to the liquid-
ity requirements of the BMW Group. 


During the year the Company employed 16 per-
sons (2020: 15 persons), all of which work in the 
Netherlands. In 2021, P. Picker replaced R. Schmid-
bauer as a director of the Company.


A Supervisory Board, established in December 
2014, currently consists of four members. In August 
2021, Caroline Philipp replaced Thomas Sieber, and 
in November 2021, Anne Brons replaced Stefanie 
Wurst as members of the Supervisory Board. 


The financial statements of the Company have 
been drawn up in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as adopted by 
the European Union and issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and with Part 9 
of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.


The financial statements of the Company are in-
cluded in the BMW AG consolidated financial state-
ments prepared according to IFRS as endorsed in 
the EU. These financial statements are available on 
BMW Group’s website at www.bmwgroup.com.


Coronavirus impact
On 30 January 2020, the World Health Organisation 
(WHO) declared an international health emergency 
due to the outbreak of coronavirus. The Company is 
continuously monitoring the market and economic 
turbulences that have arisen as a consequence of the 
virus, as well as its impact on the business develop-
ment of the Company. The most significant risks the 
Company faces are particularly related to credit and 
interest rate changes. A comprehensive risk man-
agement system is in place to ensure that the Com-
pany successfully manages these risks. In the year 
under report, the direct impact of the pandemic on 


the Company has been very limited, due to the nature 
of its business. Hence, no threat to the status as a go-
ing concern has been identified and the Company’s 
financial position is stable, with liquidity requirements 
covered by available liquidity and credit lines.


Solvency
Given the objectives of the Company, the Company 
is economically interrelated with the ultimate holding 
company, BMW AG, Germany. In assessing the 
 solvency and general risk profile of the Company, the 
solvency of the BMW Group as a whole, headed by 
BMW AG, needs to be considered. The Board of 
 Directors considers it appropriate to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting in preparing these finan-
cial statements based on a forecast analysis which 
supports the going concern assumption.


Basis of preparation


Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in euro which 
is the Company’s functional currency. Items included 
in the financial statements are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Company operates. All financial information 
presented in euro has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand, unless otherwise stated in the notes.


Comparison with previous year
The valuation principles and methods of determining 
the result are the same as those used in the previous 
year, with the exception of the changes in accounting 
policies as set out in the relevant sections.


The Company has disaggregated adjusted the 
presentation of the Cash flow from operating activi-
ties and Cash flow from financing activities, here es-
pecially the ‘Derivatives’, ‘Receivables to BMW Group 
companies’, ‘Proceeds/Repayment Debt Securities’, 
‘Proceeds/Repayment Loans due to banks’ and 
 ‘Proceeds/Repayment Liabilities to BMW Group 
com panies’. 


In each case, the corresponding comparative 
numbers of the previous year have been amended for 
comparison reasons. 


The valuation principles and method of deter-
mining the result remained the same as those used in 
the previous year.


Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis except for the following material 
items in the statement of financial position: 
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Financial assets and liabilities are measured at their 
fair value: 
−	 derivative	financial	instruments,	and
−	 recognised	financial	assets	and	liabilities	that	are	


part of fair value hedge relationships are measured 
at fair value in respect of the risk that is hedged. 


Other financial assets and liabilities and non-financial 
assets and liabilities are stated at amortised cost or 
historical cost. 


Inherent to the Company’s activities, the going 
concern of the Company is dependent upon the 
 performance of the financial performance of the 
counterparties of the loans issued to BMW AG Group 
companies. The Company’s Board of Directors 
 evaluated the financial position of the counterparties 
of loans to group companies and their ability to repay 
the notional and interest to the Company. The Com-
pany has not identified events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.


Use of estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements in confor-
mity with IFRS requires management to make certain 
assumptions and judgements and to use estimations 
that can affect the application of accounting policies 
and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income 
and expenses. The assumptions used are continu-
ously checked for their validity. Actual amounts could 
differ from the assumptions and estimations used if 
business conditions develop differently to the Com-
pany’s expectations. 


Revisions to accounting estimates are recog-
nised in the period in which the estimates are revised 


and in future periods affected. Due to the current 
 financial market conditions, the estimates contained 
in these financial statements concerning the opera-
tions, economic performance and financial condition 
of the Company are subject to known and unknown 
risks, uncertainties and contingencies, many of which 
are beyond the control of the management of the 
Company, which may cause actual results, perfor-
mance or achievements to differ materially from an-
ticipated results, performance or achievements. Also, 
the estimates are based on management’s estimates 
of fair values and of future costs, using currently avail-
able information. Factors that could cause differences 
include, but are not limited to:
−	 risks	of	economic	slowdown,	downturn	or	reces-


sion
−	 risks	 inherent	 in	changes	in	market	 interest	rates	


and quality spreads, especially in an environment 
of unpredictable financial market conditions


−	 lending	 conditions	 to	 companies	 turning	 to	 the	
worse, thereby increasing the cost of borrowing


−	 changes	in	funding	markets,	including	commercial	
paper and term debt


−	 uncertainties	 associated	 with	 risk	 management,	
including credit, prepayment, asset/liability, interest 
rate and currency risks changes in laws or regula-
tions governing our business and operations, and


−	 changes	in	competitive	factors
For the valuation of financial instruments, the most 
significant assumptions and estimates relate to the 
interest rates and exchange rates used in the valua-
tion models. More details are disclosed in the notes 
19 and 20.


Standard Interpretation  Date of issue Date of Date of 
   by IASB mandatory mandatory 
    application by IASB application EU


Changes to IFRS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 27.08.2020 1.1.2021 1.1.2021 
IAS 39, IFRS 7 


Financial reporting rules 
(a) Financial reporting standards applied for the first 
time in the financial year 2021:


In August 2020, the IASB published the Amendment 
Standard Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (IBOR) – 
Phase 2. The amendments contain a number of 
 reliefs to mitigate the impact on the accounting treat-
ment of hedge relationships, financial instruments 
and lease liabilities resulting from the reform of inter-
est rate benchmarks. The Company is impacted by 
the reform of interest rate benchmarks primarily in the 


area of financial liabilities and related interest rate 
hedges. For a significant proportion of these instru-
ments, the previous benchmark interest rate was 
 replaced by an alternative interest rate in 2021. The 
adoption of the rules contained in the amended 
Standard means that the existing hedging relation-
ships can be continued and the contractual changes 
arising due to the interest rate benchmark reform do 
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[1]


not therefore have any direct impact on profit or loss. 
Further explanatory comments on the impact of the 
interest rate benchmark reform provided in note 20.
(b) Financial reporting pronouncements issued by 
the IASB, but not yet applied:


Significant accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have been 
 applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements. 


Foreign currency
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the 
rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the indi-
vidual transactions. At the end of the accounting 
 period the unsettled balances on foreign currency 
receivables and liabilities are valued at the rates of 
exchange prevailing at the year-end. Exchange rate 
differences arising on translation are recognised in 
the income statement, within Other financial income 
and expenses. Quotations of market rates are ob-
tained from Reuters Ltd. Real time rates are frozen on 
daily basis.


Financial result
The financial result comprises the Interest margin, 
Factoring commission income, Other financial in-
come and expenses and Result from financial trans-
actions. 


The Interest margin is the difference between 
Interest income and Interest expenses. The Interest 
income comprises interest income on funds invested 
as well as an interest remuneration between the 
Company and BMW AG. The latter is established in 
order to ensure that the Company earns an “at arm’s 
length” net interest result for its financing activity 
based on its business models and risk profile as a 
strategic liquidity reserve provider to BMW AG and its 
focus on the financing business of BMW Group. 
 Interest expenses include interest expense on 
 borrowings. Interest income and expenses are 
 recognised as they accrue in profit or loss, using the 
effective interest method. 


Factoring administration charges and other fee 
income is recognised in profit or loss at the time the 
debts are factored. The discount charge is recognised 
in profit or loss as it accrues, taking into account the 
effective yield on the asset.


Other financial income and expenses cover the 
exchange rate differences of the monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currency. Foreign 


There are no other financial reporting standards 
issued by the IASB and not yet applied are not 
 expected to have any significant impact on the 
 Company’s financial statements.


currency gains and losses are reported on a net 
 basis. 


A model is used to determine the impairment 
losses on financial receivables which is based on ex-
pected credit losses and is comprised in the Impair-
ment loss on financial receivables. More information 
on the model itself can be found under the paragraph 
“Impairment”.


The Result from financial transactions include 
changes in the fair value of ‘financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss and gains and losses’ on hedging 
instruments that are recognised in profit or loss.


Dividends
Dividends proposed by the Board of Directors are not 
recorded in the financial statements until the Annual 
General Meeting of Shareholders has approved the 
proposal. Dividend income is recognised in profit or 
loss on the date that the Company’s right to receive 
payment is established.


Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 
tax. Current tax and deferred tax are recognised in 
profit or loss except to the extent that they relate to 
items recognised directly in equity or in other compre-
hensive income. 


Current tax is the expected tax payable or receiv-
able on the taxable income or loss for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
 reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years. Current tax payable also 
includes any tax liability arising from the declaration of 
dividends (i.e. withholding taxes).


Deferred tax asset or liability are recognised in 
respect of temporary differences between the carry-
ing amounts of assets and liabilities for financial re-
porting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 
purposes. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates 
that are expected to be applied to temporary differ-
ences when they reverse, based on the laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 
reporting date.


A deferred tax asset or liability is recognised 
for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible 







18


 temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised.


Employee benefits
In the financial year 2021 all employees participated 
in a defined contribution plan. The related costs to 
the defined contribution plan are recognised as Mis-
cellaneous expenses in the income statement.


Earnings per share
The Company presents basic earnings per share 
(EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calcu-
lated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordi-
nary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
 during the period, adjusted for own shares held. 
There is no program which dilutes the number of 
shares outstanding. 


Financial instruments


Categories of financial assets
The categories of financial assets that are held by the 
Company are:
– at amortised costs, and
– financial assets at fair value through profit and loss


Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the 
Company commits to purchase or sell the asset. 
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
 expired or have been transferred and the Company 
has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership. 


The Company derecognises a financial liability 
when its contractual obligations are discharged, 
 cancelled or expired. 


Measurement
At initial recognition, the Company measures a finan-
cial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial 
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of 
the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial 
 assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
expensed in profit or loss.


Financial assets at amortised cost are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses.


‘Financial assets at fair value through profit, or 
loss’ are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or 
losses arising from changes in the fair value for ‘finan-
cial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ are rec-
ognised in profit or loss within Result from financial 
transactions.


Interest income from ‘financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss’ and interest on loans and 
 receivables are included in the Interest income and 
expense (note 2).


Determination of fair value
Several of the Company’s accounting policies and 
disclosures require the determination of fair value, for 
both financial and non-financial assets and liabilities. 
Fair values have been determined for measurement 
and/or disclosure purposes. For the methods used 
see note 19. When applicable, further information 
about the assumptions made in determining fair 
 values is disclosed in the notes specific to that asset 
or liability.


Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is presented in the statement of financial 
 position when, and only when, the Company has a 
legal right to offset the amounts and intends either 
to settle on a net basis or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. Fair value, which is 
determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated 
based on the present value of future principal and 
 interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of 
interest at the reporting date.


Non-derivative financial assets
The Company initially recognises financial assets at 
fair value on the date that they are originated. The 
Company derecognises a financial asset when the 
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contrac-
tual cash flows on the financial asset in a transaction 
in which substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any 
interest in transferred financial assets that is created 
or retained by the Company is recognised as a sepa-
rate asset or liability.
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Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets are classified as “at amortised cost” 
if the following two conditions are both met:
1) the financial asset is held within a business model 


whose objective is to hold financial assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows, and


2) the contractual terms of the financial asset 
 generate cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount 
 outstanding


Assets at amortised costs comprise receivables from 
BMW group companies, interest receivables and 
other receivables. The fair value, which is determined 
for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the 
present value of future principal and interest cash 
flows, discounted at the market rate of interest and 
relevant credit spreads at the reporting date. 


Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 
 balances and call deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less. 


Non-derivative financial liabilities
The Company initially recognises debt securities 
 issued on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial liabilities are recognised initially on the trade 
date at which the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 


The Company has the following non-derivative 
financial liabilities: debt securities, loans due to 
banks, loans due to BMW Group companies and 
 interest payables and other liabilities. Such financial 
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial recognition these financial liabilities are mea-
sured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 


The determination of the fair value of the non-
derivative financial instruments which are allocated to 
level 1 are based on quoted prices in an active mar-
ket. The fair value of non-derivative financial instru-
ments classified at level 2 are determined using a 
measurement model, which takes the Group’s own 
default risk and that of counterparties into account in 
the form of credit default swap (CDS) contracts which 
have matching terms and which can be observed on 
the market.


Derivative financial instruments and hedging 
activities
Derivative financial instruments are used within the 
Company for hedging purposes. The Company holds 
derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign 
currency and interest rate risk exposures. All deriva-


tive financial instruments are measured at fair value. 
Fair values are determined on the basis of valuation 
models (discounted cash flow models). The observ-
able market price, tenor and currency basis spreads 
are taken into account in the measurement of deriva-
tive financial instruments. Furthermore, the Compa-
ny’s own credit risk and that of counterparties is taken 
into account based on credit default swap values. 
 Interest rate and currency swaps are valued by using 
discounted cash flow models. The changes in the fair 
values of these contracts are reported in the income 
statement (in Result from financial transactions). 


The Company applies the option to recognise 
credit risks arising from the fair values of a group of 
derivative financial assets and liabilities on the basis 
of their total net amount. Portfolio-based valuation 
adjustments (credit valuation adjustments and debit 
valuation adjustments) to the individual derivative 
 financial assets and financial liabilities are allocated 
using the relative fair value approach (net method).


Forward foreign exchange contracts are valued 
by using discounted cash flow models. Changes in 
fair value are calculated by comparing this with the 
original amount calculated by using the contract 
 forward rate prevailing at the beginning of the 
 contract. 


Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; 
attributable transaction costs are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
derivatives are measured at fair value, and changes 
therein are accounted for as described below.


When the Company holds derivative financial 
 instruments due to risk management policies, but no 
hedge accounting can be applied in line with IFRS 9, 
then all changes in its fair value are recognised 
 immediately in profit or loss.


Fair value hedges
On initial designation of the hedge, the Company 
formally documents the relationship between the 
hedging instrument(s) and hedged item(s), including 
the risk management objectives and strategy in 
 undertaking the hedge transaction, together with the 
methods that will be used to assess the effectiveness 
of the hedging relationship. The Company makes an 
assessment, both at the inception of the hedge 
 relationship as well as through periodic prospective 
effectiveness assessments to ensure that an eco-
nomic relationship exists between the hedged item 
and hedging instrument. Items are hedged on the 
basis of a constant ratio of one to one between hedg-
ing instrument and risk exposure. 
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Derivative hedging instruments are mainly used 
to hedge interest rate risks and foreign currency risks 
relating to debt securities and loans due to banks. 
Where fair value hedge accounting is applied, changes 
in fair value of a designated derivative hedging instru-
ment are recognised in the income statement (in 
 Result from financial transactions). In addition, changes 
in the fair value due to changes in the hedged risk 
only of the hedged item are recognized in profit or 
loss and as an adjustment to the carrying value of the 
hedged item (basis adjustment). The changes in the 
fair value relating to the ineffective portion of the 
hedge relationship are recognised in profit or loss 
within result from financial transactions. Where cross-
currency swaps are used as derivative hedging in-
struments in a fair value hedge, cross currency basis 
spreads are not designated as part of the hedging 
relationship. Accordingly, changes in the cross-cur-
rency basis spreads are separated from the changes 
in the market value of the cross currency derivative 
hedging instruments and are recognized in a sepa-
rate component of equity (the cost of hedging 
 reserve) to the extent that they are aligned to the 
hedged item. Subsequently, the cross-currency ba-
sis spreads recorded in the cost of hedging reserve 
are amortized to the income statement over the term 
of the hedging relationship.


The Company discontinues hedge accounting 
prospectively when the hedge no longer meets the 
criteria for hedge accounting. Any hedging adjust-
ment made previously to a hedged financial instru-
ment for which the effective interest method is used, 
is amortised to profit or loss by adjusting the effective 
interest rate of the hedged item from the date on 
which amortisation begins over the remaining period 
of the hedge relationship before discontinuing. If the 
hedged item is derecognised, then the adjustment is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss.


Impairment


Financial assets 
The Company applies the approach described in 
 IFRS 9 to determine impairment of all trade receiv-
ables in place. IFRS 9 requires the implementation of 
an ‘expected credit loss’ (ECL) model, which aims to 
be forward looking and requires to recognise an 
 impairment loss for all financial assets as an expected 
expense. In accordance with this model, valuation 
 allowances for expected credit losses on financial 
 assets classified at amortised cost are recognised in 
two stages. Impairment allowances on financial 
 assets are measured at initial recognition based on 


the expected 12-months credit loss (Stage 1). If, at 
subsequent balance sheet dates, the credit loss risk 
has increased significantly since the date of initial 
recognition, the impairment allowance will instead be 
measured based on the lifetime expected credit 
losses (Stage 2- general approach). The calculations 
of impairment allowances on receivables from af-
filiates are primarily based on information which is 
available in the market (e.g. ratings and probabilities 
of default) as well as on internal and external infor-
mation on recovery rates. The Company generally 
 assumes creditworthiness is impaired if a receivable 
is more than 90 days overdue. Credit-impaired assets 
are identified as such on the basis of this definition of 
default. In the case of credit-impaired assets which 
had not been credit-impaired at the time they were 
acquired or originated, an impairment allowance is 
recognised at an amount equal to lifetime expected 
credit losses (Stage 3). There were no significant 
changes in the assumptions or methodology applied 
in the assessment of expected credit losses, com-
pared with the prior year.


Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. There is no 
preference share capital or compound financial 
 instruments issued by the Company.


Cash flow statement
The cash flow statement shows how the cash and 
cash equivalents of the Company have changed over 
the year as a result of cash inflows and cash outflows. 
In accordance with IAS 7 (Statement of Cash Flows), 
cash flows are classified into cash flows from oper-
ating, investing, and financing activities. 


Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash 
flow statement comprise cash deposits and cash at 
bank, to the extent that they are available within three 
months from the end of the reporting period and are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.


The cash flows from investing and financing 
 activities are based on actual payments and receipts. 
While the cash flow from operating activities is 
 derived indirectly from the net profit for the year. 
 Under this method, changes in assets and liabilities 
relating to operating activities are adjusted for 
 currency translation effects. The changes in balance 
sheet positions shown in the cash flow statement 
therefore do not agree directly with the amounts 
shown in the Company balance sheets.


The Company’s purpose is to assist the financ-
ing of the activities conducted by companies of the 
BMW Group. This assistance is considered to be an 
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operating activity for the Company. Movements 
 related to debt securities, loans due to banks and 
 liabilities to BMW Group companies are considered 
to be operating activities. The cash flow statement is 
computed using the indirect method, starting from 
the net income of the Company. Under this method, 
changes in assets and liabilities relating to operating 
activities are adjusted for currency translation effects. 


Segment reporting
Under IFRS 8 the Company is required to disclose 
segmental information of its performance. The inter-


est income and related income only derives from one 
segment. The Company derives its revenue interest 
income by trading with entities that are owned and 
controlled by BMW AG and trading in derivatives with 
third parties to hedge the market risks of the Com-
pany. Furthermore, the interest revenue is derived 
by contributing to the liquidity requirements of the 
BMW Group. The interest revenue streams are re-
lated to the business model of the Company.


[2] Interest income and expense
Total interest income and expense for financial assets 
and liabilities comprise the following:


  


in euro thousand  2021 2020 
   


Interest and interest related income on financial assets at amortised cost  465,952 527,509
Interest income on financial assets included in a fair value hedge relationship  276,461 269,623
Interest income on derivatives at fair value not included in a hedge relationship  8,281 11,344
Interest and interest related income  750,694 808,476
   
Interest expenses on financial liabilities at amortised cost  (270,668) (275,509)
Interest expenses on financial liabilities included in a fair value hedge relationship  (304,781) (343,937)
Interest expenses on derivatives at fair value not included in a hedge relationship  (148,959) (160,639)
Interest expenses  (724,408) (780,085)
   
Interest margin  26,286 28,391


Interest income and expenses (paid and accrued in-
terest) are recognised in the income statement using 
the effective interest method. Assets and liabilities at 
fair value stem from financial derivative instruments. 
Non-derivative financial instruments are measured at 
amortised cost. The carrying amount is adjusted for 


the changes in the value of the hedged risks when the 
instrument is included in a fair value hedge relation-
ship. Fair value movements are not presented under 
interest income and expense, but under result from 
financial transactions (see note 6).
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Total interest income and expense split in BMW Group 
companies and third parties: 


  


in euro thousand  2021 2020 
   


Interest income BMW Group companies  371,155 397,334
Interest income third parties  290,982 294,965
Interest related income  88,557 116,177
Interest and interest related income  750,694 808,476
   
Interest expenses BMW Group companies  (62,589) (76,760)
Interest expenses third parties  (661,819) (703,325)
Interest expenses  (724,408) (780,085)
   
Interest Margin  26,286 28,391 


The interest income third parties of euro 291.0 mil-
lion (2020: euro 295.0 million) is mainly earned over 
the derivatives traded with financial institutions to 
hedge the market risks of the Company. The interest 
expenses third parties of euro 661.8 million (2020: 
euro 703.3 million) comprises the expense due to 
transactions in debt securities, loans due to banks, 
and derivatives with financial institutions. The interest 
income and expenses are presented as non-cash 
items in the Cash flow statement. 


An interest remuneration between the Company 
and BMW AG is established in order to ensure that 
the Company earns an “at arm’s length” net interest 
result for its financing activity based on its function 


and risk profile as a strategic liquidity reserve provider 
to BMW AG and its focus on the financing business 
of BMW Group. This matured process is never-
theless periodically reviewed from a legal and fiscal 
 perspective by relevant internal and external stake-
holders. The Company received a liquidity fee of euro 
88.6 million (2020: euro 116.2 million), which is 
 presented as “interest related income” in the income 
statement. In addition, BMW AG was paid a guaran-
tee fee of euro 41.0 million (2020: euro 50.3 million), 
as the latter unconditionally and irrevocably guaran-
tees the Company’s issuances on the capital mar-
kets. 


[4]


[5]


Other financial income and expenses
The item comprises a profit of euro 1.2 million  
(2020: loss of 0.9 million) due to exchange rate 
 differences.


Impairment loss on financial receivables
The Company recognized a provision for expected 
credit losses according to IFRS 9 in respect of 
 Re ceivables from BMW Group companies measured 
at amortised cost. This resulted in an impairment 


 allowance relief of 13 thousand (2020: impairment 
 allowance of euro 1.4 million). No significant changes 
to estimation techniques or assumptions were made 
during the reporting period.


[3] Factoring commission income
Factoring commission income consists of fees related 
to the factoring of short-term BMW Group trade 
 receivables. The Company stopped with the factoring 
in the last quarter of 2020, since it has been decided 


that going forward the Company’s main focus will be 
the financing of BMW Group receivables (2020: euro 
5.1 million). 
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[6]


The change of the result from financial transactions 
to a profit of euro 130.0 million (2020: loss of euro 
22.9 million) is the result of the fair value measure-
ment of financial instruments. 


The revaluation of derivatives not included in a 
hedge relationship proves to be the main driver of this 
result and is related to interest rate swaps and cross 
currency swaps to hedge the portfolio of receivables 


with a fixed rate from BMW Group companies (see 
note 10) as well as the credit value and debit value 
adjustment required under IFRS 13. The increase in 
profit was caused by a higher increase of the 
cross-currency swap curves of various currencies 
(especially the RUB and PLN) as well as the 2-year 
euro swap curve compared to 2020.


   
in euro thousand  2021 2020 
   


Ineffective portion of financial instruments included in a hedge relationship  3,059 (12,870)
Revaluation of derivatives not included in a hedge relationship  126,900 (10,066)
Total  129,959 (22,936)


Result from financial transactions


[7] Miscellaneous income & expenses


   
in euro thousand  2021 2020 
   
Salaries & social security charges  (1,108) (1,048)
Pension costs – defined contribution plan  (81) (48)
Advisory & audit cost  (290) (440)
Other miscellaneous income & expenses  (274) (220)
Total  (1,753) (1,756⁄)


The fees charged are presented as advisory & audit 
cost. In 2021 and 2020 the fees were billed by 
 PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V. 


The fees listed above relate to the procedures applied 
to the Company by accounting firms and external 
auditors as referred to in Section 1, subsection 1 
of the Audit Firms Supervision Act (‘Wet toezicht 
 accountantsorganisaties – Wta’) as well as by Dutch 
and foreign-based accounting firms, including their 
tax services and advisory groups.


With reference to Section 2:382a (1) and (2) of 
the Netherlands Civil Code, the following fees for the 
financial year have been charged to the Company:


The fees presented in ‘Other audit services’ are 
partly related directly to the issuances of debt secu-
rities on the Chinese capital market, and therefore 
included in the interest expense of the Company. 


All fees relate to the audit of the 2021 and 2020 
financial statements, irrespective of whether the work 
was performed during the financial year. 


   


in euro thousand PwC Accountants Other PwC Total PwC 
31.12.2021 N.V. network network


Audit of the financial statements (227) – (227)
Other audit services (60) (79) (139)
Tax services – – –
Other non-audit services – – –
Total (287) (79) (366)


   


in euro thousand PwC Accountants Other PwC Total PwC 
31.12.2020 N.V. network network


Audit of the financial statements (195) – (195)
Other audit services (61) (135) (196)
Tax services – – –
Other non-audit services – – –
Total (256) (135) (391)
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Periodic remuneration  446 471
Bonuses  45 49
Other remuneration  86 75
Total remuneration of Board of Directors  577 595


   


in euro thousand  2021 2020 
  


Reconciliation of the effective tax rate:


[8]


   


in euro thousand  2021 2020 
   


Current tax (expense)/income  (36,812) (2,605)
Deferred tax income/(expense)  – –
Withholding taxes  19 24
Total tax (expense)/income in income statement  (36,793) (2,581) 


Taxes
Income taxes comprise the following:


The 2021 Dutch corporation tax applies at 25% 
(2020: 25%).


BMW Finance N.V., a member of the fiscal unity 
headed by BMW Holding B.V., is jointly and severally 
liable for the payment of any tax liability of the fiscal 
unity. Therefore, any tax liabilities or refunds are mea-
sured under Receivables from BMW Group compa-
nies and/or Liabilities due to BMW Group companies 
in the balance sheet. The following companies are 
part of the fiscal unity per 31 December 2021: 


−	 BMW	Holding	B.V.	(head	of	the	fiscal	unity)	
−	 BMW	Finance	N.V.	
−	 BMW	Nederland	B.V.	
−	 BMW	Financial	Services	B.V.	
−	 BMW	China	Capital	B.V.
−	 Alphabet	Nederland	B.V.


[9] Remuneration of Board of Directors
In 2021, the remuneration of the Board of Directors, 
which is short-term in nature, amounted euro 0.6 mil-
lion (2020: euro 0.6 million). The total remuneration 


The external member of the Supervisory Board re-
ceived a remuneration of euro 10,000 in 2021 (2020: 
euro 10,000). No further remuneration, bonuses, or 


consists of periodic remuneration and bonuses plus 
other remuneration:


incentives were received by members of the Super-
visory Board.


in euro thousand 2021 2020


Income before tax  155,682 9,295
Income tax using the domestic corporate tax rate 25% (38,921) (2,324)
Tax expense relating to other periods  2,109 (281)
Withholding taxes  19 24
Total tax income/(expense) in income statement  (36,793) (2,581)
    
Effective tax rate  23.6% 27.8%
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Non-current receivables from BMW Group companies  18,914,307 20,740,261
Current receivables from BMW Group companies  21,695,068 19,724,127
Total receivables from BMW Group companies  40,609,375 40,464,388


in euro thousand  2021 2020


Receivables from BMW Group companies[10]


in euro thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period effective interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Receivables from parent (BMW Holding B.V.) – – –
Receivables from affiliated companies 40,282,895 1.2 0.8
Inhouse Bank BMW AG 152,913 Daily EONIA* + spread
Trade receivables from parent (BMW Holding B.V.) 28,206 – –
Trade receivables from BMW Group companies 145,361 – –
Total 40,609,375  


* EONIA = Euro Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2021: 0.505% negative)


From the total receivables from BMW Group Compa-
nies, 63% (2020: 59%) have a fixed interest rate. The 
weighted average maturity period and the weighted 


The Company recognised an accumulated impair-
ment loss on Receivables from BMW Group compa-
nies of euro 4.0 million in 2021 (2020: euro 5.4 million) 


average effective interest rate of the receivables from 
BMW Group companies during the financial year 
2021 are: 


in accordance with IFRS 9. No significant changes to 
estimation techniques or assumptions were made 
during the reporting period. 


The weighted average maturity period and the weight-
ed average effective interest rate of the receivables 


The Company has not and has not been asked 
to grant any payment holidays on their loans to 
BMW Group companies. 


in euro thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period effective interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Receivables from parent (BMW Holding B.V.) – – – 
Receivables from affiliated companies 38,935,998 1.2 0.7 
Inhouse Bank BMW AG 1,375,958 Daily EONIA* + spread 
Trade receivables from parent (BMW Holding B.V.) 16,543 – – 
Trade receivables from BMW Group companies 135,889 – – 
Total 40,464,388


* EONIA = Euro Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2020: 0.498% negative).


   


in euro thousand Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total 
 one year one and five years than five years 


2021 21,695,068 18,806,489 107,818 40,609,375 
2020 19,724,127 20,597,085 143,176 40,464,388 


The following table shows the maturity structure of 
the receivables from BMW Group companies:


from BMW Group companies during the financial year 
2020 are:
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[13] Equity


Issued Capital
The authorised share capital consists of 5,000 
 ordinary shares of euro 500 each of which 3,500 
shares have been called up and fully paid-in. The 
holders of ordinary shares are entitled to execute the 
rights under the Dutch Civil Code without any restric-
tions. In comparison with the year-end 2020, there 
were no changes in these figures. The Company 
generated earnings per share of euro 33,968 (2020: 
loss of euro 1,918).


Share premium reserve
The share premium reserve comprises additional 
paid-in capital on the issue of the shares.


Cost of hedging reserve
On 31 December 2021, the amount of the fair value 
measurement of financial instruments recognised 
directly in equity amounted to euro 2.0 million (2020: 
euro 7.8 million) net of deferred taxes. The hedging 
reserve as of 31 December 2021 is related to the 
cost of hedging of fair value hedges. The cross 
 currency basis spread is excluded from the hedge 
designation and effectiveness measurement in ac-
cordance with IFRS 9, posted to Other comprehen-
sive income (OCI) as cost of hedging, and amortised 
into P&L over the lifetime of the hedge. The amounts 
recorded in the cost of hedging reserve are amortized 
to the income statement over the term of the hedging 
relationship.


[11] Interest receivables and other receivables 
In 2021 the Company recognised an amount of 
 euro 1 thousand (2020: euro 5,514 thousand) as 
other receivables. The balance at the end of the 


 financial year 2021 relates primarily to a term deposit 
with maturity of three months. 


[12] Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and Cash equivalents have a maturity of less 
than three months and are freely disposable to the 
Company. The Company participates in the Global 
Payment Platform of BMW AG. Therefore, a part of 
the cash position with the external banks is reflected 
in the Inhouse Bank position with BMW AG. The 
 balance is accounted for as a Receivable from 


BMW Group companies (note 10) and Liability due to 
BMW Group companies (note 16). The total cash 
position that is not part of the Global Payment 
 Platform amounted to euro 6.2 million (2020: euro 
6.3 million), is mainly denominated in Chinese ren-
minbi. 
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in euro thousand  2021 2020


   
Opening balance at 01 January  7,763 9,657
Thereof gains/(losses) arising in the period under report  (4,611) (11,207)
Thereof reclassifications to the income statement, net of deferred tax  (1,137) 9,313
Closing balance at 31 December  2,015 7,763
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Capital management
The Company’s objectives when managing capital at 
an individual company level are to safeguard the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in 
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 
for other stakeholders as well as to maintain an opti-
mal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. In 
order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may issue new shares or adjust the amount 
of dividends paid to shareholders. The Company has 
no prescribed dividend policy. 


The Company’s equity, as disclosed on the face 
of the statement of financial position, constitutes its 


Appropriation of result
The appropriation of the result for the year 2020 
amounting to a loss of euro 6,714 thousand to 
 retained earnings has been endorsed by the General 
meeting of Shareholders dated April 22, 2021.


Proposed appropriation of result
The Board of Directors proposes to add the net profit 
for the year 2021 amounting to euro 118,889 thou-
sand to the retained earnings.


capital. The Company maintains its level of capital by 
reference to its financial obligations and commit-
ments arising from operational requirements. In view 
of the extent of the Company’s borrowings or debt, 
the capital level as at the end of the reporting period is 
deemed adequate by the Board of Directors of the 
Company. 


There were no changes in the Company’s 
 approach to capital management during the year. 


The Company is not subject to externally im-
posed capital requirements. 


 


[14]


 


in euro thousand  2021 2020


Debt securities part of a fair value hedge relationship  28,251,995 28,059,390
Debt securities at amortised cost  2,759,909 5,575,057
Commercial paper  300,126 550,062
Total  31,312,030 34,184,509


Debt securities 
Debt securities include both hedged and unhedged 
debt securities, as well as commercial paper.
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The outstanding Bonds under the EMTN Program 
and other securities issued by the Company as at 
31 December, 2021 comprise:
Interest Currency Issue volume in Weighted average Weighted average effective  
  thousands maturity period (in years) interest rate (in %)  


Variable EUR 2,000,000 2.2 0.0 
Variable NOK 1,730,000 3.0 2.3 
Variable SEK 1,500,000 4.0 0.5 
Variable USD 500,000 3.0 1.0 
Fixed AUD 273,000 10.0 3.2 
Fixed CNH 500,000 3.0 2.8 
Panda Bond CNY 16,500,000 3.0 3.0 
Fixed EUR 22,900,000 6.9 0.8 
Fixed GBP 600,000 6.0 0.9 
Fixed HKD 1,759,000 6.1 2.7 
Fixed JPY 13,400,000 5.6 0.6 
Fixed NOK 750,000 4.0 2.3 
Fixed USD 1,750,000 5.6 2.5 


The outstanding Bonds under the EMTN Program 
and other securities issued by the Company as at 
31 December, 2020 comprise:
Interest Currency Issue volume in Weighted average Weighted average effective  
  thousands maturity period (in years) interest rate (in %)  


Variable EUR 3,350,000 2.1 0.0
Variable NOK 1,730,000 3.0 1.9
Variable SEK 1,500,000 4.0 0.6
Variable USD 500,000 3.0 1.0
Fixed AUD 273,000 10.0 3.2
Fixed CNH 1,500,000 3.0 3.9
Panda Bond CNY 12,000,000 2.0 4.0
Fixed EUR 23,800,000 6.5 0.8
Fixed GBP 850,000 6.0 1.3
Fixed HKD 2,352,000 5.9 2.6
Fixed JPY 24,500,000 5.3 0.5
Fixed NOK 1,500,000 3.8 1.9
Fixed USD 2,050,000 5.3 2.5


capital markets. Since May 2006, the Company acts 
as an issuer under the euro 2.0 billion French Com-
mercial Paper (Billets de Trésorerie) Program estab-
lished by the Company. 


In 2021, the Company issued six public Panda 
Bonds on the Chinese capital market, for an amount 
of Chinese renminbi 9.5 billion (2020: Chinese 
 renminbi 6 billion) and redeemed three Panda Bonds 
with a nominal amount of Chinese renminbi 5 billion 
(2020: Chinese renminbi 3.5 billion). Through these 
public placements the Company operated on its 
great advantage of tapping into the onshore Chinese 
debt capital market. 


Under the EMTN Program, the Company issued 
two new debt securities during the year 2021 (2020: 
17 new debt securities) with a nominal amount of 
euro 1.5 billion (2020: euro 4.7 billion). During the 
year the Company redeemed 14 EMTN’s (2020: 27 
EMTN’s) with a nominal amount of euro 4.7 billion 
(2020: euro 9.1 billion). Further issuers are BMW AG, 
BMW US Capital LLC, BMW International Investment 
B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. Furthermore, 
the Company participates in the euro 5.0 billion Multi-
Currency Commercial Paper Program established by 
BMW AG, BMW Finance N.V. and BMW International 
Investment B.V. The Multi-Currency Commercial 
 Paper Program support flexible and broad access to 
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The outstanding balances with respect to the 
commercial paper programs at year-end are related 
to the euro 5.0 billion Multi-Currency Commercial 
Paper Program and the French Commercial Paper 
Program. 


The average maturity and interest rates are 
 presented in the table below.


In the year under report, no new 144a bonds 
were issued (2020: nil). The possibility to also issue 
these type of debt securities gives the Company 
more flexibility in access the world’s largest capital 
markets as an additional funding source. 


Debt issuances under these programs have 
 unconditional and irrevocable guarantees from 
BMW AG.


[16]


in euro thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period effective interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Liability due to Parent (BMW Holding B.V.) 4,961,000 0.90 0.15
Liability due to affiliated companies 1,263,008 1.94 (0.15)
Inhouse Bank BMW AG 28,393 Daily EONIA* + spread
Trade payables due to BMW Group companies 34,372 30 days none
Total 6,286,773   


* EONIA = Euro Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2021: 0.505% negative).


From the total liabilities from BMW Group Companies 
100% have a fixed interest rate. The weighted average 
maturity period and the weighted average effective 


   


in euro thousand Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total 
 one year one and five years than five years 


2021 5,511,773 775,000 – 6,286,773


2020 1,521,723 1,581,000 – 3,102,723


Liabilities due to BMW Group companies


interest rate for the liability due to BMW Group com-
panies during the financial year 2021 are:


in euro thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period (in years) interest rates (in %)
  2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020


Total  2,723,515 3,466,478 7.58 7.56 0.81 0.86


[15] Loans due to banks
The average maturity and interest rates are presented 
in the table below:


in euro thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period (in years) interest rates (in %)
  2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020


Total  300,126 550,062 0.08 0.70 (0.58) (0.17) 


Euro 5.0 billion Multi-Currency Commercial Paper 
Program and French Commercial Paper Program 
outstanding balance:


The Company also utilised successfully their Euro-
pean and French Commercial paper programs and 
issued four new liabilities with a nominal amount of 


euro 0.3 billion by the end of the year 2021, whereof 
the Company repaid euro 0.6 million in the first half 
year of 2021.  
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For the liabilities these figures were during the finan-
cial year 2020 as follows:


in euro thousand  Outstanding Weighted average Weighted average 
   maturity period effective interest rates 
     (in years)  (in %)


Liability due to Parent (BMW Holding B.V.) 3,101,706 1.81 0.10
Liability due to affiliated companies 1,780 – –
Inhouse Bank BMW AG – Daily EONIA* + spread
Trade payables due to BMW Group companies (763) 30 days none
Total 3,102,723  


* EONIA = Euro Overnight Index Average (per 31-12-2020: 0.498% negative).


Financial instruments
The carrying amounts of financial instruments are 
 assigned to IFRS 9 categories in the following table:


Deferred tax liability


The deferred tax for derivatives relates to the cost of 
hedging of derivative financial instruments included 
in a fair value hedge relationship. The deferred tax 


 liability is calculated with a tax rate of 25.8% and 
 results in an amount of euro 0.7 million (2020: euro 
2.6 million). 


[19]


[18]


[17] Interest payables and other liabilities


Interest payables to third parties are mainly related to 
debt securities.


   


in euro thousand  2021 2020


Interest payables to third parties  195,940 195,177 
Other liabilities  400 1,454 
Total  196,340 196,631 


31 December 2021  At amortised Fair value through Total 
in euro thousand  cost profit or loss


Assets
Derivative instruments – – –
 Fair value hedges – 488,621 488,621
 Other derivative instruments – 383,695 383,695
Interest and other Receivables 1 – 1
Cash and Cash equivalents 6,236 – 6,236
Receivables from BMW Group companies 40,609,375 – 40,609,375
Total of financial assets 40,615,612 872,316 41,487,928


31 December 2021  At amortised Fair value through Total 
in euro thousand  cost profit or loss


Liabilities
Debt securities 31,312,030 – 31,312,030
Loans due to banks 2,723,515 – 2,723,515
Derivative instruments – – –
 Fair value hedges – 164,092 164,092
 Other derivative instruments – 498,002 498,002
Interest payables and other liabilities 196,340 – 196,340
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies 6,286,773 – 6,286,773
Total of financial liabilities 40,518,658 662,094 41,180,752
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31 December 2020  At amortised Fair value through Total 
in euro thousand  cost profit or loss


31 December 2020  At amortised Fair value through Total 
in euro thousand  cost profit or loss


Assets
Derivative instruments – – –
 Fair value hedges – 942,383 942,383
 Other derivative instruments – 420,660 420,660
Interest and other Receivables 5,514 – 5,514
Cash and Cash equivalents 6,251 – 6,251
Receivables from BMW Group companies 40,464,388 – 40,464,388
Total of financial assets 40,476,153 1,363,043 41,839,196


Liabilities
Debt securities 34,184,509 – 34,184,509
Loans due to banks 3,466,478 – 3,466,478
Derivative instruments – – –
 Fair value hedges – 269,370 269,370
 Other derivative instruments – 423,563 423,563
Interest payables and other liabilities 196,631 – 196,631
Liabilities due to BMW Group companies 3,102,723 – 3,102,723
Total of financial liabilities 40,950,341 692,933 41,643,274


Interest rates taken from interest rate curves were 
 adjusted, where necessary, to take account of the 
credit quality and risk of the underlying financial 
 instrument. Derivative financial instruments are mea-
sured at their fair value. The fair values of derivative 
financial instruments are determined using measure-
ment models, because of which there is a risk that the 
amounts calculated could differ from realisable market 


For the financial year 2020, the items are also 
 assigned to IFRS 9 categories in the following table:


The hedge ratio applied by the Company is 100%.


prices on disposal. Observable financial market prices 
are taken into account in the measurement of deriva-
tive financial instruments. The valuation takes into 
account the Company’s own default risk and that of 
counterparties in the form of credit default swap 
(CDS) spreads which have appropriate terms, and 
which can be observed on the market.


counted cash flow models. In the latter case, amounts 
were discounted at 31 December 2021 based on the 
 following interest rates:


Fair value measurement of financial instruments 
The fair values shown are computed using the market 
information available at the balance sheet date 
through appropriate measurement methods, e.g. dis-
% EUR GBP AUD RUB JPY ZAR
   
interest rate for 6 months (0.05) 0.62 0.25 8.80 (0.08) 5.36 
interest rate for one year (0.49) 0.83 0.58 8.70 (0.10) 5.47 
interest rate for five years 0.02 1.25 2.08 7.18 (0.15) 6.80 
interest rate for 10 years 0.30 1.19 2.51 6.59 (0.10) 7.95 


The interest rates at 31 December 2020 were:
% EUR GBP AUD RUB JPY ZAR
   
interest rate for 6 months (0.53) 0.03 0.02 4.91 (0.01) 3.87 
interest rate for one year (0.53) – 0.03 5.04 (0.05) 3.38 
interest rate for five years (0.46) 0.19 0.38 5.88 (0.04) 4.75 
interest rate for 10 years (0.26) 0.40 0.98 6.46 0.05 6.60 
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Financial instruments measured at fair value are 
allocated to different levels:
1. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 


active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
the entity can access at the measurement date; 


2. Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted prices 
included within level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;


3. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
 asset or liability.


At 31 December 2021 the financial assets and liabili-
ties measured at fair value according to IFRS 9 are 


At 31 December 2020 the financial assets and 
 liabilities measured at fair value according to IFRS 9 


are classified as follows in the measurement levels in 
accordance with IFRS 13:


The other derivative instruments are derivatives not 
included in a hedge relationship and are related to 
interest rate swaps and foreign currency swaps to 
hedge the portfolio of fixed rated receivables from 
BMW Group companies.


There were no reclassifications within the level 
hierarchy either in the financial year 2021 or in the 
 financial year 2020.


Where the fair value is required for a financial 
 instrument for disclosure purposes, the discounted 
cash flow method was used, taking account of the 
BMW Group’s credit risk. These fair values are allo-
cated as Level 2. The fair value of level 2 financial in-
struments is determined using valuation techniques 
(the income approach) which maximise the use of 
observable market data and rely as little as possible 


   Level hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 13
In euro thousand   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
   
Derivative instruments (assets) 
Fair value hedges  – 488,621 – 
Other derivative instruments  – 383,695 – 
Derivative instruments (liabilities)  
Fair value hedges  – 164,092 – 
Other derivative instruments  – 498,002 –  


   Level hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 13
In euro thousand   Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
   
Derivative instruments (assets) 
Fair value hedges  – 942,383 – 
Other derivative instruments  – 420,660 – 
Derivative instruments (liabilities)    
Fair value hedges  – 269,370 – 
Other derivative instruments  – 423,563 –  


on entity-specific estimates. Financial instruments 
recognised at fair value for which no market prices are 
available, are categorised as Level 3. Level 3 financial 
assets relate mainly to marketable securities of the 
Company. The valuation technique to determine the 
fair value of these marketable securities is based on 
the expected amortisation schedule of the notes and 
the credit spreads as observed in the financial mar-
ket. These parameters have not changed significantly 
since the first date of adoption. 


The notional amounts and fair values of deriva-
tive financial instruments of the Company are shown 
in the following analysis. In accordance with internal 
guidelines, the notional amounts of the derivative 
 financial instruments correspond to the volume of 
exposures being covered with derivatives.


classified as follows in the measurement levels in 
 accordance with IFRS 13:
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in euro thousand  Notional Fair value Notional Fair value 
  amount amount amount amount 
  2021 2021 2020 2020


Assets  
Foreign currency derivatives 4,919,389 210,979 5,952,486 267,224 *
Interest rate derivatives 25,395,255 453,759 31,324,731 880,373 *
Non-current assets 30,314,644 664,738 37,277,217 1,147,597 *
     
Foreign currency derivatives 5,328,336 155,058 5,706,759 191,858 *  
Interest rate derivatives 14,004,625 52,520 10,331,019 23,588 *
 Current assets 19,332,961 207,578 16,037,778 215,446 *
Total assets 49,647,605 872,316 53,314,995 1,363,043 


Liabilities  
Foreign currency derivatives 4,430,402 213,546 5,910,095 336,530 * 
Interest rate derivatives 11,410,859 131,959 9,343,825 64,585 *
Non-current liabilities 15,841,261 345,505 15,253,920 401,115 
     
Foreign currency derivatives 11,555,212 297,113 6,255,488 271,748 * 
Interest rate derivatives 5,779,667 19,476 5,777,082 20,070 *
Current liabilities 17,334,879 316,589 12,032,570 291,818 
Total liabilities 33,176,140 662,094 27,286,490 692,933 
* Figures have been restated for comparison purposes.


The fair values in the financial asset and liability 
categories approximate their carrying values, except 
for the BMW Group receivables with a fixed interest 
rate, non-current debt securities and other (intercom-
pany) payables with a fixed interest rate. The fair values 
shown are computed using market information avail-
able at the balance sheet date.


BMW Group receivables are valued at amortised 
cost. The underlying changes to the fair value of 
these  assets are therefore not recognised in the 
 balance sheet. The Company does not apply hedge 
accounting to loans in the intercompany receivables 
with a fixed interest rate. The change of fair value of the 


The following table shows the fair values and 
 carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities 
that are measured at cost or amortised cost and 
where carrying amounts differ from their fair value. For 
some balance sheet items, fair value corresponds to 
the carrying amount due to their short maturity.


BMW Group receivables are valued according to 
 level 2 methodologies.


For the current debt securities, the fair value 
 approximates the carrying value. The change of fair 
value of the loans due to banks are valued according 
to level 2 methodologies.


31 December 2021:


   


in euro million Note Fair value Carrying Difference
  value


BMW Group receivables (level 2) [10] 40,727,790 40,609,375 118,415
BMW Group liabilities (level 2) [16] 6,248,100 6,286,773 (38,673)
Non-current debt securities [14] 22,675,595 22,338,418 337,177
whereof level 1  20,207,837 – –
whereof level 2  2,467,758 – –
Loans due to banks (level 2) [15] 2,868,737 2,723,515 145,222
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31 December 2020:


   


in euro million Note Fair value Carrying Difference
  value


BMW Group receivables (level 2) [10] 40,757,746  40,464,388 293,358 
BMW Group liabilities (level 2) [16] 3,129,436  3,102,723 26,713 
Non-current debt securities [14] 28,645,558  28,387,777 257,781 
whereof level 1  24,739,665 * – – 
whereof level 2  3,905,892 * – – 
Loans due to banks (level 2) [15] 3,618,593  3,466,478 152,115


* Figure restated for comparison purposes.


Gains and losses of financial instruments
The following table shows the net gains and losses 
arising on financial instruments in the financial year 
2021 pursuant to IFRS 9:


  


in euro thousand   2021 2020


Financial instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss   (448,938) 281,823
Financial assets measured at amortized cost (Impairment)   (13) 1,391
Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost   578,897 (304,759)


Fair value hedges
The following table shows gains and losses on 
 hedging instruments and hedged items which are 
deemed to be part of fair value hedge relationship:


The profit/loss from hedged items relates to the 
 liabilities of the Company. The difference between 
the gains or losses on hedging instruments and the 
result recognised on hedged items represents the 


ineffective portion of fair value hedges. Fair value 
hedges are mainly used to hedge interest rate risk 
and foreign currency risk on bonds and other financial 
liabilities. 


   


in euro thousand  2021 2020


Revaluation on hedging instruments (Foreign Currency Derivatives)  (43,415) 85,699
Revaluation on hedging instruments (Interest Rate Derivatives)  (532,422) 206,189
Profit/loss from hedged items  578,896 (304,758)
Ineffective portion of fair value hedges  3,059 (12,870)


‘Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or losses 
arising from changes in the fair value for ‘financial as-
sets at fair value through profit or loss’ are recognised 


in profit or loss within Result from financial transac-
tions.


For interest income and expenses related to 
 financial instruments, see note 2. 
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Maturity structure hedging instruments
The following table illustrates a breakdown of the 
nominals of the hedging instruments according to 
their maturity structure in 2021:


31.12.2020:


   


in euro thousand Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total 
 one year one and five years than five years Nominal


Assets  
Foreign Currency Derivatives 144,296 945,879 795,629 1,886,804
Interest Rate Derivatives 5,464,712 12,530,752 3,204,299 21,199,763
Liabilities  
Foreign Currency Derivatives 11,555,212 3,944,865 485,537 1,851,090
Interest Rate Derivatives 5,779,667 8,677,117 2,633,00 7,479,339


   


in euro thousand Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total 
 one year one and five years than five years Nominal


Assets  
Foreign Currency Derivatives 213,345 495,706 513,040 1,222,091 
Interest Rate Derivatives 2,953,434 16,953,239 7,103,994 27,010,667 
Liabilities   
Foreign Currency Derivatives 657,175 1,709,256 790,710 3,157,141 
Interest Rate Derivatives 278,434 2,976,289 – 3,254,723


The following table summarises the key information 
on hedged items for each risk category:


The following table summarises the key information 
on the hedging instruments for each risk category: 


  Fair Values
in euro thousand  Assets Liabilities Change in values  
    of hedged items


  Fair Values
in euro thousand  Assets Liabilities Change in values  
    of hedged instrument


Foreign currency risk – 2,125,553 45,934
Interest rate risk – 25,200,075 532,963


Fair value hedges 
Foreign currency risk 57,294 57,651 (43,415)
Interest rate risk 431,327 106,441 (532,422)


The accumulated amount of hedge-related fair 
 value adjustments is euro 316 million (2020: euro 


888 million) for liabilities related to debt securities 
and loans due to banks. 
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tions. As a general rule, the Company assumes that a 
receivable is in default if it is more than 90 days over-
due or if there are objective indications of insolvency. 
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off 
against the related provision. The Company extended 
the days of overdue from 30 to 90 days given the 
 activities of the Company which are mainly related to 
intergroup financing. 


The Company applies the general approach 
 described in IFRS 9 and this follows and expected 
credit loss (ECL) approach to determine the impair-
ment of financial assets. Since based on historical 
performance and forward-looking information the 
Receivables from BMW Group companies are 
 considered to be low risk, under the general approach, 
loss allowances are measured on initial recognition 
on the basis of the expected 12-month credit loss 
(stage 1). If the credit loss risk at the end of the 
 reporting period has increased significantly since 
 initial recognition, the impairment allowance is mea-
sured on the basis of lifetime expected credit losses 
(stage 2 – general approach). Further disclosures 
 relating to the model used are provided in the 
 explanatory note 1 in the paragraph “Impairment of 
financial assets”. The measurement of the change in 
default risk is based on a comparison of the default 
risk at the date of initial recognition and at the end of 
the reporting period. The default risk at the end of 
each reporting period is determined on the basis of 
credit checks, current key economic indicators and 
any overdue payments. Loss allowances on trade 
 receivables are determined primarily on the basis of 
information relating to overdue amounts. The loss 
 allowance on these assets is calculated using the 
 input factors available on the market (i.e. Corporate 
Default Studies), such as ratings and default proba-
bilities.


Risk management
The exposure of the Company can be broken down 
into two main categories: financial and non-financial 
risks.


Risk Management Framework
The formal procedures and policies operated by the 
Company to cover banking, foreign exchange and 
other treasury matters are consistent with objectives 
and policies for financial risk management within the 
BMW Group. The Company’s policy is not to take 
positions in derivative financial instruments with the 
aim of profit realisation. The Company’s risk manage-
ment policy strives to achieve interest rate and foreign 
currency exposure neutrality.


The Company has exposure to the following 
risks from its use of financial instruments:
−	 credit	risk
−	 liquidity	risk	and
−	 market	risk
This note presents information about the BMW 
Groups’ exposure to each of the above risks, the 
BMW Groups’ objectives, policies and processes for 
measuring and managing risk, and the BMW Group’s 
management of capital. Further quantitative disclo-
sures are included throughout these financial state-
ments.


Financial Risks


Credit Risk
Credit risk comprises concentration risk and counter-
party risk. The Company however did not recognize 
any concentration risk and is not aware of the 
 existence of a significant concentration of credit risk. 
The Company is exposed to counterparty credit risks 
if an internal- or external counterparty is unable or 
only partially able to meet their contractual obliga-


[20]
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Offsetting of financial instruments
The offsetting of the financial assets and liabilities for 
derivatives with external parties of the Company is 
taken into account. Actual balance sheet netting does 
not occur due to non-fulfilment of required conditions. 
Since enforceable master netting agreements or 


similar contracts are in place actual offsetting would 
in principle be possible, for instance in the case of 
 insolvency of the counterparty. Offsetting would have 
the following impact on the balance sheet values of 
the derivatives: 


   


in euro thousand 2021 2020
 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 


Gross amounts as presented in the balance sheet 872,315 (662,094) 1,363,043 (692,934) 
Amounts subject to an enforceable master netting agreement (458,569) 458,569 (494,931) 494,931 
Net amount after offsetting 413,746 (203,525) 868,112 (198,003) 
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The amount recognised in the balance sheet of 
the Company for financial assets is the maximum 
credit risk in the case that counterparties are unable 
to fulfil their contractual obligations. In the case of 
derivative financial instruments, the Company is also 
exposed to credit risk, which results from the 
 non-performance of contractual agreement on the 
part of the counterparty. This credit risk, for Treasury 
activities is mitigated by entering into such contracts 
only with parties of first-class credit standing. Further-


more, the Company participates in a BMW Group 
wide limit system that continually assesses and limits 
the credit exposure to any single external counter-
party. 


The financial receivables from BMW Group 
companies are guaranteed by BMW AG when the 
aggregated losses on these receivables exceed 
 euro 2 million, excluding any accrued interest of these 
transactions. As a result, credit risk of intergroup 
 financial receivables is substantially mitigated. 


Due to a debt monitoring collection system imple-
mented by the Company no credit defaults were en-
countered in the current and previous financial year. 
Hence all the Company’s receivables at 31 Decem-
ber 2021 are recoverable at their recognised amount.


The impact of the aftermath of BREXIT is 
 assessed to be limited for the Company, due to the 
guarantee that is in place with the BMW AG in case 
the aggregated losses on financial receivables exceed 
euro 2 million, excluding any accrued interest on 
these transactions. The impact of BREXIT is further 
decreased by the ongoing decrease of financial 
 receivables denominated in GBP.


The war between Russia and Ukraine and 
 geopolitical risks. The war in Russia has resulted in a 
number of Russian banks being removed from the 
global payment messaging system SWIFT, which 
 affects payments from Russia. The impact on non-
repayment is considered limited due to the guarantee 
entered into with BMW AG in case accumulated 
losses on financial receivables exceed EUR 2 million, 
excluding accrued interest on these transactions. So 


far, no further problems have occurred or been iden-
tified, and the company’s liquidity position is under 
control. 


Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company cannot 
meet its financial liabilities when they become due, at 
reasonable costs and in a timely manner. As a result, 
the Company’s borrowing capacity may be influ-
enced, and its financing costs may fluctuate. The 
cash and short-term deposits as well as the Multi 
Currency Revolving Credit Facility of the BMW Group 
mitigate the liquidity risk for the Company. The di-
versification of debt instruments for debt financing 
reflects the successful financial strategy of the 
BMW Group. BMW AG unconditionally and irrevo-
cably guarantees all debt securities issued under the 
EMTN Programs. Concentration of liquidity risk 
therefore doesn’t exist, as the Company is using 
 different types of debt instruments with different 
 maturity structures. 


   


in euro thousand  2021 2020


Loans and Receivables   
Receivables from BMW Group companies  40,609,375  40,464,388
Interest receivables and other receivables  1 5,514
Cash and cash equivalents  6,236 6,251
Derivative assets  872,316 1,363,043
Gross exposure  41,487,928 41,839,196
  
Guaranteed by BMW AG  40,446,815 40,311,779
ISDA Agreement (netting with liability derivative positions)  458,569 494,931
  
Residual maximum exposure  582,543 1,032,486


The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date 
was:
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The maturity analysis is based on undiscounted cash 
flows. Changes in maturity structure result from 
 exploiting funding opportunities in a tense market. 


   


31 December 2021 Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total Carrying 
in euro thousand one year one and five years than five years  amount


Debt securities 9,338,550 17,221,065 5,650,944 32,210,559 31,312,030
Loans due to banks and 
BMW Group companies 6,224,517 2,048,506 821,765 9,094,788 9,010,288
Derivative instruments – outflow 12,530,898 4,386,829 621,407 17,539,134 662,094
Derivative instruments – inflow 12,113,716 4,081,857 560,780 16,756,353 –
Interest payables and other 
financial liabilities 196,340 – – 196,340 196,340
Total 16,176,589 19,574,543 6,533,336 42,284,468 41,180,752


   


31 December 2020 Maturity within Maturity between Maturity later Total Carrying 
in euro thousand one year one and five years than five years  amount


Debt securities 6,114,478 21,884,879 6,765,558 34,764,915 34,184,509
Loans due to banks and 
BMW Group companies 2,228,887 3,545,155 907,394 6,681,436 6,569,201
Derivative instruments – outflow 6,633,275 5,562,374 880,401 13,076,050 692,933
Derivative instruments – inflow 6,345,562 5,275,961 847,439 12,468,962 –
Interest payables and other 
financial liabilities 196,631 – – 196,631 196,631
Total 8,827,709 25,716,447 7,705,914 42,250,070 41,643,274


The following table shows the maturity structure of 
expected contractual cash flows (undiscounted) for 
financial liabilities:


Market risk
The Company is exposed to market risk, which com-
prises interest rate risk and currency risk.


Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in 
financial assets, liabilities or derivatives in response to 
fluctuations in interest rates. The Company holds a 
substantial volume of interest rate sensitive financial 
assets, liabilities and derivatives for operational, finan-
cial and investment activities. Changes in interest 
rates can have adverse effects on the financial 
 position and operating result of the Company. In 
 order to mitigate the impact of interest rate risk the 
Company aims in general to change fixed to floating 


interest rates. Furthermore, the Company continually 
assesses its exposure to this risk by using gap 
 analysis, value at risk analysis, and duration analysis. 
Interest rate risk is managed through natural hedges 
and hedged through the use of derivative financial 
instruments, such as interest rate swaps. To manage 
the maturity gaps appropriate interest rate derivatives 
are used. The interest rate contracts used for hedging 
purposes comprise mainly swaps, which, if hedge 
accounting is applied, are accounted as fair value 
hedges. The economic relationship between the 
hedged item and the hedging instrument is based on 
the fact that the main parameters of the hedged item 
and the related hedging instrument, such as start 
date, term and currency, are the same.
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The Company applies a value at risk-approach for 
 internal reporting purposes and to control the 
 frequency, extent, and size of possible losses in such 
a way as to provide the minimum surprise. The ap-
proach to value at risk is based on a modern historical 
simulation, in which the potential future fair value 
losses of the interest rate portfolios are compared 
across the BMW Group with probable amounts 
 measured on the basis of a holding period of 250 days 
and a confidence level of 99.98%. Due to the aggre-
gation of these results, a risk reduction effect due to 
correlations between the various portfolios is accom-
plished. 


The Company implemented the Financial 
 Strategy of the BMW Group. The objective of interest 
rate risk neutrality is accomplished when interest rate 
gaps are managed in a manner that the economic 
value of the portfolio of financial instruments is 
 immunised to a considerable degree against changes 
in interest rates. The Company monitors its interest 
rate risk exposure continuously and prepares a 
monthly report submitted to the BMW Group treasury 
department. A primary risk measure when judging 
the interest rate exposure of the Company is the 
present value of a basis point change of the portfolio. 
This concept indicates the impact on profit and loss, 
representing the sum of discounted cash flows of the 
financial instruments, by assuming a parallel shift of 
the interest rate curve of one basis point. Looking at 
this primary risk measure, the interest rate risk of a 
shift of one basis point on 31 December 2021 was 
euro 97,746 (2020: euro 32,001).


The transition to the newly created or revised 
benchmark interest rates is being managed, moni-
tored and assessed with regard to risk management 
implications as part of a multidisciplinary project. The 
tasks of the conversion project include the continual 
monitoring of regulatory developments, the initiation 
of necessary changes to systems, processes, risk 
and measurement models as well as the clarification 
of the associated accounting and financial reporting 
implications. The uncertainty triggered by the bench-
mark interest rate reform, in the meantime relating 
primarily to the USD and CAD, is expected to be 


eliminated during the financial year 2022. The 
BMW Group’s fair value hedges affected by the re-
form are mainly based on the benchmark interest 
rates relating to the British pound (GBP), the US dol-
lar (USD) and the Japan yen (JPY). Fair value hedges 
for which GBP LIBOR and JPY LIBOR were previ-
ously designated as the hedged risk were converted 
during the financial year 2021, with GBP LIBOR 
 replaced by the SONIA benchmark interest rate and 
JPY LIBOR  replaced by the TONA benchmark inter-
est rate. The BMW Group continuous to see the 
economic link and has therefore continued to ac-
count the pertinent items as fair value hedges. The 
notional amount of fair value derivatives that have 
been transferred with effect from 31 December 2021 
to an alternative benchmark interest rate in accor-
dance with the IBOR Fallbacks Protocol totals euro 
10,623 million. In the case of USD LIBOR and CAD 
CDOR, uncertainty remains as to the exact timing and 
nature of the changes. The notional amount of finan-
cial derivatives not yet converted to an alternative in-
terest rate at 31 December 2021 is euro 687 million.


Currency risk 
Currency risk or exchange rate risk refers to potential 
changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or 
 derivatives in response to fluctuations in exchange 
rates. Changes in exchange rates can have adverse 
effects on the financial position and operating result 
of the Company. In order to mitigate the impact 
of currency risk arising from operational, financial 
and investment activities, the Company continually 
assesses its exposure to this risk. Currency risk is 
managed and hedged through the use of derivative 
instruments, such as forward contracts and cross 
currency swaps. The economic relationship between 
the hedged item and the hedging instrument is 
based essentially on the fact that they are denomi-
nated in the same currency, same amount and have 
the same maturities. The Company has minor 
 unhedged foreign currency debt positions. These 
positions are causing the exchange rate result 
 displayed in the profit and loss account as explained 
in Note 4.


The fair values of the Company’s derivative financial 
instruments portfolio to manage the interest rate risk 


of its fixed income financial instruments were as 
 follows at the balance sheet date:


in euro thousand  Nominal Fair Nominal Fair  
  amount value amount value 
  2021 2021 2020 2020


   
EUR  56,590,406 354,844 56,775,166 819,306
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in thousand (all local currency) Non derivative Non derivative Derivative financial Net  
 financial assets financial liabilities instruments exposure
   
AUD 1,239,350 (273,000) (966,350) – 
CHF 1,105,730 – (1,105,730) – 
CNH 8,995,151 (500,000) (9,024,450) (529,299) 
CNY 17,017,563 (16,500,440) – 517,123 
CZK 5,065,668 – (5,065,668) – 
DKK 2,787,468 – (2,787,468) – 
GBP 4,085,033 (600,000) (3,485,033) – 
HKD 503,000 (1,759,000) 1,256,000 – 
HUF 8,008,158 – (8,008,158) – 
INR 2,500,000 – (2,500,000) – 
JPY 129,046,729 (13,400,000) (115,646,729) – 
MXN 10,889,885 – (10,889,979) (94) 
NOK 4,682,442 (2,480,000) (2,202,442) – 
NZD 210,316 – (210,316) – 
PLN 5,978,264 – (5,978,264) – 
RUB 54,100,148 – (54,118,179) (18,031) 
SEK 10,138,507 (1,500,000) (8,638,507) – 
USD 191,897 (2,250,000) 2,058,103 – 
ZAR 16,912,646 – (16,912,646) – 


The sensitivity of the Company’s results to changes in 
 foreign currencies against the functional currency shows:


   


Currency Net exposure in thousand Effects on result of a 10% rise in the Effects on result of a 10% decrease in the 
 euro equivalent euro against the respective currency euro against the respective currency 
  (in euro thousand) (in euro thousand)


AUD – – –
CHF – – –
CNH (73,260) 6,660 (8,140)
CNY 71,632 (6,512) 7,959
CZK – – –
DKK – – –
GBP – – –
HKD – – –
HUF – – –
INR – – –
JPY – – –
MXN (4) – –
NOK – – –
NZD – – –
PLN – – –
RUB (212) 19 (24)
SEK – – –
USD – – –
ZAR – – –
Total (1,844) 167 (205)


This sensitivity analysis assumes that all other 
 variables, in particular interest rates remain the same. 


A concentration of currency risk has not been 
identified.


The methods and assumptions used in pre-
paring the sensitivity analysis have not changed 
 compared to previous year. 
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Non-Financial Risks


Operating and Compliance Risks
Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks. 
Risks mainly result from the use of IT systems and in-
formation technology. The Company uses IT systems 
to monitor financial positions and daily cash flows and 
to process payments to internal and external counter-
parties. System failures can, therefore, lead to delays 
in payment processes. Further operating risks can 
arise in connection with the settlement of financial 
transactions. The management of daily cash flows at 
the Company depends on the timely receipt of funds 
from external institutions who act as counterparties 
to financial transactions, such as bonds, swaps or 
other derivative financial instruments. To avoid nega-
tive impacts of system failures, all key systems are set 
up in parallel and/or backup facilities or available 
within the BMW Group. Likewise, the security of all 
IT systems is continuously and thoroughly checked, 
to ensure a high level of information safety is main-
tained at all times. 


Business Continuity Management (BCM) aims to 
minimise the effects of emergencies and crises, and 
to (initially) ensure the survival of the Company at the 
level of an emergency operation, thus safeguarding 
stakeholders’ interest and the organisation’s reputa-
tion and value-creating activities. BCM focusses on:
– analysing threats and the business impact of 


emergencies and crises 
– determining the strategies and solutions to be 


 applied in the event of a crisis, such as business 
recovery, crisis management and IT disaster 
 recovery planning, so as to enable continuity of 
business operations 


– documenting and periodically assessing these 
strategies and solutions 


Business continuity mitigation controls, such as busi-
ness continuity plans, crisis management, business 
relocation plans and IT disaster recovery plans are in 
place to prepare and deal with incidents and crises 
threatening the continuity of critical business pro-
cesses.


Geopolitical risks
Geopolitical conflicts have an impact on business per-
formance of the Company. Unforeseen disruptions in 
global economic relations can have highly unpredict-
able effects. The invasion of Ukraine by Russian troops 
has, among other factors, triggered supply  restrictions 
and a number of Russian banks being removed from 
the global payment messaging system, SWIFT, which 
affects payments from Russia. There is a risk of a 
 further escalation of the conflict and therefore of the 
sanctions imposed by Western countries on Russia as 
well as on possible retaliatory measures by Russia. 
Any additional sanctions relating to the capital market 
and the import and export of goods and raw materials 
will have distinct consequences that are also likely to 
have a negative impact on economies outside Russia. 


Impact of the coronavirus
The rapid spread of the coronavirus and the actions 
being taken on a global basis for its containment have 
severely impacted the financial markets worldwide. 
This has manifested through significant changes in 
interest rates, equity markets, and the widening of 
credit spreads. The Company has continuously mon-
itored the market and economic turbulences that 
have arisen as a consequence of the virus, as well as 
any possible impact on the Company’s business de-
velopment. The most significant risks as a conse-
quence of the pandemic which were identified, are 
related to credit and interest rate changes. To ensure 
that these risks were continuously and successfully 
managed, the Company utilized its comprehensive 
risk management system.


Given the objectives of the Company, the Com-
pany is economically interrelated with the ultimate 
holding company, BMW AG, Germany. In assessing 
the solvency and general risk profile of the Company, 
the solvency of the BMW Group as a whole, headed by 
BMW AG, needs to be considered. All risks of the 
Coronavirus on the BMW Group’s financials have been 
addressed in their 2020 annual financial statements. 


For the Company itself, the effects of the Corona-
virus have been limited and no increased financial 
risks were identified in 2021. Therefore, the going 
concern status of the Company has been safeguarded.
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Related parties


Identity of related parties
A comprehensive exchange of internal services be-
tween affiliates of a multinational corporation as the 
BMW Group is common practice. In its responsibility 
to assist the financing of business activities conducted 
by companies of the BMW Group and its affiliates, 
the Company applies transfer prices for financial 
 instruments in conformity with market levels and in 
accordance with national and international tax require-
ments (arm’s length principle, principle of economic 
allegiance, separate entity approach, Art 9 OECD-MA 
Rz 126).


Key management personnel
The Board of Directors consists of three directors, 
where two of whom receive a compensation from 
the Company itself. The other director is paid by a 
BMW Group company outside the scope of the 
Company. The Company does not have other key 
management personnel than the board of directors. 
Therefore, the details regarding the compensation of 
key management personnel including the relevant 
categories of benefits are described in note 9 
 “Remuneration of the board of directors”. This is the 
remuneration of the managing director and financial 
director.


Intercompany pricing
In principle, the transfer prices for financial instru-
ments are determined based on three components: 
the price for BMW Credit Default Swaps, the three 
months Commercial Paper Spread and a transfer 
pricing margin.


The price for BMW Credit Default Swaps is 
 applied for maturities >6 months, taken from Bloom-
berg. For uneven maturities and maturities between 
Overnight and six months the method of linear inter-/
extrapolation based on the available BMW Credit 
Default Swaps is used to calculate the appropriate 
credit risk with regard to market prices. To enhance 
efficiency and ensure consistency throughout the 
BMW Group, a transfer pricing sheet is provided 
monthly by the Middle Office, which is daily filled with 


actual data to calculate the credit and term spread 
for every transaction. Finally, a transfer pricing margin 
is applied to account for the running costs of the 
Company.


Ultimate parent company
The interest rate result was positively affected by a 
 liquidity fee of BMW AG of euro 88.6 million (2020: 
euro 116.2 million) related to the business model of 
the Company. Furthermore, the Company paid a 
guarantee fee for its outstanding debt securities for 
an amount of euro 41 million (2020: euro 49 million) 
to the BMW AG. The receivable Inhouse Bank position 
that the Company had with the BMW AG amounted 
to euro 153 million (2020: euro 1,374 million). All 
outstanding receivables with the ultimate parent 
Company are disclosed in detail in Note 10 and all 
outstanding liabilities in Note 16. There were no out-
standing derivatives with BMW AG by 31.12.2021. 
With BMW Holding B.V., the Company had a total 
amount of euro 75 thousand (2020: euro 12 thou-
sand) in derivative assets and euro 6,116 thousand 
(2020: euro 40 thousand) in derivative liabilities out-
standing per year-end. The Company had interest in-
come of euro 63.1 million (2020: euro 56.3 million) 
and interest expenses of euro 6.8 million (2020: euro 
7.7 million) with BMW Holding B.V. 


Since January 2017 the Company has signed 
a factoring agreement with BMW AG and BMW 
 Motoren GmbH for buying trade receivables. In 2021, 
the Company stopped with the purchase of these 
trade receivables. The related factoring commission 
income is nil (2020: euro 5.1 million).


Investments in associates
There were no investments in associates in the year 
under report. 


Transactions with affiliated companies
With regards to outstanding derivatives, the Company 
had an amount of euro 67 thousand (2020: euro 
106 thousand) outstanding in derivative assets and 
euro 74 thousand (2020: euro 139 thousand) in 
 derivative liabilities with BMW Group companies.
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The Hague, 21 April 2022


The Board of Directors:
W. Knopp  G. Ramcharan P. Picker
Managing Director Financial Director Director


The Supervisory Board:
F. Altmann C. Philipp A. Brons J. Messerschmidt-Otten
Chairman


[22] Subsequent events
The war in Ukraine and the sanctions for Russia 
therewith, had no impact on the financial statements 
2021. The situation is therefore considered a non-
adjusting subsequent event. The Company monitors 
the situation closely and is in regular in-depth dia-
logue with the BMW Group departments and banks 
to assess the impact and be able to respond in a 
timely matter to any possible unforeseen events. All 
financial receivables with Russian counterparties 
are fully hedged and renewal of Russian borrowing 
facilities will not take place. Therefore, the exchange 


risk is limited. The impact on non-repayment is also 
assessed to be limited due to the guarantee that is in 
place with the BMW AG in case the aggregated 
losses on financial receivables exceed euro 2 million, 
excluding any accrued interest of these transactions. 
Up until now, no further issues were encountered or 
identified, and the liquidity position of the Company is 
in control. However, the situation remains highly vola-
tile and uncertain, making it very difficult to accurately 
forecast outcomes for the financial year 2022.


No other subsequent events occurred after the 
balance sheet date 31 December 2021.







BMW Finance N.V.
Other information


Statutory rules as to appropriation of result
According to article 21 of the articles of association, 
undistributed income is at the disposition of the 
 General Meeting of Shareholders.


Independent auditor’s report
The independent auditor’s report is added to page 46.
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BMW Finance N.V.
Responsibility statement


Responsibility statement


To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable reporting principles of International 
 Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the Eu-
ropean Union and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Nether-
lands Civil Code, the Annual Report gives a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and 


profit or loss of BMW Finance N.V., and the Com-
pany’s Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and 
the position of the Company, together with a descrip-
tion of the principal opportunities and risks associated 
with the expected development of the Company.


BMW Finance N.V.


The Hague, 21 April 2022


W. Knopp G. Ramcharan P. Picker
Managing Director Financial Director Director
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BMW Finance N.V.
Declaration by the Supervisory Board


Declaration by the Supervisory Board


– Pursuant to the Articles of Association we are 
pleased to submit the Annual Report for the year 
2021 as drawn up by the Board of Directors.


−	 The	Annual	Report,	which	both	 the	Supervisory	
Board and the Board of Directors have signed, 


has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Accountants N.V.


−	 The	independent	auditor’s	report	is	included	in	the	
other information section of the Annual Report.


The Hague, 21 April 2022


F. Altmann C. Philipp A. Brons J. Messerschmidt-Otten
Chairman 
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47BMW Finance N.V.
Independent auditor’s report


Independent auditor’s report
To: the general meeting and the supervisory board of 
BMW Finance N.V.Report on the financial statements 
2021. 


Report on the financial statements 2021


Our opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements of BMW Fi-
nance N.V. (‘the Company’) give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Company as at  
31 December 2021, and of its result and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
 International Financial Reporting Standards as 
 adopted by the European Union (‘EU-IFRS’) and 
with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
What we have audited
We have audited the accompanying financial state-
ments 2021 of BMW Finance N.V., The Hague.
The financial statements comprise:
−	 the	balance	sheet	as	at	31	December	2021;
−	 the	 following	 statements	 for	 2021:	 the	 income	


statement, the statements of comprehensive 
 income, changes in equity and cash flows; and


−	 the	 notes,	 comprising	 a	 summary	 of	 the	 signifi-
cant accounting policies and other explanatory 
 information.


The financial reporting framework applied in the 
preparation of the financial statements is EU-IFRS 
and the relevant provisions of Part 9 of Book 2 of the 
Dutch Civil Code.


The basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch 
law, including the Dutch Standards on Auditing. We 
have further described our responsibilities under 
those standards in the section ‘Our responsibilities 
for the audit of the financial statements’ of our report.


We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-
tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.
Independence
We are independent of BMW Finance N.V. in 
 accordance with the European Union Regulation 
on specific requirements regarding statutory audit 
of public-interest entities, the ‘Wet toezicht 
 accountantsorganisaties’ (Wta, Audit firms super-
vision act), the ‘Verordening inzake de onafhankelijk-
heid van accountants bij assuranceopdrachten’ (ViO, 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a 
 regulation with respect to independence) and other 
relevant independence regulations in the Nether-
lands. Furthermore, we have complied with the 


 ‘Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accoun-
tants’ (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).


Our audit approach
We designed our audit procedures with respect to 
the key audit matters, fraud and going concern, and 
the matters resulting from that, in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole and in 
forming our opinion thereon. The information in sup-
port of our opinion, like our findings and observations 
related to individual key audit matters, the audit 
 approach fraud risk and the audit approach going 
concern was addressed in this context, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion or conclusion on these 
matters.


Overview and context
The Company’s main activity is the financing of 
group companies, through bond offerings on the 
 international capital markets. The repayment of the 
bonds to the investors is guaranteed by BMW AG 
as disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements. 
The Company has derivative financial instruments in 
place to mitigate interest rate risk and currency risk. 
We paid specific attention to the areas of focus driven 
by the operations of the Company, as set out below.


As part of designing our audit, we determined 
materiality and assessed the risks of material mis-
statement in the financial statements. In particular, we 
considered where the board of directors made impor-
tant judgements, for example, in respect of significant 
accounting estimates that involved making assump-
tions and considering future events that are inherently 
uncertain. In these considerations, we paid attention 
to, amongst others, the assumptions underlying the 
physical and transition risk related to climate change. 
In the section ‘Use of estimates and judgements’ of 
the financial statements, the Company describes the 
areas of judgement in applying accounting policies 
and the key sources of estimation uncertainty. Given 
the significant estimation uncertainty and the related 
higher inherent risks of material misstatement in the 
measurement of expected credit losses and deriva-
tive valuation, we considered these matters as key 
audit matters as set out in the section ‘Key audit 
 matters’ of this report. Furthermore, we identified the 
existence of the loans issued and hedge accounting 
as key audit matter because of the importance of 
 existence for users of the financial statements and 
the detailed requirements for hedge accounting.


Other areas of focus, that were not considered as 
key audit matters, are areas such as the impact of 
COVID-19, IBOR reform and taxation.
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BMW Finance N.V. assessed the possible effects of 
climate change on its financial position. We dis-
cussed their assessment and governance thereof 
with the board of directors and evaluated the poten-
tial impact on the Company including underlying as-
sumptions and estimates as included in the financial 
statements. Given the nature of the Company’s 
 activities, the impact of climate change is not con-
sidered a key audit matter.


We ensured that the audit team included the ap-
propriate skills and competences, which are needed 
for the audit of a finance company. We therefore 
 included specialists in the areas of valuation and 
 accounting in our team.


Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by the applica-
tion of materiality, which is further explained in the 
section ‘Our responsibilities for the audit of the 
 financial statements’.


Based on our professional judgement we deter-
mined certain quantitative thresholds for materiality, 
including the overall materiality for the financial state-
ments as a whole as set out below. These, together 
with qualitative considerations, helped us to deter-
mine the nature, timing and extent of our audit proce-
dures on the individual financial statement line items 
and disclosures and to evaluate the effect of identified 
misstatements, both individually and in aggregate, 
on the financial statements as a whole and on our 
 opinion.


Based on our professional judgement, we deter-
mined the materiality for the financial statements as a 
whole at €414,000,000 (2020: €418,000,000). As a 
basis for our judgement, we used 1% of total assets. 
We used total assets as the primary benchmark, a 
generally accepted auditing practice, based on our 
analysis of the common information needs of the 
stakeholders. Inherent to the nature of the Com-
pany’s business, the amounts in the balance sheet 
are large in proportion to the income statement line 
items miscellaneous income & expenses and taxes. 
Based on qualitative considerations we performed 


audit procedures on those income statement line 
items, applying a benchmark of 10% of the total of 
those expenses.


We also take misstatements and/or possible 
misstatements into account that, in our judgement, 
are material for qualitative reasons.


We agreed with the supervisory board that 
we would report to them any misstatement identi-
fied during our audit above €20,700,000 (2020: 
€20,900,000) as well as misstatements below that 
amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for 
qualitative reasons.


Audit approach fraud risks
We identified and assessed the risks of material mis-
statements of the financial statements due to fraud. 
During our audit we obtained an understanding of the 
entity and its environment and the components of 
the system of internal controls, including the risk 
 assessment process and the board of directors’ 
 process for responding to the risks of fraud and 
monitoring the system of internal controls, as well as 
the outcomes. We refer to section ‘The Company’s 
activities and risk management’ of the annual man-
agement report.


We inquired with the board of directors regarding 
their fraud risk assessment, evaluated the design and 
relevant aspects of the system of internal controls as 
well as among others the code of conduct and whis-
tle blower procedures. We evaluated the design and 
the implementation and, where considered appro-
priate, tested the operating effectiveness, of internal 
controls designed to mitigate fraud risks, i.e. authori-
sation of payments.


As part of our process of identifying fraud risks, 
we evaluated fraud risk factors with respect to finan-
cial reporting fraud, misappropriation of assets and 
bribery and corruption. We evaluated whether these 
factors indicate that a risk of material misstatement 
due to fraud is present. We identified the following 
fraud risk and performed the following specific proce-
dures:
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Identified fraud risk Audit work and observations


The risk of management override 
of control


In all of our audits, we need to per-
form procedures over the risk of 
management override of control. 
This includes the evaluation of a po-
tential misstatement due to fraud 
based on the potential interest of the 
board of directors, including pro-
cesses for generating and process-
ing journal entries and making of 
estimates (including potential man-
agement bias) and significant trans-
actions outside normal business 
operations.


To the extent relevant to our audit, we have reviewed the design and 
effectiveness of the internal control measures, i.e. authorisation of 
payments, that are intended to mitigate the risk of management over-
ride of control and tested the design and implementation of the con-
trols in the processes for generating and processing journal  entries 
and making of estimates. 


We have selected journal entries based on risk criteria and 
 performed specific audit procedures on these, also paying attention 
to significant transactions outside normal business operations. 


We also performed specific audit procedures on management 
estimates, with specific attention to the valuation of loans issued to 
group companies. We refer to the section ‘Key audit matters’ for the 
performed audit procedures.


Our work did not reveal any material misstatements in the infor-
mation provided by the board of  directors in the financial statements.


Our work did not lead to specific indications of fraud or suspi-
cions of fraud regarding the risk of management override of control by 
the board of directors.


We incorporated elements of unpredictability in our 
audit. We also considered the outcome of our audit 
procedures and evaluated whether any findings were 
indicative of fraud or non-compliance.


We considered available information and made 
enquiries of relevant senior members of staff and 
board of directors.


Audit approach Going Concern
As disclosed in the section ‘Basis of measurement’ of 
the financial statement the board of directors per-
formed their assessment of the entity’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for the foreseeable 
 future and have not identified events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability 
to continue as a going concern (hereafter: going 
 concern risks). Our procedures to evaluate the board 
of directors going concern assessment include, 
amongst others:
−	 Considering	whether	the	board	of	directors’	going	


concern assessment includes all relevant informa-
tion of which we are aware as a result of our audit, 
inquire with the board of directors regarding the 
board of directors’ most important assumptions 
underlying their going concern assessment.


−	 Analysing	the	financial	position	per	balance	sheet	
date in relation to the financial position per prior 
year balance sheet date to assess whether events 
or circumstances exist that may lead to a going 
concern risk.


−	 We	evaluated	the	financial	position	of	the	counter-
parties of loans to group companies and their 
 ability to repay the notional and interest to the 
Company, by assessing observable data from 
 rating agencies, developments in credit spreads, 
current financial data (such as recent financial 
 information and cash flows) and other publicly 
available data and by discussing and obtaining 
 information from the group auditor.


−	 Performing	inquiries	of	the	board	of	directors	as	to	
their knowledge of going concern risks beyond 
the period of the board of directors’ assessment.


Our procedures did not result in outcomes contrary 
to the board of directors’ assumptions and judgments 
used in the application of the going concern assump-
tion.


Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our pro-
fessional judgement, were of most significance in the 
audit of the financial statements. We have communi-
cated the key audit matters to the supervisory board. 
The key audit matters are not a comprehensive re-
flection of all matters identified by our audit and that 
we discussed. In this section, we described the key 
audit matters and included a summary of the audit 
procedures we performed on those matters.


Due to the nature of the Company, key audit 
 matters do not change significantly year over year. As 
compared to last year there have been no changes in 
key audit matters.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the matter


Measurement of expected credit losses
Note 10
We considered the valuation of the loans to group 
companies, as disclosed in note 10 to the financial 
statements for a total amount of €40,609,375,000, to 
be a key audit matter. This is due to the size of the 
loan portfolio and relevant impairment rules.


The board of directors has determined that all 
loans to group companies are categorised as stage 1 
loans, hence only a 12-month expected credit loss 
(‘ECL’) has been recognised. As stated in the annual 
management report, the board of directors of the 
Company has assessed that the impact of COVID-19 
has been limited on the Company, due to the sector in 
which the Company operates. As disclosed in note 10 
to the financial statements, the Company has not 
granted, nor has been requested to grant any pay-
ment holidays on their loans to group companies.


The impairment rules in IFRS 9 are complex and 
require judgement to calculate the ECL. Amongst 
other things, this applies to choices and judgements 
made in the impairment methodology, including the 
determination of the point in time probability of 
 default (‘PD’), the loss given default (‘LGD’) and the 
exposure at default (‘EAD’). These calculations also 
take into account forward-looking information of 
macro-economic factors considering multiple scenar-
ios. The board of directors monitors the need for 
changes in the methods, significant assumptions or 
the data used in making the accounting estimate by 
monitoring key performance indicators that may indi-
cate unexpected or inconsistent performance. Mainly 
with respect to the PD and LGD used in the deter-
mination of the expected credit losses, the board of 
directors has applied significant judgement given the 
low default character of the entity’s loan portfolio. As 
a result, there is limited internal historical data to 
 support and back-test the PD and LGD.


In the absence of internal historical losses and 
default information, the board of directors used data 
from external data source providers in determining 
the ECL.


The Company has received a guarantee on the 
loans granted to BMW AG group companies. This 
has been considered as part of the calculation of the 
expected credit loss.


We performed the following procedures to test the 
board of directors’ assessment of the expected  credit 
loss to support the valuation of the loans to BMW AG 
group companies:
−	 With	 respect	 to	 the	 ECL	 calculation,	 we	 deter-


mined that the loans qualify as stage 1 loans by 
assessing the actual performance of the loans  
(i.e. no significant deterioration of credit risk).


−	 We	evaluated	the	financial	position	of	the	counter-
parties of loans to group companies and guarantor 
by assessing observable data from rating agen-
cies, developments in credit spreads, the latest 
available financial information and other publicly 
available data in order to assess if there are no 
 adverse conditions present suggesting to classify 
the loans as stage 2 or stage 3 loans. We have 
assessed the board of directors’ position on the 
impact of COVID-19 on the financial position of 
the counterparties of the loans to group compa-
nies as part of our procedures.


−	 For	the	expected	credit	loss,	we	assessed	that	the	
impairment methodology and model applied by 
the entity were in accordance with the require-
ments of IFRS 9. We assessed that the forward-
looking information used by the client as part of 
the impairment methodology was appropriate 
considering the characteristics of the loan port-
folio of BMW Finance N.V. We have assessed 
the board of directors’ position on the impact of 
COVID-19 on the forward-looking information as 
part of our procedures.


−	 We	assessed	for	a	sample	of	financial	instruments	
that the PD and LGD and the assumptions,  applied 
by the board of directors, are appropriate and were 
based upon data from external data source provid-
ers including indicators for potential management 
bias. We have recalculated the impairment re-
corded in the financial statements.


We found the board of directors’ assessment to be 
sufficiently rigorous. Our procedures as set out above 
did not indicate material differences.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the matter


Existence of the loans to group companies
Note 10
We considered the existence of the loans to group 
companies, as disclosed in note 10 to the financial 
statements for a total amount of €40,609,375,000, to 
be a key audit matter. Significant auditor’s attention is 
necessary because of the size of the loan portfolio 
and the importance of existence for users of the 
 financial statements.


Derivative valuation
Note 19
We considered the fair value of the derivatives 
 portfolio of €872,316,000 (derivative assets) and 
€662,094,000 (derivative liabilities) as disclosed in 
note 19 to the financial statements and used in the 
Company’s hedge effectiveness testing to be a key 
audit matter. This is due to the nature of the portfolio 
that includes longer-dated interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency interest rate swaps. The board of 
 directors monitors the need for changes in the 
 methods, significant assumptions or the data used in 
making the accounting estimate by monitoring key 
performance indicators that may indicate unexpected 
or inconsistent performance. The market for these 
swaps is not always fully liquid, and therefore valua-
tion is a complex area.


Hedge accounting
Note 19
We considered the application of hedge accounting 
to be a key audit matter. Refer to note 19 to the finan-
cial statements. This is because of the detailed formal 
and technical requirements that are relevant to the 
application of hedge accounting and because inap-
propriate application of these requirements can lead 
to a material effect on the financial statements.


 


We performed the following procedures to support 
the existence of the loans to BMW AG group com-
panies:
−	 We	confirmed	the	existence	of	the	loans	with	the	


counterparties on a sample basis.
−	 We	tested	the	input	of	contracts	in	the	Company’s	


treasury management system.
−	 We	performed	a	substantive	analytical	procedure	


on the relationship between the interest expenses 
versus interest income, taken into consideration 
the applicable spread.


−	 We	 compared	 interest	 receipts	with	 bank	 state-
ments.


Based on the procedures as set out above, we found 
no material differences.
 


We performed the following procedures to support 
the valuation of derivatives:
−	 We	tested	the	valuation	of	derivatives	as	well	as	


the valuation of hedged items in hedge account-
ing relationships (when relevant) by testing the 
 input of contracts in the Company’s valuation 
 system on a sample basis.


−	 We	reconciled	the	 interest	rate	curves	and	other	
market data with independent sources.


−	 We	also	tested	the	mathematical	accuracy	of	the	
models used and reconciled the outcome of the 
valuation system with the general ledger.


We found the board of directors’ assumptions used 
in the valuation of derivatives to be reasonable and 
appropriate compared to market data and the chosen 
models to be in line with market practice. Based on 
the procedures as set out above we found no mate-
rial differences.
 


We performed the following procedures to support 
the appropriateness of the application of hedge 
 accounting:
−	 We	tested	on	a	sample	basis	whether	the	hedge	


documentation and hedge effectiveness testing 
as prepared by the board of directors met the re-
quirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, and 
whether the hedge effectiveness test was mathe-
matically correct.


−	 We	reconciled	the	outcome	of	the	effectiveness	
testing for the derivative portfolio as a whole to the 
financial statements.


Based on the procedures as set out above we found 
the application of hedge accounting to be appro priate.
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Report on the other information included in the 
annual report


The annual report contains other information. This 
 includes all information in the annual report in  addition 
to the financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.


Based on the procedures performed as set out 
below, we conclude that the other information:
−	 is	 consistent	 with	 the	 financial	 statements	 and	


does not contain material misstatements;
−	 contains	all	the	 information	 regarding	the	annual	


management report and the other information that 
is required by Part 9 of Book 2of the Dutch Civil 
Code.


We have read the other information. Based on our 
knowledge and the understanding obtained in our 
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have 
considered whether the other information contains 
material misstatements.


By performing our procedures, we comply with 
the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope 
of such procedures was substantially less than the 
scope of those procedures performed in our audit of 
the financial statements.


The board of directors is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information, including the 
 annual management report and the other information 
in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch 
Civil Code.


Report on other legal and regulatory require-
ments and ESEF


 
Our appointment
We were appointed as auditors of BMW Finance N.V. 
on 6 April 2020 by the supervisory board. This fol-
lowed the passing of a resolution by the shareholders 
at the annual general meeting held on 6 April 2020. 
Our appointment has been renewed annually by 
shareholders and now represents a total period of 
uninterrupted engagement of 2 years.


European Single Electronic Format (ESEF)
BMW Finance N.V. has prepared the annual report, 
including the financial statements, in ESEF. The 
 requirements for this format are set out in the Com-
mission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/815 with 
regard to regulatory technical standards on the speci-
fication of a single electronic reporting format (these 
requirements are hereinafter referred to as: the RTS 
on ESEF).


In our opinion, the annual report prepared in 
XHTML format, including the financial statements of 
BMW Finance N.V., complies, in all material respects, 
with the RTS on ESEF.


The board of directors is responsible for prepar-
ing the annual report, including the financial state-
ments, in accordance with the RTS on ESEF. Our 
 responsibility is to obtain reasonable assurance for 
our opinion on whether the annual report complies 
with the RTS on ESEF.


Our procedures, taking into account Alert 43 of 
the NBA (Royal Netherlands Institute of Chartered 
Accountants), included amongst others:
−	 Obtaining	an	understanding	of	the	entity’s	finan-


cial reporting process, including the preparation of 
the annual report in XHTML format.


−	 Examining	whether	 the	 annual	 report	 in	XHTML	
format is in accordance with the RTS on ESEF.


No prohibited non-audit services
To the best of our knowledge and belief, we have not 
provided prohibited non-audit services as referred to 
in article 5(1) of the European Regulation on specific 
requirements regarding statutory audit of public-inter-
est entities.


Services rendered
The services, in addition to the audit, that we have 
provided to the Company, for the period to which our 
statutory audit relates, are disclosed in note 7 to the 
financial statements.


Responsibilities for the financial statements 
and the audit


Responsibilities of the board of directors and the 
supervisory board for the financial statements
The board of directors is responsible for:
−	 the	preparation	and	fair	presentation	of	the	finan-


cial statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and 
Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code; and for


−	 such	internal	control	as	the	board	of	directors	de-
termines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.


As part of the preparation of the financial statements, 
the board of directors is responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going-concern. 
Based on the financial reporting frameworks men-
tioned, the board of directors should prepare the 
 financial statements using the going-concern basis 
of accounting unless the board of directors either 
 intends to liquidate the Company or to cease opera-







53


tions or has no realistic alternative but to do so. The 
board of directors should disclose in the financial 
statements any event and circumstances that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.


The supervisory board is responsible for over-
seeing the Company’s financial reporting process.


Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements


Our responsibility is to plan and perform an audit 
 engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain 
 sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a 
basis for our opinion. Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 


assurance is a high but not absolute level of assur-
ance, which makes it possible that we may not detect 
all material misstatements. Misstatements may arise 
due to fraud or error. They are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of 
users taken on the basis of the financial statements.


Materiality affects the nature, timing and extent 
of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the 
 effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.


A more detailed description of our responsibilities 
is set out in the appendix to our report.


Rotterdam, 21 April 2022


PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N.V.
R. van der Spek RA
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Appendix to our auditor’s report on the financial 
statements 2021 of BMW Finance N.V.


 
In addition to what is included in our auditor’s report, 
we have further set out in this appendix our responsi-
bilities for the audit of the financial statements and 
explained what an audit involves.


The auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements
We have exercised professional judgement and have 
maintained professional scepticism throughout the 
audit in accordance with Dutch Standards on Audit-
ing, ethical requirements and independence require-
ments. Our audit consisted, among other things of 
the following:


Identifying and assessing the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtaining 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detect-
ing a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mis-
representations, or the intentional override of internal 
control.


Obtaining an understanding of internal control 
relevant to the audit in order to design audit proce-
dures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
−	 Evaluating	 the	 appropriateness	 of	 accounting	


 policies used and the reasonableness of account-
ing estimates and related disclosures made by the 
board of directors.


−	 Concluding	on	the	appropriateness	of	the	board	of	
directors’ use of the going-concern basis of ac-
counting, and based on the audit evidence ob-
tained, concluding whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events and/or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 


material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
 disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report and 
are made in the context of our opinion on the 
 financial statements as a whole. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to 
cease to continue as a going concern.


−	 Evaluating	the	overall	presentation,	structure	and	
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and evaluating whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presenta-
tion.


We communicate with the supervisory board regard-
ing, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, in-
cluding any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit. In this respect, we 
also issue an additional report to the audit committee 
in accordance with article 11 of the EU Regulation on 
specific requirements regarding statutory audit of 
public-interest entities. The information included in 
this additional report is consistent with our audit 
 opinion in this auditor’s report.


We provide the supervisory board with a state-
ment that we have complied with relevant ethical 
 requirements regarding independence, and to 
 communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, related ac-
tions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.


From the matters communicated with the super-
visory board, we determine those matters that were 
of most significance in the audit of the financial state-
ments of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
 extremely rare circumstances, not communicating 
the matter is in the public interest.
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